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PART I BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 

ITEM 1 BUSINESS 

Cirtek Holdings Phi l ippines Corporation is a ful ly integrated g lobal technology company focused on 
wireless communication. It is the holding company of Cirtek Electronics Corporation ("CEe

,
) and Cirtek 

Electronics International Corporation ("CEIC"), (col lectively the "Cirtek Group'') . The Company's principal 
office is located at 116 East Main Avenue, Phase V-SEZ, Laguna Technopark, Bifian, Laguna. 

The Company was registered in the SEC on 10 February 2011 and l isted in the PSE on 18 November 
2011. In 2015, the Company then proceeded with a follow on offering of common shares which was 1.5 
times oversubscribed and raised P2.2 bi l l ion. Currently, market capitalization has g rown by approximately 
fifteen times from P1.10 bi l l ion in 2011 to P21.16 bi l l ion as of 31 March 2018. 

The Cirtek Group harnesses more than 67 years of combined operating track record. The Company's 
products cover a wide range of appl ications and industries, including communications, consumer 
electronics, power devices, computing, a utomotive, and industrial .  

Through its subsidiaries, the Company i s  primarily engaged in three (3) major activities: 
1) the design, development and delivery of the wireless industry's most advanced high-efficiency, h igh­

performance antenna solutions 
2) the manufacture of value-added, h igh ly integrated technology products 
3) the manufacture and sales of semiconductor packages as an independent subcontractor for 

outsourced semiconductor assembly, test and packaging services 

Quintel Solutions is a leading provider of advanced high-efficiency, h igh-performance antenna solutions 
for wireless cel lu lar networks. QUintel is a pioneer of mUlti-port, multi-frequency wireless tower 
antennas. These antennas support more frequencies and deliver g reater bandwidth, thereby improving 
customer experience and creating cost-efficiencies and quicker roll-out for mobile operators. 

CEIC sel ls integrated circuits principal ly in the US and assigns the production of the same to CEC. CEIC 
acquired Remec Broadband Wireless Inc. ("RBWI'') in 30 July 2014, renamed Cirtek Advanced 
Technologies and Solutions, Inc, (,'CATS! ") , a proven Phi l ippine-based manufacturer of value added, 
h ighly integrated technology products. CATS! offers complete "box build" turnkey manufacturing 
solutions to RF, microwave, and mi l l imeterwave products used in the wireless industry such as 
telecommunication, satel l ite, aerospace and defense, and automotive wireless devices. 

CEC provides turnkey solutions that include package design and development, wafer probing, wafer back 
grinding, assembly and packaging, final testing of semiconductor devices, and del ivery and shipment to 
its customers' end users. CEC has over 64 regular customers spread out in Europe, the US and Asia. 
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Beginning in 1984 with only three customers, the Cirtek Group has significantly grown its customer base 
to over 70 major and regular customers across Europe, U .s. and Asia, with the bu lk of revenues 
contributed by customers located in Europe and the U .S. 

The Cirtek Group has earned a strong reputation with its customers for its h ig h-quality products, 
production flexibil ity, competitive costing, and capabil ity to work with customers to develop appl ication 
and customer specific packages. The Cirtek Group has been accredited and certified by several 
international qual ity institutions, namely TUD SUD Management Service GmbH, TUV Product Service Asia 
Ltd., Taiwan Branch, Defense Supply Center & British Approval Board Telecom, for the latest qual ity 
system standards, which include 15090011 15014001 ,  and QS9000/TS16949, TUV Product Safety 
Certification, and FCC certification. 

The Company's principal office is located at 1 16 East Main Avenue, Phase V-SEZ, Laguna Technopark, 
Binan, Laguna. 

The Company was reg istered with the SEC on February 10, 2011, with an initial a uthorized capital stock 
of P400,000,OOO divided into 400,000,000 common shares with a par value of One Peso (P1.00) per 
share. Of the authorized capital stock, 30% equiva lent to 120,000,000 shares or P120,000,000.OO was 
subscribed and ful ly paid-up. 

On February 17, 201 11 the Company's Board of Directors and Stockholders approved the acquisition from 
CHI of 155,51 1,952 common shares ( representing 99.99% of the outstanding capital stock) of CEC and 
50,000 shares (representing 100% of the outstanding capital )  of CEre. On March 1, 2011, the two (2) 
deeds of sale were executed by the Company and CHI in order to implement the transfers. 

Corp'orate Name 
Cirtek ElectroniCS Corporation 
Cirtek E lectronics International Corporation 

Business Acquisition 

Date of Incorp'oration 
May 31 ,  1984 
April 4, 1995 

On July 3D, 2014, CEIC entered into a sale and purchase agreement with REMEC Broadband Wireless 
Holdings C'REMEC"), for the purchase of 100% shares of REMEC's manufacturing division, REMEC 
Broadband Wireless International ,  Inc. ("RBWI"), a Phi l ippine-based manufacturer of value added, highly 
integrated technology products. Based on the terms of the sale, REMEC and its remaining subsidiaries 
wil l continue to design and market its top-of-class telecommunications products g lobal ly under its 
"REMEC" brand, and, REMEC wil l  enter into a manufacturing agreement with RBWI to manufacture 
REMEC's products under a long-term contract manufacturing relationship. CEIC acquired RBWI for a 
consideration of $7.5 mi l l ion. CHPC funded the acquisition through a combination of avai lable cash on 
hand and proceeds from a corporate notes issuance. 

The closing date of the transaction was effective July 30, 2014. 

RBWI is primarily engaged in the manufacture, fabrication and design of m icrowave components and 
subsystems primarily for export. RBWI was renamed to Cirtek Advanced Technology Solutions, Inc. 
("CATS") on November 21, 2014 at the British Virgin Islands and on February 18, 2015  at the Phil ippine 
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). 
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Acquisition of QUintel 

On July 28, 2017, the Parent Company's Board of Directors, (BOD) approved the acquisition of QUintel 
and its subsidiaries for $77.0 million, subject to adjustments as stipulated in the Agreement. QUintel is a 
leading innovator of spectrum and space-efficient base station antennas for wireless networks. 

The transaction was structured as a reverse triangle merger whereby CCl was merged with and into 
Quintel, with the latter as the surviving corporation .  Pursuant to the Agreement, a l l  outstanding shares, 
warrants, and stock options in Quintet were converted to a right to receive the consideration from CHPC 
and Cirtek Corporation . As a result of the merger, each of CCl's one hundred ( 100) issued and 
outstanding shares shal l  be converted into and exchanged for one ( 1 )  validly issued, fully paid and non­
assessable share of the surviving company. On the other hand, each of Quintel's issued and outstanding 
shares before the merger shall be cancelled and extinguished, and be converted automatically into the 
right to receive a portion of the purchase price. QUintel, being the surviving company, retains the 100 
shares original ly issued by CCl as its ending capital stock. 

The Group believes that Quintel's cutting edge research and deveiopment and product capabi lities 
significantly add to and complement the Group's growing portfolio in wireless communication, and is 
al igned with its business focus on high-growth market segments. Furthermore, being the strategic 
manufacturing partner of QUintel products places the Group in a unique situation to achieve significant 
synergies through value engineeringj research and development collaboration as well as cost reductionj 
resulting in h igh-quality! rel iable and cost-competitive products . 

On August 4, 2017, the Assistant Registrar of Companies for the Cayman Islands issued a Certificate of 
Merger stating that the companies have merged effective on said date. 

From 2014 to 2016, the Cirtek Group's consolidated revenues grew from US$5 1 .8 mill ion to US$74.3 at a 
CAGR of 19.8% while consol idated net income grew from US$5.8 mi llion to US$7.6 mill ion at a CAGR of 
14. 1  % .  For ful l-year 2017, the Cirtek Group reported consolidated revenues and consolidated net income 
of US$88.7 mi l l ion and US$4.3 mi l l ion. Revenues increased by 19% while net income declined by 44%. 
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE 
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CEC was incorporated with the SEC on May 31, 1984, primarily to engage as an independent 
subcontractor for semiconductor assembly, test and packaging services. 

Prior to the Company's acqu isition of CEC in 201 1, CEC was majority-owned by Charmview, a holding 
company incorporated in the British Virg in Islands on November 1, 1994 and is owned by the Liu family, 
wherein the US$50,OOO authorized capital stock is divided equal ly among Jerry Liu, Nelia Liu, M ichael Liu, 
Justin Liu and Brian Gregory Liu. 

In March 24, 2008, Charmview and CHI entered into a Share Swap Agreement whereby Charmview 
transferred al l  of its interest in CEC, constituting 155,511,959 common shares, to CHI in exchange for 
50,000 common shares of stock of CHI. As a result of the share swap, CEC became a subsidiary of CHI. 

On March 1, 201 1, CHI and the Company executed the Deed of Absolute Sale of Shares wherein CHI 
transferred all of its 155,511,959 shares in CEC in favor of the Company for and in consideration of 
P130,OOO,OOO, making CEC a whol ly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

CEC owns the manufacturing plants in Technopark as well as machinery such as bonder, auto test 
handler, optical inspection system, wafer back grinder, mold set, and other machinery necessary for the 
manufacture, assembly and testing of semiconductors. 
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CEC was previously registered with the Board of Investments (BOl) under Presidential Decree No. 1789, 
as amended by Batas Pambansa Big. 391, as a preferred pioneer enterprise for the manufacture and 
export of integrated circuits. As a registered enterprise, CEC was entitled to certain tax and nontax 
incentives provided for in PD 1 789. 

On March 24, 1998, the Phi l ippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA) approved CEC's registration as an 
ecozone export enterprise at the Laguna Technopark for the manufacture of standard integrated circuits, 
d iscrete, hybrid and potentia l new packages. Beginning October 30, 2002, the manufacture and export 
of integrated circuits, discrete and hybrid transferred to PEZA from BOr. Since its income tax holiday 
incentive expired in 2003, CEC is subject to tax at the preferentia l  rate of 5% of its gross income in 
accordance with Republ ic Act No. 7916, the law creating the PEZA. In order to maximize the incentives 
g ranted under Republ ic Act No .  7916, CEC applied for the registration of its new products and was 
granted income tax hol iday there for from 2003 to 2005. 

On April 27, 201 1, PEZA approved CEC's appl ication for the registration of a new project involving the 
manufacture of devices which wi l l  be used as components for smart phones, automotive sensor 
applications, battery chargers, and industrial appl ications. 

Cirtek Electronics .International Corporation 

CEIC was incorporated under the International Business Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands on 
April 4, 1995 . CEIC was incorporated with primarily purpose of sel l ing integrated circuits principally in the 
United States of America and subcontracts the production of the same to CEC. 

Beginning June 8, 1995, CEIC after securing the sales from its customers abroad, would subcontract the 
assembly, test and/or packaging of the devices to CEC pursuant to a Master Subcontractor Agreement. 
Under said agreement, CEIC issued purchase orders to CEC stating therein the type of product it wi l l  
require, the quantity, del ivery date and destination together with such other instructions the former may 
have. In consideration for its services, CEC was paid a service fee depending on the services contracted 
for a particular purchase order. 

Prior to the Company's acqu isition of CEIC in 2011 ,  CEIC was majority-owned by Charmview. In March 
24, 2008, Charmview and CHI entered into a Share Swap Agreement whereby Charmview transferred a l l  
of its interest in  CEIC, constituting 50,000 common shares, to CHI  in  exchange for 50,000 common 
shares of stock of CHI. As a result of the share swap, CEIC became a subsidiary of CHI. 

On March 1, 2011 ,  CHI and the Company executed the Deed of Absolute Sale of Shares wherein CHI 
transferred all of its 50,000,000 shares in CEIC in favor of the Company for and in consideration of 
P130,000,000, making CEIC a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

After the reorganization, the Company became the parent company of both CEC and CEIC while CHI 
remains a holding company of the Liu family, which no longer forms part of the post-reorganization 
structure of the Company. 

The Acquisition of the Quintel business 

On July 31 ,  2017, CHPC and Tri l l ium International I, GP, as shareholder representative of Quintel 
Cayman, Ltd. ("Quintel Cayman'') announced the signing of a definitive agreement under which CHPC, 
through its subsidiaries, acquired 100% of Quintel, a leading provider of advanced h igh- effiCiency, h igh­
performance antenna solutions. The acquisition immediately gave CHPC a significant presence in the 
large and rapidly growing base station antenna market, estimated to be more than US$14 bil l ion by 2020. 
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Establ ished in 2002, QUintel designs, develops and del ivers advanced high-efficiency, high-performance 
antenna solutions that help mobile operators to increase efficiency, enhance qua lity-of-service, slash 
costs and accelerate returns. Quintel's current customers a re AT&T and Verizon, and large 
telecommunication corporations operating in North America and Puerto Rico. Quintel's world 
headquarters is located in Rochester, New York whi le the research and development office and sales 
offices a re located in San Jose, cal ifornia and Buckinghamshire, United Kingdom, respectively. The 
Rochester! New York and San Jose! Cal ifornia operate under Quintel USA while the Buckinghamshire, 
United Kingdom operate u nder QUintel Technology! LTD. 

CEC PRODUCTS 

CEC offers a broad range of products that go into various appl ications. The end appl ication covers 
practical ly everything from consumer products to high reliabi l ity industrial and mi litary products. 

The fol lowing are CEC's product l ines : 

1. Protection products 

These products are designed to protect electronic devices from damaging voltage or current spikes . 
These are in multi-chip SOlC packages, with up to 32 d iodes in a single un it. 

2. light sensors 

These optical devices sense the intensity of l ight and trigger the automatic switching on and off of 
head lights and the automatic adjustment of air conditioning settings in cars. The package is a 
transparent custom-body QFN. 

3. Real time clock 

These are precision time keeping devices which contain features l ike calendars, time of day, trickle 
charger and memory functions. These devices come with tuning fork cylindrical crystals and a re 
packaged in 16/20L SOlC 300mil body version. 

4. Voltage control oscil lators (VCO) 

This is an electronic oscil lator that is designed to be contro lled in oscillation frequency by a DC voltage 
input. Signals may a lso be fed i nto the VCO to cause frequency modulation or phase modulation. 

5. E lectronic Relays 

These a re opto relays that a re used in control l ing high voltage and high power equ ipment. The control is 
achieved through the physical isolation of h ig h  voltage output and the low voltage input side of the 
device protecting the circu it components and the users. These a re packaged in PDIP with an LED and a 
driver Ie coupled together, without electrical connection between them. 

6. Power management devices 

These devices a re used in a wide range of power management appl ications from telecommunications, 
industrial eqUipment, portable devices! computers, and networks. These a re packaged in SOlC with the 
die pad exposed. 
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CEC MANUFACTURING PROCESS FLOW 

The Company, through its subsidiary CEC, assembles and tests semiconductor devices at its 
manufacturing complex located on a 12,740 square meter property in  Biflan, Laguna. CEC currently 
leases the property from Cirtek Land, Inc. and Cayon Holdings, Inc., both of which a re majority owned by 
one of the Company's d irectors, Nelia T. Liu. CEC's manufacturing facil ity is composed of two bui ldings, 
with a total floor a rea of 152,000 square feet. 
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Process Flow 

The figure below i l lustrates the typical manufacturing process for the back-end production of 
semiconductor products: 
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The back end semiconductor operation starts with package design and development. The design phase 
pertains to a , )  the determination of the type of package to be used that conforms to industry standards, 
b,) the substrates that will match the intended package, and c,) the material set that will be used to meet 
customer specifications ,  This is fol lowed by tool ing selection and ordering. 

9 



The development process follows a systematic approach which takes into account the standards required 
by the end user product. Advanced qual ity planning is made part of the process to ensure that the critica l 
qual ity characteristics are ful ly understood, characterized and tested .  Customers are i nvolved as they 
have to approve the design and any changes that wi l l  happen later in the development stage. 

The development is only deemed complete once critical processes a re proven capable a nd qual ification 
un its and lots are produced and tested for rel iab i l ity i nternal ly and or by the customers. 

The fundamental package assembly process starts after the Company receives the wafer si l icon from 
customers. Pre-assembly, the wafers are back g rinded to the desired thickness, probed for electrical 
performance and then sawn to d ice the wafers to its individual chip size fol lowing customer requirements. 
The i nd ividual ly sawn d ies a re then mounted on a copper substrate typically using epoxy adhesives. 
Other packages made by the Company however, may requ ire other mounting adhesives for enhanced 
functional performance.  Examples of these include, E0201 DFN (used in smart phones) which requires a 
gold eutectic process or the PQFN (used in charges) which requ ires solder paste. 

The interconnection between die to leads is normal ly done using gold fine wire. Power packages 
however use copper clips for higher electrical conductivity. The parts are then encapsulated by an epoxy 
moulding compound, which a re usual ly opaque. 

The parts are then electroplated for protection of the metal leads, trimmed and formed into its final 
shape or sawn i nto its final d imensions in  the case of 0201DFN, ODFN and PQFN. 

These assembled un its are electrical ly tested for functional screening . The good parts are then packed 
per customer specifications and shipped to its intended destination .  

Customers may opt to contract for the entire process flow or for portions thereof, as well require 
changes, subject to mutual consent to suit the customers' product needs. 

CATS PRODUCTS 

CATS offers a broad range of m icrowave products that go into various applications. The end appl ication 
covers microwave/wireless solutions for carrier and private data networks catering mobile backhaul! 
service provider, education! enterprise! government/municipal ities and healthcare. 

In March 2016, CATS begun  commercial shipment to QUintel, a leading innovator of efficient and space­
saving base station antennas used for cel lu la r  networks. 

The following a re CATS' major products: 

1. CTTODU 

The CTTH ODU is available in 6L, 6U! 7GHz, 8GHz, llGHz! 13GHz, 15GHz, 18GHz, 23GHzr 26GHz, 
28GHz! 32GHz and 38GHz. The CTTH ODU supports QPSK to 256QAM modulation and 7MHz to 56MHz 
channel bandwidth . 

2. IRFU 

The Indoor RFU is avai la ble in L6, U6, 7GHz, 8GHz! and llGHz frequency bands. The channel spacing 
supported for North American ANSI rates is between 3 .75 MHz and 60 M Hz. The channel spacing 
supported for ETS! rates is between 7 MHz and 56 MHz. 
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3. OIPR 

The OIPR is available in 6L, 6U, 7GHz, 8GHz, llGHz, 13GHz, 15GHz, 18GHz, 23GHz, 26GHz, 28GHz, 
32GHz and 38GHz. The supported modulation is QPSK to 256QAM . The channel spacings supported for 
North American ANSI rates is between 10MHz and 50 MHz. The channel spacings supported for ETSI 
rates are 7MHz, 14M Hz, 28-30MHz, 40M Hz and 56MHz. 

4. FlEX4G-UHA 

Flex4G-UHA-UHA operates in  the 71-76/81-86 GHz frequency range in  compliance to ECC/REC 05/07 
Recommendations and is subject to use based on each EU member country's individual regulations for 
operation in this band . The FLEX4G-UHA uses BPSK modulation and supports a maximum data rate of 
1,000 M bps in a 1,250 MHz channel . 

5. SMART ANTENNAS 

Multi-port. mu lti-band wireless antennas that are offered with various combinations of ports and lengths. 
The product supports various access technologies (4G LTE, 3G, 2G) . 

CATS MANUFACTURING PROCESS FLOW 

The Company assembles and tests m icrowave products at its manufacturing complex located on a 12,740 
square meters property in Bifian, Laguna. CATS! currently leases the property from Cirtek Land, Inc. and 
Cayon Holdings, I nc., both of which are majority owned by one of the Company's directors, Nelia T. Liu . 
The manufacturing facil ity is composed of two bui ldings, with a total floor a rea of 152,000 square feet. 
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Process Flow 

The figure below il lustrates the typical manufacturing process for the production of microwave products: 
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The manufacturing process starts with business and product development. The business development 
pertains to a) RFQ (Request for Quote) from customer and b) customer approval .  Once the customer 
approves the quote, product development proceeds. The product development pertains to a) NPI (New 
Product Introduction) and b) bi l l  of materials selection. During NPI ,  the factory wi l l  qual ify the product 
and the process (to manufacture the product). The NPI process is considered completed once critical 
processes are proven capable and qual ification un its a re produced a nd tested for reliabi l ity internally and 
or by the customers. If NPI is successful ,  the bi l l  of materials is fina lized. This includes the product BOM, 
fixtures and packaging . Mass production fol lows. 

The fundamental assembly process starts with PCBA (Printed Circuit Board Assembly). Solder paste is 
applied to the PCB, fol lowed by placement of components during SMT pick and place. The populated 
board is then loaded to the reflow oven for solder paste curing . After the oven reflow, the board 
undergoes AOI (Automatic Optical Inspection) .  Al l boards with reject (assembly rejects, i .e. m issing 
components, wrong part mounted, tombstone, insufficient solder, m is-oriented, ti lted, etc.) during AOI 
a re reworked. All boards without rejects proceed to 2nd operation or manual soldering (if required). 

Some modules/sub-assem bly boards from PCBA undergo MIC process (Microwave Integrated Circuit). 
During this process, a component (MMIC) is attached or mounted to the board with epoxy, either 
manual ly or automated. The board is then cured to the required temperature depending on the type of 
epoxy used. Wirebond/gapweld is performed depending on the required assembly drawing. Inspection 
fol lows to ensure conformance to the assembly drawing. 

The modules/sub-assembly boards wi l l  then undergo test and tune (if requ ired) .  Al l  passing modules are 
then integrated to form the ODU (final product) duri ng Top level assembly. System level testing follows 
(Cal ibration and Parametric test, Bit Error Rate (BER) Test, etc.) .  The ODUs should conform to the 
specifications set by the customer. 

Finished products are then packed per customer specifications and shipped to the intended destination. 

The figure below i l lustrates the typical manufacturing process for the production of multiport antennas: 
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Multiport Antennas Proces flow chart 
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antenna 

In this testing process is the measurement of l in this testing process is the measurement of the 

the RF return loss RF isolation of the antenna 
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The fol lowing are Quintel's antenna product l ines: 

1 .  MultiServ - Single Antenna - M ultiple Frequency Bands 
Under the MultiServ brand, QUintel sel ls Mu lti-Bandl M ulti-Port Antennas which are designed to maximize 
site utilization without compromising site design and network optimization freedoms. This product offers 
independent tilt for d ifferent bands for d ifferent arrays whi le supporting up to 4x4 MIMO at h igh-bands. 
The technology of Mu itiserv a lso min imizes Passive Intermodu lation i nterference and supports different 
access technologies (4G, LTE, 3G, 2G) . 

2. SONWav - Directional Antenna - Passive Real-Time Beamforming 
Through its SONWav brand, QU intel provides Passive Real-Time Elevation Beamforming Antennas which 
increases throughput and spectral efficiency at low spectrum bands in  a single sl imline antenna. This 
product also offers route to double MIMO freedoms. 

Quintel recently expanded its industry-leading MultiServ™ Sl iml ine Antennas portfolio. In addition to the 
12-Port Multiband Antenna, QUintel now has 10 Port antennas, both of which come in 4, 6 and 8 foot 
lengths. This latest Sl im l ine Antenna util izes the same 12"/300mm wide form factor that a l l  QUintel 
antennas use providing the industry's only "One Size Fits All" portfol io of 6, 8, 10 and 12-Port antennas in 
the same single form factor.  

The Company believes that Quintel's cutting edge R&D and product capabi l ities Significantly add to and 
complement the Cirtek Group's growing portfol io in wireless communication, and is a l igned with its 
business focus on h igh-growth market segments. Further, being the strategiC manufacturing partner of 
Quintel products places the Company i n  a un ique situation to achieve significant synergies through value 
engineering, research and development collaboration as wel l  as cost reduction, resulting in  high-quality, 
reliable and cost-competitive products. 

Quintel Product Development ( Research and Development) 

The figure below i l lustrates the New Product Development process within Quintel: 

Ph.,,,, driven by PtM to gather market 

opportunity, ROil Budget estimates, 

product tost and specification 

requirements, and target timing. 

Phases driven by R&D to design products to me.t 

PLM requirements for performance and cost. 

Project schedules managed to meet target timing, 

budgets and product costs. Supplemented with 

'in-phase' reviews with key stakeholders 

Phases driven by Production to build 

products per build plan, moniter 

product yield data, maintain process 

control, fulfil customer order. 
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CUSTOMERS 

Beginning in 1984 with 3 customers, the Cirtek Group has significantly g rown its customer base to over 
70 major and regular customers as of present date. The Cirtek Group's Company's customers are located 
in various countries, with the bulk of revenues contributed by customers located in Europe and the Un ited 
States of America. The figure below i l lustrates the geograph ic d istribution of customers by revenue 
contribution, over the past 2 years. 

0/0 Contribution to Revenue Per Region 
201612017 

Asia 

Europe 
USA 

2016 2017 
19% 
26% 

55% 

12% 
25% 

63% 

The Company is not dependent upon a single customer or a few customers or industry, the loss of any of 
which would have a material adverse effect on the Company. Neither is the Company reliant on any 
specific industry s ince its products have varied applications in different industries. However, in 2016, 
QUintel contributed 27% of the Company's total revenues. 

MARKETING 

The Company apPoints non-exclusive sales agents around the globe to promote its products a nd services. 
These agents help promote and maintain strong relationships by working closely with customers to 
address and resolve quality issues and communicate timely responses to specific requirements and 
delivery issues. The Company through its subsidiaries currently maintai ns a sales d irector in  the USA and 
sales agents in  the USA, Europe and Asia . 

Cirtek also performs marketing research for technology development by working closely with its 
customers through collaboration, conducting surveys and gathering market trends to keep the Company 
a breast of new packag i ng technologies and product introductions. 

SUPPLIERS 

Direct materials used by the Company in the manufacturing process a re leadframes, molding compound, 
wires (gold and copper) and epoxy adhesives. Si l icon wafers a re provided by Cirtek's customers. 

These direct materia ls are sourced abroad, main ly from Hongkong, Singapore, Malaysia and Korea . 
Shipment is mostly by a ir, except for the molding compound, which is by sea because of its weight. In 
order to mitigate the r isk of shortage of these d irect materials, the Company has at least two suppliers 
for each material. 
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COMPETITORS I N  THE I N DUSTRY 

CEC 

The assembly and testing segment of the semiconductor industry is h igh ly competitive. The Company's 
competitors i n  the semiconductor space i nclude IDM's with their own in-house assembly and testing 
capabil ities, and simi lar independent semiconductor assembly and test subcontractors, located in the 
Philippines and in the Asia-Pacific region. Among the Company's competitors are Amkor Technology in 
Korea and in the Phi l ippines; ASE, Orient Semiconductor Electron ics, Ltd ., Sil iconware Precision Industries 
Co., Ltd in Taiwan;  Un isem and Carsem Semiconductor in Malaysia; Hana Microelectronics in Thailand; 
STATS ChipPac Ltd . in Singapore, and other Chinese subcontractors such as Diodes Inc. and JCET. 

The principal a reas of competition are pricing and product qual ity. The Company believes however, that 
it has an advantage over its competitors not only in the a bove-mentioned areas but a lso because of the 
following reasons:  advanced packaging technology in mu ltiple component products; focus on jOintly 
developed appl ication-specific packages; dedicated l ine services; and quick turnaround time on customer 
requirements. 

CATS 

The Company's competitors in  the RF/Satcom EMS space include large OEMs with international presence 
such as Benchmark Electronics, Plexus, Flextronics, and MTI Electron ics. Among the Company's local 
competitors for certain product l ines are Ionics and 1M!. 

The Company bel ieves is competitive strength lies in its abi l ity to provide complete turnkey solutions for 
complex, box bui ld electronic and microwave products. The Company a lso believes it has unique 
RF/microwave expertise to del iver vertica l ly integrated products from components to modules and 
system levels. 

Quintel 

Quintel's competitors in the Antenna space are made of up of a number of well-know compa nies, most of 
which sel l  multiple products d irectly or indirectly to carriers. These competitors are either diversified 
telecom infrastructure and service companies, teiecom system and component vendors or pure-play 
antenna makers. Below is a d iagram of the competitive landscape of the industry: 

Telecom Equipment Antenna Provider Competitive Landscape 

�r& pn n 

-- ....... 
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JMA Quintel 
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EMPLOYEES 

As of March 31 ,  2018, the Cirtek Group has 2,807 regular employees. 

Position 
Managers and Executives 
Engineers 
Adm inistration 
Other support Cirtek Groups 
Rank and File 

Total 

Total 
42 
40 
39 

538 
1,094 

2,807 

The Cirtek Group is not unionized . However, to foster better employee-management relations, the Cirtek 
Group has a labor management council ("LMC") composed of committees with representatives from both 
labor and management. These committees include the committee on employee welfare and benefit, 
employees cooperative committee, employee d iscipline committee and sports and recreation committee, 
among others. 

LMCs are establ ished to enable the workers to participate in policy and decision-making processes in 
establ ishment, in so far as said processes wi l l  directly affect their rights, benefits and welfare, except 
those which a re covered by collective bargaining agreement or are traditional areas of bargaining. The 
scope of the council/committee's functions consists of information sharing, discussion, consultation, 
formu lation, or establishment of programs or projects affecting the employees in general or the 
management. 

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

The Company does not believe that its operations are dependent on any patentl trademark, copyright, 
license, franchise, concession or royalty agreement. 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 

Research and development work is performed by a team of over 60 experienced engineers with ski l ls 
developed internal ly and learned from previous work experiences. Skil ls are brought in through hiring 
when necessary whi le training is a continu ing concern to hone the ski l ls of the technical staff. 

The Company, in the case of CEC and CATS, has successful ly cooperated with customers on many 
projects, co-developing with them new technology that a re customer specific that wi l l  ensure continuing 
engagement by the customers. This approach ties up customer with the Company over a long period of 
time generating revenues from a captive market. Qu intel's R&D activities cover components, network / 
system and products. 

The Company's technology for CEC and CATS roadmap covers materia l  development and process 
improvement to improve on cost and to help maintain the margins. The latest materials are identified to 
meet ever increasing demand for h igher qual ity and lower cost. These a re product-application specific 
that are jointly co-developed with the customers bringing benefits to both parties. 

The same technology roadmap resulted in bringing down the material and labor cost. For 2016, there 
was a reduction of 0 .5% in cost of sales from new material developed. 
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Quintel's technology roadmap covers base-station antennas, MIMO, m id-cell and small cell technologies 
for 5G deployments 

GOVERNMENT APPROVAL AND PERMITS 

All government approvals and permits issued by the appropriate government agencies or bodies which 
are materia l  and necessary to conduct the business and operations of the Company, were obtained by 
the Company and are in  ful l  force and effect. As a holding company, the Company is only required to 
obtain a mayor's permit, which is required to be renewed within the first twenty (20) days from the 
beginning of January of the following year. 

REGULATORY FRAM EWORK 

As a PEZA-registered entity, CEC and CATS are requ ired to submit periodic financial and other reports. 
CEC is a lso requ ired to submit quarterly, semi-annua l  and annua l  reports to the Department of 
Environment and Natura l  Resources as part of its Environmental Compliance Certificate requirements. 
The fai lure to comply with these reports and with any other requirements or regu lations of these 
government agencies could expose CEC and CATS to penalties and the revocation of the registrations. 

CEC and CATS ensures compl iance with these requirements by assigning dedicated personnel to monitor, 
prepare the necessary fi l ings and l iaise with the relevant government agencies. 

ITEM 2 PROPERTIES 

The Company, through its subsidiary, owns the manufacturing plants in  the Laguna Technopark as well 
as machinery such as bonder, auto test handler, optical inspection system, wafer back g rinder, mold set, 
and other machinery necessary for the manufacture, assembly and testing of semiconductors. 

Through its acquisition of Quintei, the Company owns land and building in Carmelray Industria l Park. 

All of these properties a re free and clear of l iens, encumbrances and other charges, and are not subject 
of any mortgage or other security arrangement. 

ITEM :3 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

There a re no pending legal cases against the Company and its management that wil l have immediate 
materia l  effect on the financial position and operating resu lts of the Company. 

ITEM 4 SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

No stockholders' meeting was held between the period June to December, 2017.  
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ITEM 5 

PART II - OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

MARKET FOR ISSUER'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS 

The registrant's common equity is principal ly traded in the Phi l ippine Stock Exchange (PSE) .  The high  
and low sales prices for every quarter ended a re indicated in the table below: 

Q1 
Q2 
Q3 

HIGH 
24.00 
26.70 
40.95 

2017 
LOW 

22.30 
22.80 
26.30 

HIGH 
56.70 

2018 
LOW 

46.50 

The price of the Corporation's common shares as of March 31[ 2018 trading date was PhP50.50 per 
share. 

The number of Shareholders of record as of March 31 2018 is 18. 

Recent sales of unregistered or exempt securities including recent issuance of securities constituting an 
exempt transaction 

The Corporation has not sold any unregistered or exempt securities including recent issuances of 
securities constituting an  exempt transaction .  

Top 20 Stockholders of Record a s  of March 31/ 2018 

Number of Common Percentage of 
Stockholder Name Shares Held Shareholding 

Camerton, Inc. 208[888,558 49.85 
PCD Nominee Fi l ipino 197[044,444 47.02 
PCD Nom inee Non-Fi l ipino 12,960[106 3.09 
Ambrosio J. Maka l intal or Maripi A. 
Maka lintal 94,089 .02 
Beant Singh Grewal 37,000 .01 
Anna Loraine Mendoza 17,500 0 
Pio Ma. Victor H .  Garayblas 15,000 0 
Raymond Alvin Mendoza 13,100 0 
Myra Vil lanueva 2,000 0 
Eduardo Lizares 1,001 0 
Ju l ius Emanuel Sanvictores 145 0 
Stephen Soliven 122 0 
Owen Nathan iel Au ITF Li Marcus Au 106 0 

�to Herrera 100 0 
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Jesus San Luis Valencia 62 0 
Dondi Ron R. Limgenco 1 1  0 
Robert Juanchito T. Dispo 1 0 
Anthony S. Buyawe 1 0 
Brian Gregory Liu 1 0 
Jerry Liu 1 0 
Justin T. Liu 1 0 
M ichael Stephen Liu 1 0 
Hector Vil lanueav 1 0 

. Ernest Fritz Server 1 0 
Total . .  _ ...... _ .. __ 419,073,352_ .. _ __ 100 

Top 20 Stockholders of Record of Preferred TECB2 Shares as of March 31, 2018 (registered with the 
SEC) 

Number of Preferred Percentage of 
Stockholder Name Shares Held Shareholding 

PCD Nominee Corporation (Fil ipino) 66,651 000 99.345 
PCD Nominee Corporation (Non-Fi l ipino) 439,000 0 .655 
Total 67,000,000 100 

• 

Top 20 Stockholders of Record of Preferred A Shares as of March 31, 2018 (not registered with the SEC) 

Number of Preferred Percentage of 
Stockholder Name Shares Held Shareholding 

Camerton, Inc. 700,000,000 100 
Total 700,000,000 100 

Dividends Declaration 

On January 23, 2017, The Board of Directors of Cirtek Holdings Phi l ippines Corporation C'TECH"), 
approved the declaration of cash d ividend of US Dol lars 0 .004322 (US$ 0 .004322) per share for each of 
the Four Hundred N ineteen M il l ion S ixty-Three Thousand Three H undred Fifty Three (419,063,353) ful ly 
paid and issued common shares, amounting to an  aggregate sum of US  Dollar One Mi l l ion Seven 
Hundred Sixty-eight Thousand (US$lm768,000) for payment and d istribution on 22 February 2017 to 
shareholders of record as of 6 February 2017. The cash d ividend shal l  be paid in Phi l ippine Pesos at the 
BSP exchange rate one day prior to payment date. 

The Board of D irectors of Cirtek Holdings Phi l ippines Corporation in its special meeting held on 15 
September 2017, approved the declaration of cash d ividends of US Dollars 0 .004629 (US$ 0 .004629) per 
share for each of the Four  Hundred Nineteen M il l ion Sixty-Three Thousand Three Hundred Fifty Three 
(419,063,353) ful ly paid and issued common shares, amounting to a n  aggregate sum of US Dollars One 
M il l ion N ine H undred Forty Thousand (US$1,940,OOO.00), for payment and d istribution on 6 October 2017 
to shareholders of record as of 29 September 2017. The cash d ividend shall be paid in Phi l ippine Pesos at 
the SSP exchange rate one day prior to payment date. 
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The Board of Directors of Cirtek Holdings Phi l ippines Corporation in its special meeting held on 2 February 
2018 approved the declaration of cash d ividend of US Dollar 0.004609 (US$ 0.004609) per share, for 
each of the Four Hundred N ineteen Mi l l ion Sixty-Three Thousand Three Hundred Fifty Three 
(419,063,353) ful ly paid and issued common shares, and US Dollars 0.000012 (US$ 0.000012) per share 
for each of the Seven Hundred Mi l lion (700,000,000) outstanding Preferred A shares, amounting to an  
aggregate sum of US Dollars One Mi l lion Nine Hundred Forty Thousand (US$ 1,940,000.00), for payment 
and distribution on 21 February 2018 to shareholders of record as of 19 February 2018. The cash 
d ividend shal l be paid in Phi lippine Pesos at the BSP exchange rate one day prior to payment date. 

The Board of Directors of Cirtek Holdings Phi l ippines Corporation in its special meeting held on 27 
February 2018 approved the declaration of cash dividend of US Dollars 0.015313 (US$ 0.015313) per 
share for each of the Sixty Seven M il l ion (67,0001000) outstanding and issued Preferred B-2 shares 
amounting to an aggregate sum of US Doliars One Mil lion Twenty Five Thousand N ine Hundred Thirty 
Seven and Fifty Cents (US$ 1/025,937.50), for payment and distribution on 8 March 2018 to shareholders 
of record as of 6 March 2018. 

There are presently no restrictions that l imit the payment of dividend on common shares of the 
Corporation. 

Owners of record of more than 5% of the Corporation's voting securities as of 31 March 2018: 

Title of Name, Name of Citizenship Number of Shares % of Class 
Class Address of Beneficial Held 

Record Owner and 
Owner, and Relationship 
Relationship with Record 
with Issuer Owner 

Common Camerton, Camerton, Fi l ipino 
Inc. I nc. 208,888,558 49.85 

Common PCD Nominee PCD Nominee Fi l ipino 
Corporation Corporation 197,044,444 47.02 

Common Total 405,933,002 96.87% 

Under PCD account, the following participants hold shares representing more than 5% of the company's 
outstanding shares 

Participant Number of Shares Percentage 
Guild Securities 59/732,969 14.2% 

Citibank N.A. 44/480,630 10.6% 
Government Service Insurance 23,338,020 5.6% 
System 
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ITEM 6 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATION 

Overview 

Through its subsidiaries, the Company is primarily engaged in three (3) major activities: 
1) the design, development and del ivery of the wireless industry's most advanced high-efficiency, 

h igh-performance a ntenna solutions 
2)  the manufacture of val ue-added, h igh ly integrated technology products 
3) the manufacture and sales of semiconductor packages as a n  independent subcontractor for 

outsourced semiconductor assembly, test and packaging services 

Quintel Solutions is a leading provider of advanced high-efficiency, h igh-performance antenna solutions 
for wireless cel lu lar  networks. QUintel is a pioneer of multi-port, multi-frequency wireless tower 
antennas. These antennas support more frequencies and deliver g reater bandwidth, thereby improving 
customer experience and creating cost-efficiencies and quicker roll-out for mobile operators. 

CEIC sells integrated circuits principally in the US and assigns the production of the same to CEC. CEIC 
acquired Remec Broadband Wireless Inc. CRBWt') i n  30 Ju ly 2014, renamed Cirtek Advanced 
Technologies and Solutions, Inc, ("CATSI"), a proven Phi l ippine-based manufacturer of value added, 
highly integrated technology products. CATSI offers complete "box bui ld" turnkey manufacturing 
solutions to RF, microwave, and m il l imeterwave products used in the wireless industry such as 
telecommunication, satel l ite, aerospace and defense, and automotive wireless devices. 

CEC provides turnkey solutions that include package design and development, wafer probing, wafer back 
grinding, assembly and packaging, final testing of semiconductor devices, and delivery and shipment to 
its customers' end users. CEC has over 64 regular customers spread out in Europe, the US  and Asia . 
Beginn ing in 1984 with only three customers, the Cirtek Group has significantly grown its customer base 
to over 70 major and regular customers across Europe, U.S. and Asia, with the bulk of revenues 
contributed by customers located in Europe and the U .S. 

The Cirtek Group has earned a strong reputation with its customers for its high-qua l ity products, 
production flexibil ity, competitive costing, and capabi l ity to work with customers to develop appl ication 
and customer specific packages. The Cirtek Group has been accredited and certified by several 
international qual ity institutions, namely TOD SOD Management Service GmbH, TOV Product Service Asia 
Ltd., Taiwan Branch, Defense Supply Center & British Approval Board Telecom, for the latest qual ity 
system standards, which include IS09001, 15014001, and QS9000/TS16949, TUV Product Safety 
Certification, and FCC certification. 

Factors Affecting the Company's Results of Operations and Financial Conditions 

The Cirtek Group's business is highly dependent on an industry that is characterized by rapid 
technological changes, such that it must be able to adapt to new technologies and be 
flexible to customer needs in order to remain competitive. 

The pace of i nnovation i n  the electronics and communications industries is high. In order to remain 
competitive, the Cirtek Group must adapt to new technologies requ ired by their customers. They must 
have the engineering capabi lity for product development to meet their clients' needs. 

The demand for the Company's solutions is derived from the demand of end customers particularly for 
end-use applications in the computing, communications, consumer automotive, and industrial electronics 
industries. These industries have h istorical ly been characterized by rapid technological change, evolving 
industry standards, and changing customer needs. There can be no assurance that the Company will be 
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successful in responding to these industry demands. New services or technologies may a lso render the 
Company's existing services or technologies less competitive. If the Company does not promptly make 
measures to respond to technologica l  developments and industry standard changes, the eventual 
integration of new technology or industry standards or the eventual upgrading of its facilities a nd 
production capabi l ities may require substantial time, effort, and capital investment. 

Thus, the Cirtek Group is focused on continuous R&D, new product development, technical innovation 
and re-engineering. This is done to ensure a strong and consistent pipel ine of new products, enhance 
process capabi l ity and to reduce production cost. They have successful ly collaborated with their 
customers in a number of projects, co-developing new technologies that are customer speCific, thereby 
ensuring long-term partnership with customers. 

The Cirtek Group develops its own technology, and product roadmaps. The Cirtek Group ensures that it 
has the skills necessary to meet its customers' needs through tra ining and h iring. 

Risks on the acquisition of Quintel Cayman, Ltd. and its subsidiaries 

The Company is exposed to several risks due to their recent acquisition of Quintel Cayman, Ltd. and its 
subsidiaries, Quintel Technology, Ltd . and Quintel USA .  

The Company may have potential difficulties in  integrating the new business to their existing business 
modelJ as their new product offerings may require different marketing and operational strategies. There 
is also the risk perta in ing to the existing customer base of QUintelJ as Cirtek may lack knowledge of 
Quintel's customers' behavior. 

There is commercia l  risk if the Company is unable to turnaround the business of QUintel and make it 
profitable .  Cirtek may be not be able maintain Quintel's existing product licenses, while Quintel's R&D 
may be unable to produce new projects in  its pipeline or create new tech or innovations to satisfy their 
customers. As a result, the Company would not be able to meet their projected level of sales or return of 
investment for their new bUSiness. 

To manage these risks, Cirtekl in its acquisition of QUintel, carried out extensive due di ligence covering 
operations, accounting and tax, legal, and Intellectual Property. The Company a lso commissioned thi rd 
party studies to val idate Quintei's technologies, current products, future product offerings, and Quintel's 
industry position in the base station antenna market in North America. 

Cirtek is also investing in the key a reas of sales and marketing and R&D .  Cirtek, identified and signed up 
the key senior management, R&D, and sales and marketing person ne l  in Quintel ,  offering incentive a nd 
retentions programs. QUintel wi l l  a lso be h iring additional sales representatives to focus on the North 
American market and to bui ld presence in new markets such as South America and Asia. QUintel wi l l  a lso 
increase its R&D person nel to support and fast-track the introduction of new products to the market. 
QUintel a lso introduced Cirtek to its key customers, AT&T and Verizon, who positively received the news 
of Cirtek assuming ownersh ip of Quintel .  

The Company bel ieves the acqu is ition of QUintel wi l l  create significant synergies. Cirtek, being the sole 
contract manufacturer of Quintel, understands the QUintel a ntennas. The Company foresees sign ificant 
benefits through col laborative value engineering, R&D, and cost reduction. Cirtek has begun 
implementing cost-reduction program to improve gross margins. This would i nclude lower material costs, 
lower labor hours, and lower inbound and outbound logistiCS costs. 
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Some of the Cirtek Group's customers have the contractual right to place orders in quantities 
less than the agreed minimum. The customers also require that the latter maintain certain 
key certifications and meet technical audit standards in order to be an accredited assembly 
and testing subcontractor. 

The Company is required to maintain certain certifications, which include among others, 1S09001, 
IS014001, QS9000/TS16949, Defense Supply Center of Columbus, and British Approval Board Telecom, 
TUV Product Safety Certification I and FCC certification .  In additionl the Company must pass annual audits 
conducted by its customers, in order to maintain its status as an accredited assembly and testing 
subcontractor. The fai lure by the Company to maintain any of its key accreditations could have a material 
adverse effect on the Cirtek Group's financial condition, or results of operation. 

The Company has managed to conSistently obtain all customary international accreditations certifying to 
its world-class sta ndards of process and manufacturing from qual ity institutions such as TUV, Defense 
Supply Center of Columbus, and British Approval Board Telecom .  This a l lows it to meet various industry 
requirements and standards. The Company continua l ly monitors industry requirements and standards 
issued by appl icable international accreditation bodies and implements the changes or adjustments 
necessary to remain compl iant with the levels of standard imposed on competitive industry members. 

The Company may be exposed to risk of inventory obsolescence and working capital tied up 
in inventories. 

The Company may be exposed to a risk of inventory obsolescence because of rapidly changing 
technology and customer reqUirements. Inventory obsolescence may requ ire it to make adjustments to 
write down inventory to the lower of cost or net realizable value, and its operating results could be 
adversely affected . The Company is cognizant of these risks and according ly exercises due di l igence in 
materials planning. The Company a lso provisions in its inventory systems and planning a reasonable 
amount for obsolescence. It works with key suppliers to establish suppl ier-managed inventory 
arrangements that wi l l  m utua lly reduce the risk. In addition, the Company often negotiates buy back 
arrangements with customers where, in the event the customers' purchase orders are delayed, cancelled, 
or entered in the end-of- l ife phase, the customers assumes the risk and compensates the Company for 
the excess inventory. 

The Cirtek Group may be exposed to liquidity risk from delayed payments of customers, as 
well as credit risks on its receivables from clients. 

The Cirtek Group may encounter difficulty with cash inflows due to delayed payments of customers, 
which in  turn may affect their working capital cycle. 

The Company is a lso exposed to credit risk if its customers are una ble to fully settle amounts d ue for 
services and products del ivered, as wel l  as other claims owed to the Company. 

That said, the Company believes it has been h igh ly efficient in  its collection of accounts receivables. It 
l ikewise believes it has a solid financial position which should mitigate l iquid ity risk that may result from 
delayed payment of customers. 

Meanwhiie, credit risk is managed in accordance with the Company's credit risk policy, which requires the 
evaluation of the creditworthiness of each customer. Cirtek requ ires new customers to undergo an in itial 
evaluation period of six months, to pay cash upon del ivery of products or services. Existing customers are 
given a credit term of between 30 to 45 days, which the Company strictly implements. 
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The Company carries out the necessary due dil igence customary for the business prior to booking orders 
from new customers, and it a lso strictly enforces its col lection policies to a l l  customers. The Company has 
not made any significant write-off of receivables in its operating h istory. 

CEC and CA TSI are required to maintain governmental approvals 

As PEZA-registered entities, the Subsidiaries are required to submit certain periodic reports to PEZA such 
as annual reports, q ua rterly reports, and audited finanCial statements. They are a lso requ ired to submit 
quarterly, semi-annual ,  and annual reports to the Department of Energy and Natural Resources as part of 
its Environmental Compliance Certificate requirements. CEC's and CATSI's fai lure to comply with these 
reports and with any other requirements or regu lations of these government agencies could expose them 
to penalties and the revocation of the reg istrations. 

CEC and CATSI ensure compliance with these requirements by assigning dedicated personnel to monitor, 
prepare the necessary fi l ings, and l iaise with the relevant government agencies. 

The Company's industry is dependent on the continuous growth of outsourcing by OEMs 

The Company belongs to an industry that is dependent on the strong and continuous growth of 
outsourcing in the computing, communications, consumer automotive, and industrial electron ics 
industries where customers choose to outsource production of certain components and parts, as well as 
functions in the production process. A customer's deCision to outsource is affected by its abi l ity and 
capacity for internal manufacturing and the competitive advantages of outsourcing. 

The Company's industry depends on the continu ing trend of increased outsourCing by its customers. 
Future growth in its revenue depends on new outsourcing opportunities in which it assumes additional 
manufacturing and supply chain management responsibilities from its customers. To the extent that 
these opportunities do not materialize, either because the customers decide to perform these functions 
interna lly or because they use other providers of these services, the Company's future growth could be 
limited. 

The Company bel ieves that its g lobal footprint, with sales reach in Asia, Europe, the U .S . ,  Africa, and 
South America , its g lobal supply chain systems and capabi l ities, and its design services wi l l  continue to 
provide strategiC advantages for customers to outsource parts of their product development and 
manufacturing processes to the Company. 

The RF, Microwave and Millimeterwave segment of the wireless communication industry is 
competitive and characterized by rapid technological changes 

The Company operates i n  a h ighly competitive industry. As a result of the rapid technolog ical changes, 
regulation and changing customer needs, there can be no assurance that the Company wi l l  be successful 
in  responding to these industry demands. 

The Company offers full turnkey solutions at very competitive price pOints. The Company a lso has un ique 
and strong manufacturing capabil ities to bui ld components, modules, up to system level .  

The Company is exposed to the cyclical nature of the semiconductor industry 

The semiconductor industry's growth is largely driven by end markets in communications, data 
processi ng, consumer electroniCS, the automotive industry, and the industrial sector for which 
semiconductors are critical components. The industry has historically been cyclica l ,  and affected by 
economic downturns. The Company currently derives 35% of its sales and operating profits from the 
assembly and testing services it provides other semiconductor companies worldwide. During periods of 
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weak demand or excess capacity, the Cirtek Group's customers may opt not to continue with, or cancel, 
existing orders. These events would have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

To mitigate this risk, the Cirtek Group continual ly monitors its direct costs such as raw materials, spare 
parts, and d irect and indirect labor and customers provide order forecasts that enable them to properly 
plan direct material purchases. They have a lso implemented an interna l reporting system, which a l lows 
senior management to monitor profitabi l ity for each of the products on a weekly basis. The Cirtek Group 
believes that these measures a l low it to respond quickly and make the necessary adjustments, which has 
proven crucial in maintaining its competitiveness. 

In addition, the products have d iverse end-user applications in different industries, which a l low it to cope 
with upswings and downswings in demand. Customers a re also geographically dispersed among Europe, 
U.S. and Asia .  Thus, because of this d iversity, the Cirtek Group is not dependent on a single market. In 
2017, 63% of Cirtek's revenue came from the U.S . ,  25% from Europe, and 12% from Asia . 

Significant competition in the assembly and testing segment of the semiconductor industry 
could adversely affect the Company's business. 

The assembly and testing segment of the semiconductor industry is h igh ly competitive. Cirtek competes 
with both local and foreign firms to provide these back-end processes to semiconductor manufacturers. 
The Company's competitors include Integrated Device Manufacturers ("10M") with their own in-house 
assembly and testing capabil ities, and similar independent semiconductor assembly and test 
subcontractors. In order to remain competitive, the Company has to price its services and products 
reasonably, as well as maintain the qual ity in its manufacturing processes and del iver its products on a 
timely basis. Discussion on the Company's competitors is found on page 1300f this Prospectus. A 
d iscussion on the semiconductor industry is found on page 130 of this Prospectus. 

The Company has in place, strict procedures to ensure the qual ity of its products. Through the Qual ity 
Assurance d ivision of its subsidiary CEC, the Company ascertains its processes and products are 
compliant with its cl ient's reqUirements, and conducts regu lar  audits of manufacturing procedures. The 
Company bel ieves it has a dedicated and experienced management team that understands the industry's 
requ irements and technology trends that a l lows the Company to be highly competitive. 

At least 65% of the Company's product portfolio pertains to customer specific applications, which cannot 
be easily replicated by competitors. Moreover, accreditation of a qua l ified supplier normally takes a 
m inimum of nine months. Hence! once its requ irements are met, it is not easy for a customer to transfer 
to a competitor. 

As a PEZA-registered entity, CEC enjoys certain incentives l ike preferentia l  5% gross income tax, duty 
free importation of materials, and reduced power rate vis-a-vis non-registered entities which enables it to 
price its products competitively. It l ikewise continua lly monitors its d irect costs such as raw materials, 
spare parts, and d irect and indirect labor. 

The volatility in the price of raw materials and the availability of supply used by the 
Company in its production process could affect its profitability. 

A significant increase in the price of or a significant reduction in the supply of raw materials could 
adversely affect the cost of sales and other expenses. For certain products, raw materials such as gold 
and copper can account for up to 40% of cost of goods sold. 
While these risks are uncontrol lable, the Company's practice has been to bill its customers for any price 
adjustments whenever the cost of d irect materials such as gold increases. In order to ascertain access to 
raw materials at a l l  times, the Company as a policy, maintains at least three to four  suppliers for each of 
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the raw materials it uses for production. The Company also has clients who provide certain raw materials 
to them for exclusive use in these client's productsj which serve to reduce the production costs. 

Customers are requ ired to submit order forecasts ranging from three to six monthsj which the Company 
uses to project its supply requ irements. 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk 

The Company uses the US$ as its functional currency and is therefore exposed to foreign exchange 
movements, primarily in the Phi l ippine Peso currency. Its expenses denominated in Phi l ippine Peso are 
local expenses such as labor, utilitiesj and local content and comprise around 40% of the Company's total 
expense. 

The Company follows a policy to manage its currency risk by closely monitoring its cash flow position and 
by providing forecast on a l l  other exposures in non-US$ currencies. To further manage foreign exchange 
risk, the Company from time to time enters into currency swaps and forward contracts. 

The Company is exposed to the risk of industrial or labor disputes 

The Company has maintained a harmonious relationship between management and staff. Cirtek provides 
employee benefits and complies with labor standards. The Company is not un ionized; however, to foster 
better employee-management relations, there is a labor management council composed of committees 
with representatives from both labor and management. Labor management councils are establ ished to 
enable the workers to participate in pol icy and decision-making processes, in  so far as said processes wil l  
directly affect their rights, benefits and welfare, except those which are covered by col lective bargaining 
agreement or are traditional areas of bargaining. The scope of the council/committee's functions consists 
of information sharing, discussion, consultation, formulation, or establ ishment of programs or projects 
affecting the employees in general or the management. 

More than half of the Group's workforce consists of contractual employees. These are the direct 
employees of the Group's subcontractors who perform specific services or certa in aspects of the 
manufacturing process. Such arrangements involve a "trilateral relationship" among :  ( i )  the Group, as the 
principal who decides to farm out the job, work or service to a contractor; ( ii )  the contractor who has the 
capacity to independently undertake the performance of the service; and ( i i i )  the contractual workers 
engaged by the contractor to accomplish the job, work, or service for the Group. 

Under the Labor Code of the Phi l ippines, the Cirtek Group, as principal in the contracting relationship, is 
l iable as an indirect employer to the contractual employees, in the same manner and extent that it is 
l iable to its own employees. Such l iabi l ity is to the extent of the work performed under the contract and 
arises when the contractor fai ls to pay the wages of its employees or violates any provision of the Labor 
Code. The principal can then seek reimbursement from the contractor/agency. 

To date, there a re no pending labor-related claims filed by any contractual employee against any member 
of the Group. 

The Cirtek Group nevertheless continues to be exposed to the risk of industrial or  labor d isputes. The 
occurrence of such events could have a material adverse effect on the Company's bUSiness, financial 
condition, or results of operation. Regardless of the outcome, these disputes may lead to legal or other 
proceedings and may resu lt in substantial costs, delays in the subsidiaries' development schedule, and 
the diversion of resources and management's attention 
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Risk on the separation of key employees 

The Cirtek Group relies on the continued employment of, and its abi l ity to attract, qual ified engineers, key 
managers, and technica l personnel to ensure its continued success. The competition for such skil led 
workforce is strong, as seen in aggressive head hunting of employees. 

The Cirtek Group g ives attractive compensation packages that combine standard remuneration and 
performance incentives. The Cirtek Group provides continuous tra ining and development to managers 
and d irect employees. These tra in ing sessions i nclude technical and managerial courses. 

Key employees are a lso bound by employment contracts which have standard confidential ity, non­
compete and non-solicitation clauses. 

Basis of Presentation, Statement of Compliance, Basis of Consolidation and Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Preparation 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared on a h istorical cost basis except for 
financial asset at FVPL, which a re carried at fair value, and noncurrent assets held for sale, which are 
stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The consol idated financial 
statements are presented in United States (US) dollars ($), which is the Parent Company's functional and 
presentation currency. Al l  amounts are rounded off to the nearest US dollar except when otherwise 
indicated. 

Statement of Compliance 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Phi l ippine 
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC). 
PFRS includes statements named PFRS, Phi l ippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and Phil ippine 
Interpretations based on International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 
Interpretations issued by the Phi l ippine Interpretations Committee. 

Basis of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and its 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017and 2016 (see Notes 1 and 5) :  

CEC 
CEIC 
CATS (formerly known as RBWI) 
CATS - Phi l ippine Branch 
RBW Realty and Property, Inc. 

(RBWRP) 
Cirtek Corporation 
QUintel cayman 
Quintel Technology, Ltd. 
Quintel USA 
Telecom Quintel Mauritius, Ltd .* 

*In the process of dissolution. 

Country of 
IncorQoration 
Phi lippines 
BVI 
BVI 
Phi l ippines 

Phi l ippines 
United States of America 
Cayman Islands 
United Kingdom 
United States of America 
Republic of Mauritius 

Percentage of Ownership 
2017 2016 

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect 
100 
100 

100 
100 

100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 

100 
100 

100 
100 

100 
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Specifical ly, the Group controls an investee iff and only if, the Group has : 

.. Power over the investee ( i .e, existing rights that give it the current abi l ity to d irect the relevant 
activities of the investee);  

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
.. The ab ility to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers a l l  relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, 
including : 

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee; 
.. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; 
It The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights. 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins 
when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the 
subsidiary. Assets, l iabi l ities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or d isposed of during the 
year are included in the consol idated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the 
date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) a re attributed to the equity 
holders of the Parent Company and to the non-control l ing interests, even if this results in the non­
controll ing interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the stand-alone 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into l i ne with the Group's accounting 
pol icies. All intra-group assets and l iabi l ities, equity, income! expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in ful l on consolidation. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary! without a loss of controll is accounted for as anequity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

• Derecognizes the assets ( including goodwil l) and l iabi l ities of the subsidiary; 
.. Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-control l ing interests; 
It Derecognizes the cumulative translation d ifferences recorded in equity; 
.. Recognizes the fair value of the conSideration received; 
.. Recognizes the fai r  value of any investment retained; 
.. Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and 
• Reclassifies the Parent Company's share of components previously recognized in OCI to profit or 

loss or retained earnings! as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had d irectly disposed 
of the related assets or l iabil ities. 

Common control business com binations 
Where there a re group reorganizations and business combinations in which a l l  the combining entities 
within the Group are u ltimately controlled by the same ultimate parent ( i .e . ,  control l ing shareholders) 
before and after the business combination and the control is not transitory ( business combinations under 
common contro!)! the Group accounts for such group reorganizations and bUSiness combinations Similar 
to a pooling-of-interests method. The assets and l iabi lities of the acqu ired entities and that of the Parent 
Company are reflected at their carrying values at the stand-alone financial statements of the investee 
companies. The difference in the amount recognized and the fair value of the consideration given is 
accounted for as an equity transaction! i .e . ,  as either a contribution or distribution of equity. Further, 
when a subsidiary is disposed in a common control transaction without loss of control, the d ifference in 
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the amount recogn ized and the fair value of consideration received is a lso accounted for as an equity 
transaction. 

The Group records the d ifference as equity reserve and is presented as a separate component of equity 
in the consolidated balance sheet. Comparatives shal l be restated to include balances and transactions 
as if the entities have been acquired at the beginning of the earliest period presented in the consolidated 
financial statements, regardless of the actual date of the combination. 

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 
The accounting poliCies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except that the 
Group has adopted the fol lowing new accounting pronouncements starting January 1, 2017. 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2017 

• Amendments to PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, Clarification of the Scope of 
the Standard (Part of Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle) 

The amendments clarify that the d isclosure requirements in PFRS 12, other than those relating to 
summarized financial information, a pply to an entity's interest in a subsidiary, a joint venture or an  
associate (or a portion of  its i nterest in a joint venture or  an  associate) that i s  classified (or included in  a 
disposal group that is classified) as held for sale. 

Adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on the consol idated financial statements. 
• Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, Disclosure Initiative 
The amendments require entities to provide disclosure of changes in their l iabi l ities a rising from financing 
activities, including both changes a rising from cash flows and non-cash changes (such as foreign 
exchange gains or losses). 

In 2017, the Group presented additional d isclosures on the movements of the financing activities in Note 
30. As al lowed under the transition provisions, the Group did not present comparative information for the 
years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.  

• Amendments to PAS 12, Income Taxes, Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unreal ized Losses 

The amendments clarify that a n  entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable 
profits against which it may make deductions upon the reversal of the deductible temporary difference 
related to unrealized losses. Furthermore, the amendments provide gu idance on how an entity should 
determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in  which taxable profit may include the 
recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount. 

Adaption of these amendments did not have any impact on the Group's financial position and 
performance as the Group has no deductible temporary d ifferences or assets that a re in  the scope of the 
amendments. 

Pronouncements issued but not yet effective a re l isted below. Unless otherwise indicated, the Group does 
not expect that the future adoption of the said pronouncements to have a Significant impact on its 
consolidated financial statements. The Group intends to adopt the fol lowing pronouncements when they 
become effective. 
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Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2018 

!. Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, Classification a nd Measurement of Share-based 
Payment Transactions 

The amendments to PFRS 2 address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions on the 
measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-based 
payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and the accounting 
where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its 
classification from cash settled to equ ity settled. 

On adoption, entities a re requ ired to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but 
retrospective appl ication is permitted if elected for all three amendments and if other criteria a re met. 
Early appl ication of the amendments is permitted. 

.. PFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

PFRS 9 reflects a l l  phases of the financial instruments project and replaces PAS 39, Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, and al l  previous versions of PFRS 9. The standard introduces new 
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting. Retrospective 
appl ication is requ ired but provid ing comparative information is not compUlsory. For hedge accounting, 
the requirements a re generally appl ied prospectively, with some l imited exceptions ... 

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting the new standard. 
.. Amendments to PFRS 41 Insurance Contracts, Applying PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, with PFRS 
4 
The amendments address concerns a rising from implementing PFRS 9, the new financial instruments 
standard before implementing the new insurance contracts standard. The amendments introduce two 
options for entities issuing insurance contracts : a temporary exemption from applying PFRS 9 and an  
overlay approach. The temporary exemption i s  first applied for reporting periods beginning on or  after 
January 1, 2018. An entity may elect the overlay approach when it first appl ies PFRS 9 and apply that 
approach retrospectively to financial assets designated on transition to PFRS 9. The entity restates 
comparative information reflecting the overlay approach if, and only if, the entity restates comparative 
information when applying PFRS 9. 

" PFRS 15, Reven ue from Contracts with Customers 

PFRS 15 establ ishes a new five-step model that wil l  apply to revenue arising from contracts with 
customers. Under PFRS 15 ,  revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The 
prinCiples in PFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to measuring and recognizing revenue. 

The new revenue standard is appl icab le to a l l  entities and wi l l  supersede a l l  current revenue recogn ition 
requirements under PFRSs. Either a ful l  or modified retrospective appl ication is required for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Early adoption is permitted .  

The Group i s  currently assessing the impact of adopting PFRS 15 .  

.. Amendments to PAS 28, Measuring an  Associate o r  Joint Venture at  Fair Value (Part of Annual 
Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle) 

The amendments clarify that an entity that is a venture capital organization, or other qual ifying entity, 
may elect, at in itial recogn ition on an investment-by-investment basis, to measure its investments in 
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associates and joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss. They a lso clarify that if an entity that is 
not itself an  investment entity has an  i nterest in an associate or joint venture that is an  investment entity, 
the entity may, when applying the equity method, elect to retain the fair value measurement appl ied by 
that investment entity associate or jOint venture to the investment entity associate's or jOint venture's 
interests in subSidiaries. This election is made separately for each investment entity associate or jOint 
venture, at the later of the date on which (a) the investment entity associate or joint venture is in itia l ly 
recognized; (b) the associate or joint venture becomes an  investment entity; and (c) the investment 
entity associate or joint venture first becomes a parent. The amendments should be applied 
retrospectively, with earlier appl ication permitted. 

.. Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property! Transfers of Investment Property 

The amendments clarify when an  entity should transfer property! including property under construction 
or development into, or out of i nvestment property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs 
when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the defin ition of investment property and there is evidence 
of the change in use. A mere change in management's intentions for the use of a property does not 
provide evidence of a change in use. The amendments should be applied prospectively to changes in use 
that occur on or after the beginn ing of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the 
amendments. Retrospective appl ication is only permitted if this is possi ble without the use of h indsight. 
• Phil ippine Interpretation on IFRIC-22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 
The interpretation clarifies that in determining the spot exchange rate to use on in itial recogn ition of the 
related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecogn ition of a non-monetary asset or non­
monetary l iabi l ity relating to advance conSideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which an  
entity in itially recognizes the nonmonetary asset or  non-monetary l iabi l ity arising from the advance 
consideration. If there a re mu ltiple payments or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a 
date of the transactions for each payment or receipt of advance consideration .  The interpretation may be 
applied on a fully retrospective basis. Entities may apply the interpretation prospectively to al l  assets, 
expenses and income i n  its scope that are in itially recogn ized on or after the beginn ing of the reporting 
period in  which the entity first appl ies the interpretation or the beginning of a prior reporting period 
presented as comparative information in the financial statements of the reporting period in which the 
entity first applies the interpretation .  

The Group i s  currently assessing the impact of adopting this interpretation.  

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2019 

" Amendments to PFRS 9, Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 

The amendments to PFRS 9 a l low debt instruments with negative compensation prepayment features to 
be measured at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. An entity shal l apply 
these amendments for annua l  reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1{ 2019. Earlier appl ication is permitted. 

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting these amendments. 

• PFRS 16, Leases 
PFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases 
and requires lessees to account for a l l  leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the 
accounting for finance leases under PAS 17, Leases. The standard includes two recogn ition exemptions 
for lessees - leases of 'low-value' assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases ( i .e., leases 
with a lease term of 12 months or less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee wil l  recogn ize a 
l iabil ity to make lease payments ( i .e . ,  the lease l iabi l ity) and a n  asset representing the right to use the 
underlying asset during the lease term ( i .e . ,  the right-of-use asset). Lessees wil l  be requ ired to separately 
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recognize the interest expense on the lease l iabi l ity and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use 
asset. 

Lessees wil l  be a lso required to remeasure the lease l iabi l ity upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g ., 
a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in  an index or 
rate used to determine those payments) .  The lessee wil l  generally recognize the amount of the 
remeasurement of the lease l iabi l ity as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. 

Lessor accounting under PFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today's accounting under 
PAS 17. Lessors wil l continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in  PAS 17 and 
d istingu ish between two types of leases: operating and finance leases. 

PFRS 16 a lso requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive d isclosures than under PAS 17.  

Early application is permitted, but not before an  entity appl ies PFRS 15 .  A lessee can choose to apply the 
standard using either a ful l retrospective or a modified retrospective approach . The standard's transition 
provisions permit certa in reliefs. 

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting PFRS 16.  

.. Amendments to PAS 28, Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 

The amendments to PAS 28 clarify that entities should account for long-term interests in a n  associate or 
jOint venture to which the equity method is not applied using PFRS 9 .  An entity shal l apply these 
amendments for annua l  reporting periods beginn ing on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is 
permitted. 

• Phi l ippine Interpretation on IFRIC-23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 
The interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty 
that affects the appl ication of PAS 12 and does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of PAS 12, 
nor does it specifical ly i nclude requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain 
tax treatments. 

The interpretation specifical ly addresses the fol lowing : 

.. Whether a n  entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately 
.. The assumptions a n  entity makes a bout the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities 
.. How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax 
credits and tax rates 
.. How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances 
An entity must determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with 
one or more other uncertain tax treatments. The approach that better predicts the resolution of the 
uncertainty should be fol lowed. 

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting this interpretation.  

Deferred effectivity 

II Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an  Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture 
The amendments address the confl ict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dea l ing with the loss of control of 
a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify that a ful l  
ga in or loss is  recogn ized when a transfer to an  associate or jOint venture i nvolves a business as defined 
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in PFRS 3, Business Combination. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that 
does not constitute a business, however, is recognized only to the extent of unrelated investors' interests 
in the associate or joint venture. 

On January 13, 2016, the FRSC postponed the original effective date of January 1, 2016 of the said 
amendments until the International Accounting Standards Board has completed its broader review of the 
research project on equity accounting that may result in the simplification of accounting for such 
transactions and of other aspects of accounting for associates and joint ventures. 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Fair Value Measurement 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sel l  an asset or paid to transfer a l iabi l ity in an orderly 
transaction between market partiCipants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based 
on the presumption that the transaction to sel l  the asset or transfer the l iabi l ity takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or l iabi lity, or 
• In the a bsence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or l iabi l ity. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group. 

The fair value of an asset or a l iabi l ity is measured using the assumptions that market partiCipants would 
use when pricing the asset or l iabi l ity, assuming that market participants act in their economic best 
interest. 

A fair value measurement of a nonfinancial asset takes into account a market participant's abi l ity to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its h ighest and best use or by sel l ing it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its h ighest and best use. 
The Group uses valuation techn iques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data is avai lable to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing 
the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and l iabi l ities for which fa ir value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as fol lows, based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair va lue measurement as a whole: 

• Level l - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or l iabi l ities 
• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is sign ificant to the fair 

value measurement is d irectly or indirectly observable 
.. Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is sign ificant to the fair 

value measurement is unobservable. 

For assets and l iabi lities that a re recognized in  the consol idated financial statements on a recurring basis, 
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the h ierarchy by re-assessing 
categorization ( based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

For the purpose of fair value d isclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and l iabi l ities on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or l iabi l ity and the level of the fair value 
h ierarchy as explained a bove. 
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cash and cash Equivalents 
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks. Cash in banks earn interest at the respective bank deposit 
rates. Cash equivalents are short-term, h igh ly l iquid investments that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less from dates of acquisition and that are 
subject to an  insignificant risk of change in va lue. 

Financial Instruments 
Financial assets 
Initial recogn ition 
Financial assets within the scope of PAS 39 a re classified as either financial assets at FVPL, loans and 
receivables, HTM investments, AFS financial assets, or as derivatives deSignated as hedging instruments 
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at 
in itia l  recogn ition and, where a l lowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such classifications at every reporting 
date. 

Financial assets are recognized in itia l ly at fair value plus, in the case of finanCial assets not recorded at 
FVPL, d irectly attributable transaction costs. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame establ ished by 
regu lation or convention in  the marketplace (regular way purchases) are recognized on the trade date, 
i .e . ,  the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
The Group's financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, financial 
assets at FVPL, HTM investments, AFS financial asset, amounts owed by related parties, loans to 
employees( reported as part of 'Other current assets' and 'Other noncurrent assets' in  the consolidated 
balance sheet)and depOSits (reported as part of 'Other current assets' and 'Other noncurrent assets' in 
the consolidated balance sheet). 

Subsequent measurement 
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as fol lows : 

Financial assets at FVPL 
Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon 
initia l  recognition as at FVPL. Financial assets a re classified as held for trading if they are acquired for 
the purpose of sel l ing or purchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded 
derivatives, a re a lso classified as held for trading un less they are deSignated as effective hedging 
instruments as defined by PAS 39. Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the consolidated balance sheet 
at fair value with gains or losses recognized in  profit or loss. 

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair 
value when their risks and economic characteristics a re not closely related to those of the host contracts 
and the host contracts a re not held for trading or deSignated at FVPL. These embedded derivatives are 
measured at fa ir value with gains or losses a rising from changes in fair value recogn ized in profit or loss. 
Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the 
cash flows that would otherwise be requ ired or a reclassification of a financial asset out of FVPL. 

Financial assets deSignated as FVPL are deSignated by management on in itial recognition when any of 
the following criteria are met: 

.. The designation el iminates or Significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would 
otherwise a rise from measuring the assets or l iabi l ities or recogn izing gains or losses on them on a 
d ifferent basis; or 
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., The assets and l iabi l ities are part of a group of financial assets, financial l iabi l ities or both which 
are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented 
risk management or investment strategy; or 
" The financial instrument contains a n  embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does 
not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be 
separately recorded. 
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Group designated its investment in Un it Investment Trust Fund 
(UITF) as financial asset at FVPL. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables a re non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. Such financial assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate (EIR) method, less impairment. This method uses an EIR that exactly d iscounts estimated 
cash receipts through the expected l ife of the financial assets to the net carrying amount of the financial 
asset. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any d iscount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that a re an  integral part of the EIR. Gains and losses a re recognized in profit or loss when 
the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as wel l  as through the amortization process . 
Assets in this category are included in current assets except for maturities g reater than 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period, which are classified as noncurrent assets. 
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Group has designated as loans and receivables its cash in banks 
and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, amounts owed by related parties, loans to employees 
(reported as part of 'Other current assets' and 'Other noncurrent assets' in the consolidated balance 
sheet) and deposits (reported as part of 'Other current assets' and 'Other noncurrent assets' in the 
consolidated balance sheet) . 

HTM investments 
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are classified as 
HTM when the Group has the positive intention and abil ity to hold it to maturity. After in itial 
measurementj HTM investments a re measured at amortized cost using the EIR method, less impairment. 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are integral part of the EIR. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the 
investments a re derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process. 
As of December 31, 2017 a nd 2016, the Group has HTM investments in Phi l ippine government securities. 

AFS financial assets 
AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as AFS or are not classified in 
any of the three preceding categories. They are purchased and held indefinitely, and may be sold in 
response to l iquidity requirements or change in  market conditions. 

After in itial measurement, AFS financial assets a re measured at fair value with unreal ized gains or losses 
recogn ized d i rectly in ocr until the investment is derecognized, at which time the cumulative gain or loss 
recorded in equity is recognized in profit or loss, or determined to be impairedj at which time the 
cumulative loss recorded in equity is recognized in profit or loss. 

As of December 31j 2017and 2016, the Group's AFS financial asset pertains to unquoted equity shares of 
CloudMondol Ltd. 

Financial l iabi l ities 
Initia l  recogn ition 
Financial l iabi l ities within the scope of PAS 39 a re classified as financial l iabi l ities at FVPL, other financial 
l iabil ities, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The 
Group determines the classification of its financial l iabi l ities at in itial recognition a nd, where allowed and 
appropriate, re-eva luates such designation at every financial reporting date. 
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Financial l iabi l ities are recognized in itia l ly at fa ir value and/ in the case of financial l iabi l ities not at FVPL/ 
net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Group's financial l iabi l ities include trade and other payables, short-term loans, long-term debt and 
amounts owed to related parties. 

Subsequent measurement 
The measurement of financial l iabi l ities depends on their classification as fol lows: 

Financial l iabi l ities at FVPL 
Financial l iabi l ities at FVPL include financial l iabi l ities held for trading and financial l iabi l ities designated 
u pon in itia l  recognition at FVPL. 

Financial l iabi l ities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sel l ing in the 
near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that do not 
meet the hedge accounting criteria as defined by PAS 39. 

Gains and losses on l iabi l ities held for trading are recognized in profit or loss. 

The Group does not have a financial l iabi l ity at FVPL as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. 

Other financial l iabi l ities 
Other financial l iabil ities are in itia l ly recognized at fair value of the consideration received, less directly 
attributable transaction costs. After in itial recognition, other financial l iabi l ities a re measured at 
amortized cost using the EIR method . Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the 
l iabi l ities are derecogn ized, as well as through the amortization process. 

As of December 31, 2017and 2016, the Group's other finanCial l iabi l ities includes trade and other 
payables, short-term loans, amount owed to related parties and long-term debt. 

Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and finanCial l iabi l ities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated 
balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is 
intention to settle on a net baSiS, or to realize the asset and settle the l iabi l ity sim ultaneously. The Group 
assesses that it has a currently enforceable right of offset if the right is not contingent on a future event, 
and is legal ly enforceable in the normal course of business, event of default, and event of insolvency or 
bankruptcy of the Group and al l  of the counterparties. 

'Day l' d ifference 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is d ifferent from the fair value of other observable 
current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation techn ique whose variables 
include only data from observable market, the Group recogn izes the d ifference between the transaction 
price and fair value (a 'Day l' d ifference) in profit or loss unless it qual ifies for recognition as some other 
type of asset. In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the d ifference between the 
transaction price and model val ue is only recogn ized in the profit or loss when the inputs become 
observable or when the instrument is derecogn ized. For each transaction, the Group determines the 
appropriate method of recognizing the 'Day l' d ifference amount. 
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Classification of Financial Instruments between Debt and Equ ity 
A financial instrument is classified as debt if it provides for a contractual ob l igation to: 

.. deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or 
.. exchange financial assets or financial l iabi l ities with another entity under conditions that are 

potential ly unfavorable to the Group; or 
.. satisfy the obl igation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. 

If the Group does not have an u nconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial asset to 
settle its contractua l  obl igation, the obl igation meets the defin ition of a financial l iabi l ity. The components 
of issued financial instruments that contain both l iabi l ity and equity elements are accounted for 
separately, with the equity com ponent being aSSigned the residual amount after deducting from the 
instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair value of the l iabil ity component on 
the date of issue. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Group assesses, at each balance sheet date, whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financia l assets is impa i red . A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed 
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
that has occurred after the in itia l recogn ition of the asset (an incurred 'loss event') and that loss event (or 
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financia l 
assets that can be reliably estimated . Objective evidence of impairment may include indications that the 
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in 
interest or principal payments, the probabi lity that they wi l l  enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganization and where observable data i ndicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows, such as changes i n  a rrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. If such 
evidence exists, any impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. 

Financial assets carried at amortized cost 
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists i nd ividual ly for financial assets 
that are individual ly significant, or col lectively for financial assets that are not individual ly sign ificant. If it 
is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an ind ividual ly assessed financial asset, 
whether significant or not, the asset is included in  a g roup of financial assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impa i rment. Assets that are 
individual ly assessed for impai rment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized 
are not included in  a collective assessment of impairment. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortized cost 
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the d ifference between the asset's carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not 
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original EIR ( i .e. , the EIR computed at in itial 
recognition) .  The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced either d irectly or through the use of an 
al lowance account. The a mount of the loss shall be recognized in profit or loss. If, in a subsequent 
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impa irment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an  impairment loss is recognized i n  profit or loss, to the extent that 
the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. 

Financial assets carried at cost 
If there is objective evidence that a n  impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not 
carried at fair value because its fair val ue cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is 
l inked to and must be settled by del ivery of such an unquoted equity i nstrument has been incurred, the 

39 



amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial 
asset. 

Derecognition of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar f inancial 
assets) is derecognized where :  

.. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
.. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an  
obligation to pay the received cash flows in  ful l  without material delay to a third party under a 'pass­
through' arrangement; and 
.. either (a) the Group has transferred substantially a l l  the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the 
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantial ly all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset. 

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into pass 
through arrangement and has neither transferred nor retained substantial ly a l l  the risks and rewards of 
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recogn ized to the extent of the Group's 
continuing involvement in the asset. In  this case the Group a lso recogn izes an associated liabil ity. The 
transferred asset and the associated l iabi l ity are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and 
obligations that the Group has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Group could be required to repay. 
When continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option ( including a cash 
settled option or simi lar provision)  on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group's continu ing 
involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except that in the 
case of a written put option (including a cash settled option or simi lar provision) on an asset measured at 
fair value, the extent of the Group's continuing involvement is l imited to the lower of the fa ir value of the 
transferred asset and the option exercise price. 

Financial l iabil ities 
A financial l iabi l ity is derecognized when the obligation under the l iabi l ity is d ischarged or cancelled or 
expired. 

When an existing financial l iabi l ity is replaced by another from the same lender on substantial ly d ifferent 
terms, or the terms of an  existing l iabi l ity a re substantial ly modified, such an  exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original l iabi l ity and the recognition of a new l iabi l ity, and the d ifference 
in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss. 

Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). Costs incurred i n  bringing 
each inventory to its present location and condition are accounted for as fol lows: 

Raw materials, spare parts, 
supplies and others 

Finished goods and work-in-

- purchase cost on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis; 

process inventories - cost of direct materials and labor and a proportion of manufacturing overhead 
cost. Costs a re determined on a standard cost basis. Standard costs take into account normal levels of 
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materials and supplies, labor, efficiency and capacity util ization .  They are regularly reviewed and, if 
necessary, revised in l ight of current conditions. 

NRV of finished goods a nd work-in-process inventories is the estimated sel l ing price in the ordinary 
course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the 
sale. NRV of raw materials, spare parts! suppl ies and others is the current replacement cost. 

Property, Plant and Equ ipment 
Property, plant and equ ipment, except land! are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of such property! plant 
and equipment and borrowing cost when that cost is incurred and if the recogn ition criteria a re met. 
Repairs and maintenance a re recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Land is carried at cost less a ny 
impairment in val ue. 

When each major inspection is performed, its cost is recogn ized in the carrying amount of the property, 
plant and equ ipment as a replacement if the recogn ition criteria are satisfied. 

Construction i n  progress represents property under construction and is stated at cost. This includes costs 
of construction and other d irect costs. Construction in progress is not depreCiated until such time that 
the relevant assets a re completed and put into operational use. 

Depreciation commences when an asset is in its location and condition and capable of being operated in 
the manner intended by management. Depreciation is ca lculated on a straight-l ine method over the 
estimated useful l ives of the property, plant and eqUipment as fol lows : 

Category 
Number of Years 
Machinery and equ ipment 7-15 
Buildings and improvements 5-25 
Facility and production tools 5-8 
Furniture! fixtures and equ ipment 2-5 
Transportation equipment 5-7 

Depredation ceases at the earl ier of the date that the item is classified as held for sale (or included in a 
d isposal group) in accordance with PFRS 5, Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, 
and the date the asset is derecognized. 

The property, plant and equipment's residual values, useful l ives and depreCiation methods are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. 

Ful ly depreciated assets a re retained in the accounts until these a re no longer in use. An item of 
property! plant and eqUipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposa l .  Any gain or loss a rising on derecogn ition of the asset (calculated as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and carrying amount of the asset) is included in  profit 
or loss in the year the asset is derecognized . 

Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale 
Property! plant and eqUipment are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount wil l  be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction expected to be completed within one year from the date of 
claSSification! rather than through continuing use. Noncurrent assets held for sale are stated at the lower 
of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sel l .  
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The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale or d istribution is h igh ly 
probable and the asset or disposal group is ava ilable for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions 
required to complete the sale should indicate that it is un l ikely that significant changes to the sale wi l l  be 
made or that the sale wi l l  be withdrawn. Management must be committed to the sale expected with in 
one year from the date of the classification, unless the delay is caused by events or circumstances 
beyond the Group's control and there is sufficient evidence that the Group remains committed to its plan 
to sel l the assets. 

Property, plant and equipment are not depreciated or amortized once classified as held for sale. 

Assets and l iabi l ities classified as held for sale a re presented separately as current items in  the 
consol idated balance sheet. 

Borrowing Costs 
Borrowing costs d irectly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an  asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capital ized as 
part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in  the period in which they occur. 
Borrowing costs consist of interest a nd other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the 
borrowing of funds. Foreign currency exchange d ifferences are included in the determination of 
borrowing costs to be capital ized, but only to the extent that they are an adjustment to the interest cost 
on the borrowing. 
Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recogn ition at cost. Fol lowing in itial 
recognition, intangible assets a re carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated 
impairment losses. I nternal ly generated intangible assets, excluding capital ized development costs, a re 
not capitalized and expenditure is recognized in profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is 
incurred. 

The useful lives of i ntangible assets are assessed to be either fin ite or indefinite. 

Intangible asset with fin ite l ife is amortized over its economic useful l ife and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and 
the amortization method for an  intangible asset with a finite useful l ife are reviewed at each balance 
sheet date. Changes in the expected useful l ife or the expected pattern of consumption of future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortization period or 
method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on 
intang ible assets with finite l ives is recogn ized in  profit or loss. 

Intangible assets with indefin ite useful lives are tested for impairment annual ly either i ndividual ly or at 
the cash-generating un it (CGU) leve l .  Such intangibles are not amortized. The useful l ife of an inta ngible 
asset with an  indefinite useful l ife is reviewed annual ly to determine whether the assessment can be 
supported. If not, the change in the useful l ife assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a 
prospective basis. 

The Group recogn izes a n  intangible asset acquired in a business combination if it is identifiable and 
distinguishable from goodwi l l .  The Group considers an  inta ngible asset as identifiable if: 

.. it is separable, i.e., there is evidence of exchange transactions for the asset or an asset of a 
similar type, even if those transactions are infrequent and regard less of whether the Group is i nvolved in  
those transactions; or 
.. it arises from contractual or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are transferable 
or separable from the entity or from other rights and obl igations ("contractua l-legal" criterion). 
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The Group's i ntangible assets recogn ized from business combination pertain to customer relationship, 
trademark and technology. Trademark and customer relationships are estimated to have an  indefinite 
useful l ife, and wi l l  be subject to yearly impairment testing. The Group estimates that technology wil l  
have an economic l ife of 10 years. 

Research and Development Costs 
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures on an ind ividual project are 
recognized as a n  i ntangible asset when the Group can demonstrate: 

.. the technical feasibi l ity of completing the intangible asset so that the asset wi l l  be ava i lable for 
use or sale; 
.. its intention to complete and its abi l ity to use or sel l  the asset; 
• how the asset wi l l  generate future economic benefits; 
.. the ava i lab i l ity of resources to complete the asset; and 
.. the abi l ity to measure reliably the expenditure during development 

Following in itia l recogn ition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins 
when development is complete and the asset is ava i lable for use. It is amortized over the period of 
expected future benefit, which is estimated to be five (5) to ten ( 10) years. Amortization is recorded in 
cost of sales. During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment annual ly. 

Business Combinations and Goodwill 
Business combinations a re accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and 
the amount of any non-control l ing i nterests in  the acquiree . For each business combination, the Group 
elects whether to measure the non-control l ing interests in the acquiree at fair va lue or at the 
proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred and included in  administrative expenses. 

When the Group acqu i res a business, it assesses the financial assets and l iabi l ities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractua l  terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as of the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives i n  host contracts by the acquiree. 

If the in itial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in 
which the combination occurs, the Group as an  acqu irer sha l l  report in its consolidated financial 
statements provisiona l amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 

During the measurement period, the Group as an acquirer shal l  retrospectively adjust the provisional 
amounts recognized at the acquisition date to reflect new information obtained a bout facts and 
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would have affected the 
measurement of the a mounts recognized as of that date. During the measurement period, the Group as 
an acquirer shal l also recognize additional assets or l iabi l ities if new information is obta ined about facts 
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would have resulted in the 
recognition of those assets and l iabi l ities as of that date. The measurement period ends as soon as the 
Group as an acquirer receives the information it was seeking a bout facts a nd circumstances that existed 
as of the acquisition date or learns that more information is not obtainable. However, the measurement 
period shall not exceed one year from the acquisition date. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is remeasured at its 
acquisition date fair value and a ny resulting gain or loss is recogn ized in the consol idated statement of 
comprehensive income. 
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Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer wil l  be recogn ised at fai r  value at the 
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an  asset or l iabi l ity that is a financial instrument 
and within the scope of PAS 39is measured at fai r  value with changes in fair val ue recognized either in  
profit or loss. If  the contingent consideration is not within the scope of 
PAS 39! it is measured in accordance with the appropriate PFRS. Contingent consideration that is 
classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for with in eqUity. 

Goodwil l is in itially measured at cost! being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred 
and the amount recognized for non-control l ing interests! and any previous interest held! over the net 
identifiable assets acquired and l iabi l ities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in  
excess of the aggregate consideration transferred! the Group reassesses whether i t  has correctly 
identified a l l  of the assets acquired and al l  of the l iabi l ities assumed and reviews the procedures used to 
measure the amounts to be recognized at the acquisition date. If the 
reassessment stil l  results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate 
consideration transferred! then the gain is recognized in profit or loss. 

After in itia l  recogn ition! goodwil l  is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 
purpose of impa i rment testing, goodwil l  acquired i n  a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
al located to each of the Group's cash-generating un its (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from the 
combination! i rrespective of whether other assets or l iabi l ities of the acquiree a re assigned to those units. 

Where goodwil l  has been a l located to a CGU and part of the operation within that un it is d isposed of, the 
goodwil l  associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill d isposed in these circumstances is measured based on 
the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the CGU reta ined. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that a nonfinancial asset may 
be impaired . The Group has deSignated as nonfinancial assets its prepaid expenses, advances to 
suppliers! property, plant and equ ipment! inta ngible assets, project development costs and other assets. 
If any such ind ication exists, or when annual impairment testing for a nonfinancial asset is required, the 
Group makes an estimate of the nonfinancial asset's recoverable amount. A non financial asset's 
estimated recoverable amount is the h igher of a nonfinancial asset's or CGU's fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use (VIU)  and is determined for an individual asset, unless the nonfi na ncial asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other nonfinancial assets or groups 
of nonfinancial assets. Where the carrying amount of a nonfinancial asset exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount, the nonfinancial asset is considered impaired and is written down to its estimated 
recoverable amount. In assessing VIU, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax d iscount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the nonfinancial asset. In determining fair value less costs to sel l ,  a n  appropriate 
valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices 
for publ icly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators. 

For nonfinancial assets excluding goodwil l , an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether 
there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of recoverable amount. A previously 
recognized impai rment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the nonfinancial asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized . If 
that is the case the carrying amount of the nonfinancial asset is increased to its recoverable amount. 
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the non-financial asset in prior years. Such 
reversal is recogn ized in profit or loss. 
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Capita! Stock 
Capital stock, which consists of common stock and preferred stockj is measured at par value for a l l  
shares issued . Proceeds and/or fair value of consideration received in excess of par value, if any, are 
recognized as additional paid-in capital (APIC). 

Subscription Receivable 
The unpaid portion of the subscribed shares is deducted from capital stock and is measured at 
subscription price for a l l  shares subscribed. 

Retained Earnings 
The amount included in retained earnings includes profit or loss attributable to the Group's equity holders 
and reduced by d ividends on capital stock. Retained earnings may a lso include effect of changes in 
accounting pol icies as may be requ ired by the standards' transitional provisions. 

The Group may pay dividends in cash or by the issuance of shares of stock. Cash and property dividends 
are subject to the approval of the BODj whi le stock d ividends are subject to approval by the BOD, at least 
two-thirds of the outstanding capital stock of the shareholders at a shareholders' meeting cal led for such 
purpose, and by the Phi l ippine SEC. Cash and property dividends on preferred and common stocks are 
recognized as l iabi l ity and deducted from equity when declared. Stock dividends a re treated as transfers 
from retained earnings to paid-in capital .  

Equity Reserve 
Equity reserve represents the effect of the appl ication of the pooling-of-interests method and the 
difference of carrying amount and consideration of reissued Parent Company shares held by a subsidiary. 

Parent Company Shares Held by a Subsidiary 
These shares represent the Parent Company's common shares acquired by its subsidiary. No gain or loss 
is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of these equity instruments. 
Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is charged or credited to 
Equity Reserve. 
Other Comprehensive Income 
Other comprehensive income comprises items of income and expenses that a re not recognized in profit 
or loss for the year in accordance with PFRS. Other comprehensive income pertains to remeasurements 
of the Group's retirement benefit obligation and changes in fair value of AFS financial asset. 

Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits wi l l  flow to the Group 
and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractual ly 
defined terms of payment and excluding d iscounts, returns, rebates and other sales taxes or duties. The 
Group assesses its revenue a rrangement against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as 
principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in a l l  of its revenue 
arrangements. 

The fol lowing specific recognition criteria must a lso be met before revenue is recognized: 

Sale of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods ( including scrap) is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods, net of d iscounts and 
returns. Discounts and returns a re not significant to the Group. 
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Interest income 
Interest income is recognized as it accrues using the EIR method. 

Deferred revenues 
Deferred revenues pertain to the unearned i ncome arising from the sale of goods wherein no actual 
shipment or transfer of risks and rewards to customers has occurred yet. No amortization is done to 
recognize the earned revenue since the Group wi l l  make subsequent reversals upon shipment of the 
goods to customers. 

Costs and Expenses Recogn ition 
Costs and expenses a re recognized in profit or loss when a decrease in future economic benefits related 
to a decrease in  an  asset or an  increase in  a l iabil ity has arisen that can be measured rel iably. 

Cost of sales 
Cost of sales is recogn ized when the related sale has met the criteria for recognition. 

Operating expenses 
Operating expenses a re recognized in the period in which they are incurred. 

Leases 
The determination of whether an  arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at the inception date and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the 
arrangements is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to 
use the asset. A reassessment is made after the inception of the lease only if one of the fol lowing 
applies: 

a. There is a change in  contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the a rrangement; 
b .  A renewal option is  exercised and extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or extension 
was initially included in the lease term; 
c. There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; 
or 
d .  There is a substantial change to the asset. 
When a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the 
change in circumstances g ive rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) and at the date of 
renewal or extension period for scenario (b) .  

The Group as a lessee 
Leases where the lessor retains substantial ly a l l  the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recogn ized as expense in the consol idated 
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-l ine basis over the lease term. 

Retirement Benefits Costs 
Defined benefit plans 
CEC and CATS are covered by a noncontributory defined benefit retirement p lan .  The net defined benefit 
l iabi l ity or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obl igation at the end of the 
reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets, adjusted for any effect of l imiting a net defined 
benefit asset to the asset ceil ing. The asset cei ling is the present value of any economic benefits 
avai lable in  the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in  future contributions to the plan. 

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarial ly determined using the 
projected unit credit method. 
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Defined benefit costs comprise the fol lowing : 
.. Service cost 
.. Net interest on the net defined benefit l iabi l ity or asset 
.. Remeasurements of net defined benefit l iabi l ity or asset 

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-routine 
settlements are recognized as expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Past 
service costs are recognized when plan amendment or curtai lment occurs. 

Net interest on the net defined benefit l iabi l ity or asset is the change during the period in the net defined 
benefit l iabi l ity or asset that a rises from the passage of time which is determined by applying the discount 
rate based on high qual ity corporate bonds to the net defined benefit l iabi l ity or asset. Net interest on 
the net defined benefit l iabi l ity or asset is recognized as expense or income in profit or loss. 

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in the 
effect of the asset cei l ing (excluding net interest on defined benefit l iabi l ity) are recognized immediately 
in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Remeasurements are not reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods. These are retained in other comprehensive income until ful l 
settlement of the obligation . 

Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund . Plan assets are not available 
to the creditors of the Group, nor can they be paid directly to the Group.  The fai r  value of plan assets is 
based on market price i nformation .  
When n o  market price i s  avai lable, the fair value of plan assets i s  estimated by discounting expected 
future cash flows using a d iscount rate that reflects both the risk associated with the plan assets and the 
maturity or expected disposal date of those assets (or! if they have no maturity, the expected period until 
the settlement of the related obl igations). If the fair value of the plan assets is h igher than the present 
value of the defined benefit obl igationl the measurement of the resulting defined benefit asset is l imited 
to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in  
future contributions to the plan .  

The Group's right to be reimbursed of  some or a l l  the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit 
obl igation is recognized as a separate asset at fair va lue and when, and only when, reimbursement is 
virtually certain .  

Defined contribution plans 
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity and wi l l  have no legal or constructive obl igation to pay further 
amounts. Obl igations for contributions to defined contribution penSion plans a re recogn ised as an 
employee benefit expense in  profit or loss i n  the periods during which services are rendered by 
employees. 

The Group has a defined contribution plan covering substantially a l l  employees of QUintel USA and 
Quintel TechnologYI Inc. 

Foreign Currency-denominated Transactions 
The consolidated financia l statements a re presented in US dollars, wh ich is the Parent Company's 
functional and presentation currency. Transactions in foreign currencies a re in itial ly recorded at the 
functional currency spot rate rul ing at the date of the transaction . Outstanding monetary assets and 
l iabi l ities denominated in  foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional  currency rate of exchange 
ruling at the balance sheet date. 
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All d ifferences are taken to profit or loss. Nonmonetary items that a re measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency a re translated using the exchange rates as of the dates of the in itial 
transactions. 

Income Taxes 
Current income tax 
Current tax l iabi l ities for the current a nd prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to 
the taxation authority. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount a re those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted by the financial reporting date. Current i ncome tax for the current and 
prior periods, shal l, to the extent unpaid, be recognized as a l iabi l ity in  the consolidated balance sheet. If 
the amount a lready paid in respect of the current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those 
periods, the excess shal l  be recognized as an asset and be presented as part of "Other current assetslf in 
the consol idated balance sheet. 

Deferred income tax 
Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet l iabi l ity method on temporary differences at the 
financial reporting date between the tax bases of assets and l iabi l ities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax l iabiiities a re recog nized for a l l  taxable temporary d ifferences, except: 

.. where the deferred income tax l iabi l ity arises from the initia l  recogn ition of goodwill or of an 
asset or l iabi l ity in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 
• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with i nvestments in subsidiaries and 
interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences wi l l  not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred income tax assets a re recognized for a l l  deductible temporary differences, carry forward of 
unused tax credits from excess min imum corporate income tax (MCIT) over regular corporate income tax 
( RCIT) and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO) to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit wil l  be ava ilable against which the deductible temporary d ifference, and the carry forward of 
unused tax credits from excess MCIT over RCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized, except: 

.. where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary d ifference arises from 
the initial recogn ition of an  asset or l iabi l ity in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 
• in respect of deductible temporary d ifferences associated with investments in  subsidiaries and 
interests in  joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable 
that the temporary differences wi l l  reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be avai lable 
against which the temporary d ifferences can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit wi l l  be available to a l low al l  or part 
of the deferred tax asset to be util ized . Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and a re recogn ized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profit wi l l  a llow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred income tax assets and l iabi l ities are measured at the tax rates that a re expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realized or the l iabi l ity is settled, based on tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
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Deferred income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized directly in equity and not 
in profit or loss. Deferred tax items a re recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in 
other comprehensive income or d irectly in equity. 

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax l iabi l ities a re offset if, and only if, a legal ly 
enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current tax l iabi l ities exist and the deferred 
tax assets and l iabi l ities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same 
taxable entity or d ifferent taxable entities which intend to either settle current tax l iabi l ities and assets on 
a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabil ities simultaneously, in each future period in which 
significant amounts of deferred income tax assets or l iabil ities a re expected to be settled or recovered. 
Subsidiaries file income tax returns on an  individual basis. Thus, the deferred income tax assets and 
deferred income tax l ia bi l ities a re offset on  a per entity basis. 

Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the net income for the year attributable to common shareholders by 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year, with retroactive 
adjustments for any stock d ividends a nd stock split. 

For the purpose of calculating d i luted earnings per share, the net income and the weighted average 
number of shares outsta nding a re adjusted for the effects of a l l  di lutive potentia l  common shares. 

Segment Reporting 
For management purposes, the Group has determined that it is operating as one operating segment. 
Sales are reported interna l ly per d ivision, however, profit or loss, assets and liabil ities a re reported on an  
entity-wide basis. These information a re measured using the same accounting policies and estimates as  
the Group's consolidated finanCia l statements (see Note 26). 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation ( lega l  or constructive) as a result of a 
past event and it is probable that an  outflow of resources embodying economic benefits wil l be required 
to settle the obl igation and a rel iable estimate can be made of the amount of the obl igation . Where the 
Group expects some or a l l  of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recogn ized as a separate asset but on ly when the reimbursement is virtual ly certain .  
The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit or loss, net of any reimbursement. If the 
effect of the time va lue of money is material, provisions are determined by d iscounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recogn ized as an interest expense. 

Contingencies 
Contingent l iabilities a re not recognized but are disclosed in the notes to consol idated financial 
statements unless the possibi l ity of a n  outflow of resources embodying economic benefit is remote. 
Contingent assets are not recognized but a re disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements 
when an inflow of economic benefit is probable. 

Events After the Balance Sheet Date 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group's position at the balance sheet 
date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Post year-end events that 
are not adjusting events a re d isclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements when material .  
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Results of Operations 

The Company's Consol idated Net Sales, Gross Profit, Net Income, EBITDA and EPS are provided i n  the 
following table: 

Years Ended December 31 

In US$ Thousand except EPS 2017 2016 2015 

NET SALES 88,710 74,322 59,549 

COST OF SALES 70l.274 61,566 49,982 

GROSS PROFIT 18£435 12,756 9,567 

NET INCOME 4,296 7,608 5, 121 

Basic/Dilutes EPS US$0.OO9 U5$O.018 U5$O.013 

EBITDA 10,697 11,862 8,768 

For the 12-month period ending December 31, 2017 compared to the 12-month period 
ending December 31, 2016 

Revenue 

The Company achieved another record year of consolidated revenues with US$88.7 m il l ion for the 12 
months ending December 31,  2017, an  increase of 19% from US$74.3 mi l l ion for the same period in 
2016. The increase was accounted for by the growth of the Antenna Systems businesses and the 5-
month revenue contribution of Quintel, a US-based product and R&D company acquired in August 2017.  

Revenues from the semiconductor business amounted to US$43.3 mi l l ion  compared to US$43.7 mi l l ion 
for the same period i n  2016, a 9% decl ine. 

Revenues from the RF/MW/mmW and antenna manufacturing business before consolidation amounted to 
US$45.7 mi l l ion, a 207% increase compared to the four months in 2016 (change in accounting period) .  
After elimination of  i ntercompany sales during consolidation, revenues amounted to US$26.7 mi l l ion 

Revenue contribution from the newly acquired entity QUintel amounted to US$19.0 mi l l ion (for five 
months ending 31 December 2017). In August 2017, the Company acquired 100% of QUintel, a US­
based developer of lead ing-edge base station a ntennas used for cellu lar  wireless networks. 

Cost of Sales and Gross Margin 

The Company's cost of sales (COS) is composed of: raw materials, spare parts, suppl ies; direct salaries, 
wages and employees' benefits; depreciation and amortization; util ity expenses d irectly attributable to 
production, freight and d uties; and changes in finished goods and work in process inventories. The 
Company's cost of sales increased by 14% to US$70.3 mi l l ion in the 12 months ending December 31, 
2017 from US$61.6 mi l l ion for the same period in 2016. The increase was mainly due to a rise in  raw 
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materials expenses as a result of h igher sales, higher salaries and wages, depreciation, and increase in 
inward freight and d uties. 

Raw materials, spare parts, supplies and other i nventories g rew by 5% to US$44.3 mi l l ion for 
the 12 months ending December 31, 2017 from US$42.4 mil l ion for the same period in 2016. 
Salaries, wages and employees' benefits i ncreased by 20% to US$12.7 mi l lion for the 12 
months ending December 31, 2017, from US$10.5 mi l l ion for the same period in  2016. 
Freight and d uties increased by 136% to US$5.4 mi l l ion for the 12 months ending December 
31, 2017 from US$2.3 m il l ion for the same period in 2016. 
Utility expenses amounted to US$4.0 mi l l ion for the 12 months ending December 31, 2017, 
from US$3.5 mi l l ion for the same period in  2016, an i ncrease of 14% 

Depreciation and amortization increased by 37% to US$3.9 mi l lion for the 12 months ending 
December 31  2017{ from US$2.8 mi l l ion for the same period in 2016. 

The Company's gross marg in was 21% for the 12 months ending December 31} 2017, four percentage 
point higher than the gross margin recorded for the same period in 2016. 

Operating Expenses 

The Company's operating expenses for the 12 months ending December 31, 2017 amounted to US$12.2 
mil l ion, 181% h igher compared to the US$4.4 mi l lion recorded during the same period in 2016. 

Income Before Income Tax 

For the 12 months ending December 3 1, 2017{ the Company recorded a net income before income tax of 
US$3.4 mi l l ion, a decrease of 58% compared with US$8.2 mi l l ion recorded for the same period in 2016. 

Provision for / Benefit from Income Tax 

Benefit from income tax for the 12 months ending December 31, 2017 amounted to US$889 thousand 
compared with a provision for income tax of US$547 thousand for the same period in 2016. 

Net Income 

The Company's net income for the 12 months ending December 31, 2017 amounted to US$4.3 mi l l ionr a 
decrease of 44% compared with US$7.6 mi l l ion for the same period in 2016. 

Total Comprehensive Income 

The Company's total comprehensive income for the 12  months ending December 31, 2017 amounted to 
US$4.4 mi l lion, compared to US$7 . 1  m il l ion for the same period in  2015, a 37% decrease. 
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Financial Condition 

For the .12-month period ending December 3.1, 20.17 compared to the period ending 
December 3.1, 20.16 

Assets 

The Company's cash and cash equivalent for the 12 months ending December 31, 2017 amounted to 
US$37.2 mil l ion, compared with US$24.5 m il l ion for the period ending December 31, an  increase of 
US$12,7 mi l l ion or 52%. 
Trade and other receivables for the 12 months ending December 31, 2017 amounted to US$13 mi l l ion, 
compared with US$23.2 mi l l ion for the period ending December 31, 2016, a 44% decrease. 

Inventory levels for the 12 months ending December 31, 2017 amounted to US$39 mi l l ion, 155% h igher 
compared with US$15.3 mi l l ion for the period ending December 31, 2016, 
Amounts owed by related parties amounted to US$55 mil l ion compared to US$12.4 mil l ion in  the previous 
year. 

Non-current assets held for sale pertain to the Company's Carmelray property which is being actively 
marketed for sale, 

Non-current assets, comprised of Available-for-sale (AFS) financial asset, HTM investments, property, 
plant and equipment (PPE), intang ible assets, deferred income taxes and other noncurrent assets for the 
12 months ending December 31, 2017 amounted to US$128,9 mi l l ion compared with US$32,7 mi l lion for 
the period ending December 31,  20 16, an increase of 294%. 

Liabilities 

The Company's current l iabi l ities is comprised of trade and other payables, short-term loans, long-term 
debt - current portion, amounts owed to related parties, and income tax payable. For the 12 months 
ending December 31,  2017, current l iabi l ities were at US$109 mi l l ion compared with US$58.5 mi l l ion for 
the period ending December 31, 2016, a 86% increase, 

For the 12 months ending December 31, 2017, the Company's non-current l iabilities, comprised of long­
term debt - net of current portion, retirement benefit obl igation, and deferred income tax l iabi l ity 
amounted to US$38.3 mi l l ion, a 1% decrease. 

Equity 

The Company's shareholders' equity as of the 12 months ending December 31, 2017 amounted to 
US$139.6 mil l ion compared with US$25.2 mi l l ion for the period ending December 31,  2016, a 454% 
increase. 

liquidity and Capital Resources 

For the 12 months ending December 31, 2017, the Company's prinCipal sources of l iqu id ity was cash 
from sales of its products, bank  credit faci l ities, proceeds from its 5-year corporate notes issuances, and 
proceeds from its follow-on offering.  The Company expects to meet its working capital, capital 
expenditure, d ividend payment and investment requirements for the next 12 months primarily from the 
proceeds of the Company's fol low-on offering, proceeds of the Company's corporate notes issuances, 
short-term credit facilities and cash flows from operations. It may a lso from time to time seek other 

52 



sources of funding, which may include debt or equity financings, includ ing dollar and peso-denominated 
loans from Phi l ippine banks, depending on its financing needs and market conditions. 

For the next 12 months, the Company plans to i ncrease its production further by increasing volume 
deliveries to existing customers, entering into new production agreements, and expanding its customer 
base through new product i ntroduction and aggressive sales and marketing activities. 

The fol lowing table sets out the Company's cash flows for the 12 months ending December 31, 2017 and 
the same period 2016 :  

i 
For the 12 months 

In US$ Thousands ending December 3 1  
2017 201 6  

Net cash flows provided by/ (used for) operating activities 1 1,024 ( 1,582) 
Net cash flows provided by/ (used for) investing activities (87,720) 1 1,390 
Net cash flows provided by/ (used for) financing activities 89/433 ( 14,9 15) 

. Net inc@ase (df;�rease) in �Clsh equivalen� __ . 12,711  (5,26�L 

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Net cash flow provided by operating activities was US$11,024 mil l ion for the 12 months ending December 
31, 2017, compared with (US$1,582) mil lion for the same period in 2016.  

For the 12 months ending December 31, 2017, net income before tax was US$3.4 mi l l ion .  After 
adjustments for depreciation, interest income/expense, operating net unreal ized foreign exchange gains, 
income before change in working capital was US$10.9 mi l l ion .  Changes in working capital increased 
operating income to US$ l 1  mi l l ion. This was mainly due to decrease in trade and other receivables. 

Investing Activities 

Net cash outflow from investing activities amounted to US$87. 7 m il lion for the 12 months ending 
December 31, 2017.  Investing activities in  2017 mainly involved increase in  PPA and acqu isition of a new 
subsidiary, Quintel .  

Financing Activities 

Net cash i nflow from financing activities for the 12 months ending December 31, 2017 amounted to 
US$89.4 mi l l ion. Major financing activities involved proceeds from availment of short-term loans, 
proceeds from issuance of US dollar denominated preferred shares, sale by subsidiary of Parent Company 
shares less payment of cash dividends, payment of short-term and long-term loans, interest, acquisition 
by subsidiary of Parent Company Shares, stock issue cost, and net movement in amounts owed by and 
owed to related parties. For the same period in 2016 net cash outflow financing activities amounted to 
US$14.9 mi l l ion.  

Material Changes to the Company's Audited Income Statement as of December 3 1, 2017 
compared to the Audited Income Statement as of December 3 1, 2016 (increase/decrease of 
5°10 or more) 

• 19% i ncrease i n  net sales 
Sales g rowth for CATS and consolidation of Quintel 
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.. 14% increase i n  cost of sales 
Increase in net sales 

.. 181 % increase in operating expenses 
H igher operating expenses to support expansion of operations and consolidation of significant 
operating expenses of Quintel 

III 58% decrease in Income Before income Tax 
Consolidation of net loss of Quintel and other adjustments as a result of intercompany transactions 

• Benefit From I ncome Tax 
Reduction in income tax as a result of change in tax rates arising from the Tax Act, income tax 
holiday and non-taxable income 

.. 44% reduction in Net Income After Tax 
Consolidation of net loss of Quintet and other adjustment as a result of intercompany transaction 

Material Changes to the Company's Audited Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2017 
compared to the Audited Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2016 (increase/decrease of 5% 
or more) 

III 52% i ncrease in Cash and Cash Equivalent 
Increase in operating and financing cash flows. 

.. 44% decrease in Trade and Other Receivables - Net 
Shorter collection period 

II 155% increase in inventories 
Longer lead times for certain raw materials and h igh level of FG inventory in Qu intet 

• 294% increase in Non-current Assets 
Recognition of i ntangible assets arising from the acquisition of Quintel 

II 86% i ncrease in Current Liabi l ities 
Increase in trade and other payables and short-term loans; the short-term loans were util ized as 
bridge fund ing for the acqu isition of QUintel; of the short-term loans, US$40 mi l l ion  has been 
converted to long-term corporate notes. 

.. 454% i ncrease in Total Equity 
Issuance of Preferred Shares, sa le by subsidiary of Parent Company shares, increase in  retained 
earnings 
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

The Company's top five (5) key performance indicators are l isted below: 

Amounts in thousand 2015 2016 2017 
US$/ except ratios/ and 
where indicated 
EBITDA 8,767 11,862 10,697 
EBITDA Marg in 15% 16% 12% 
Sales Growth 15% 25% 19% 
Current Ratio (xl 3 . 1  x 1 .5x 1 .45x 
Earnings per share (US$) 0 .013 0.018 0 .009 

Note: 
**Earnings per Share was calculated using CHPC� average outstanding common shares for the years 
2015, 2016 and 2017 

• EBITDA and EBITDA Margin 

Earnings before interest! tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) provides an  indication of the 
rate of earnings growth achieved. 

The EBITDA margin shows earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization as a 
percentage of revenue. It is a measure of how efficiently revenue is converted i nto EBITDA. 

EBITDA and EBITDAR Margin are not measures of performance under PFRS, and investors should not 
consider EBITDA and EBITDA Marg in in  isolation or as a lternatives to net income as an  i nd icator of 
our Company's operating performance or to cash flow from operating, investing and financing 
activities as a measure of l iquidity, or any other measures of performance under PFRS. Because there 
are various EBITDA and EBITDA Margin calculation methods! the Company's presentation of these 
measures may not be comparable to Simi larly titled measures used by other companies. 
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The fol lowing table sets out the Compa ny's EBITDA after consolidation entries. 

For the years ended December 3 1  

In US$ OOO 2015 2016 2017 
Net income 5,121 7,608 4,296 
Add back: 

Interest expensejincome-
net 941 995 3,320 

Benefit from 
income tax 516 547 (889) 

Depreciation and 
amortization 2,190 2,712 3,970 

EBITDA 8,768 1 1,862 10,697 

The table sets forth a reconcil iation of the Company's consolidated EBITDA to consolidated net income. 

For the years ended December 3 1  

In US$ OOO 2015 2016 201 7  
EBITDA 8J68 11/862 10,697 
Deduct: 

Interest 
expensej ( income) (941) (995) (3320) 

Benefit from 
income tax (516) (547) 889 

Depreciation and 
amortization (2,1902 (2/7122 3,970 

Net Income 5,121 7,608 4,296 

• Sales growth 

Sales growth is a key indicator of the Company's abi l ity to grow the business 

• Current ratio 

Current ratio measures a company's short-term l iquid ity, i .e. its abi l ity to pay its debts that are due 
within the next 12 months. It is expressed as the ratio between current assets and current liabi lities. 

'" Earnings per share 

Earnings per share show the Company's attributable profit earned per share. At constant outstanding 
number of shares, as the Compa ny's earnings increase, the earnings per share correspondingly 
increase. 
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fINANCIAL RISK DISCLOSURE 

The Company is not aware of any known trends{ demands{ commitments{ events or uncertainties that 
wil l  have a materia l  impact on the Company's l iquidity. 

The Company is not aware of any event that wil l  trigger d irect or contingent financial obligation that is 
material to the Company, including defau lt or acceleration of any obl igation .  

The Company does not have a ny off-balance sheet transactions, a rrangements, obligations (including 
contingent obligations){ and other relationships with unconsolidated entities or other persons created 
during the reporting period. 

The Company has al located up to US$8 Mi l l ion for capital expenditure for ful l  year 2017, from the 
proceeds of the Company's In itial Publ ic Offering, Follow-one Offering, Corporate Notes Issuances and 
cash flows from operations. It may also from time to time seek other sources of funding, which may 
include debt or equity financings, including dollar and peso-denominated loans from Phil ippine banks, 
depending on its financing needs and market conditions. 

The Company is not aware of any trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably 
expected to have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales/revenues/income from 
continuing operations. 

The Company does not have any significant elements of income or loss that d id not arise from its 
continuing operations. 

The Company does not have any seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial conditions 
or results of operations. 
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ITEM 7 fINANCIAL STATEME NTS 

Please see attached Audited Financial Statements ending 31 December 2017. 

ITEM 8 

None, 

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING 
AND fINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 
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PART III - CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 

ITEM 9 DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFfICERS O F  THE ISSUER 

The fol lowing is a brief profi le of the Corporation's Directors and Officers for the year 2017-2018 as wel l  
a s  the nominees for the year 2018-2019. 

Regular and Independent D irectors. 

Jerry Liu, 70 years old was elected as the Corporation's Chairman and President on 25 May 2012. He is 
currently the Chairman of the Corporation . He is a lso concurrently President/CEO of CEC, Director of 
Cirtek Land and Cayon Holdings, Inc. and Chairman of Si l icon Link, Inc., Mr. Liu holds a Bachelor of 
Science degree in Physics from Chung Yuan University of Taiwan and an MBA from the University of the 
East. 

Roberto Juanchito T. Dispol 53 years old was elected Vice Chairman and Director of the Corporation on 4 
January 2016 and a lso as President of the Corporation on 27 May 2016. Mr. Dispo is a lso Vice Chairman 
of Cosco Capital, and sits on the Board of PB Com Bank and Axa Phi l ippines. Prior to join ing the 
Corporation, Mr. Dispo was President and Director of First Metro Investment Corporation. Mr. Dispo holds 
BSC Economics and Business Management from San Sebastian  College and Pamantasan ng Lungsod ng 
Maynila, respectively. He a lso completed Masters in  Business Administration and Masters in  Business 
Economics from Pamantasan ng Lungsod ng Maynila and the U niversity of Asia & the Pacific, respectively. 

Anthony Buyawe, 50 years old was elected as the Corporation's Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer on 
17 February 201 1 .  He is concurrently the CFO of CEC, CEIC a nd the Figaro Coffee Corporation. Prior to 
joining the Corporation, M r. Buyawe was CFO of ITP Technologies (2003 - 2005) and SMEDC (2008-
2009) and Senior Director of Ernst and Young (2005-2008). Mr. Buyawe obtained h is BA degree from the 
University of the Phi l ippines a nd h is MBA from the Asian Institute of Management. 

Ernest Fritz Server, 74 years old, was elected as an Independent Director of the Corporation on 17 
February 2011  and shal l  serve as such for one year or unti l h is successor is elected and qua l ified. Mr .  
Server serves as the President of Mu ltimedia Telephony Inc. ,  Vice Chairman of RFM Corporation, 
Chairman of Arrakis Holdings, Inc., President of Seacage Industries, Inc., President of West Properties, 
Inc., President of Superior Las Pinas, Inc., a d irector of ABS CBN Convergence, Inc. and a d irector of BJS 
Development Corp. Previously, Mr. Server served as Vice Chairman of the Commercial Bank of Mani la, 
Consumer Bank and Cosmos Bottl ing Corporation, President of Phi l ippine Home Cable Holdings, Inc. and 
Philam Fund, and a d irector of Phi l ippine Township, Inc . .  Mr. Server g raduated from the Ateneo de Mani la 
University in 1963 with degree in  Bachelor of Arts degree in  Economics and holds an  MBA Major in  
Banking and Finance from the U niversity of Pennsylvan ia ,  Wharton Graduate School .  

Michael Stephen T. L iu ,  33 years old, is  currently the General Manager of Cirtek Advanced Technology 
and Solutions (CATSI) a Cirtek company catering to the telecom and wireless broadband space. He was 
first elected as Director on 11 May 2015. Mr. Liu obta ined his degree in  E lectronics and Communications 
Engineering from De La Sal le University in 2007 and is a l icensed Electrica l Engineer. 

Brian Gregory T. Liu, 31 years old, has been the Assistant Corporate Secretary of the Corporation since 
March 2011. He was first elected as Director on 11 May 2015 .  He is concurrently a stockholder in Cirtek 
Electronics Corporation,  Cirtek Land Corporation, and Turborg Trading. Mr. Liu trained as an  Operations 
Trainee in Dominos Pizza from 2001 to 2002, then as an Analyst in Evergreen Stockbrokerage & 
Securities Inc. from 2003 to 2005. He obtained his degree in Management in Financial Institutions from 
De La Salle University i n  2009. 
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Justin T. Liu, 36 years old, is President and Director of Figaro Coffee Systems, Inc. Mr .  Liu g raduated 
from the De La Sal le U niversity with a Bachelor of Science in Business Management and earned h is 
Masters in Finance from the University of San Francisco in 2006. 

Eduardo Lizares, 61 years old, is currently Partner at Padi l la Law Office ancl Professorial Lecturer on 
Constitutional Law at the U niversity of the Phi l ippines. Atty. Lizares holds a Bachelor of Arts degree for 
De La Sal le University, Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of the Phi l ippines, and a Master of 
Laws degree from Harvard Law School, Harvard University. 

Hector Vil lanueva, 82 years old, has held senior positions in both private and public sectors. He was 
Chairman of the Board of First Metro Phi l ippine Equ ity Exchange Traded Fund, Inc., Chairman, 
Postmaster General & CEO of Phi l ippine Posta l Corporation, Member of the AdviSOry Board, First Metro 
Investment Corporation, and Publ isher and Editor-in-Chief, Sun Star Manila. Mr. Vi l lanueva was also 
Cabinet Secretary from 1995-1998. Mr. Vi l lanueva obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Economics 
from the London School of Economics and Political Science, and post-graduate stud ies from Royal 
Institute of Bankers, Un ited Kingdom. 

Independent Directors 

The nominees for Independent D irectors of the Corporation for the year 2018-2019 are :  

1 .  Ernest Fritz Server, 
2. Eduardo Lizares, and 
3. Hector Vil lanueva 

They have been nominated by Jerry Liu, one of the current d irectors of the Corporation .  Ernest Fritz 
Server has been an Independent Director of the Corporation since 17 February 201 1  whi le Eduardo 
Lizares and Hector Vi l lanueva have been Independent Directors of the Corporation since 26 May 2017. In 
accordance with the Securities and Exchange Memorandum Circular No. 19, Series of 2016, Ernest Fritz 
Server may serve as Independent Director until 2021 while either Hector Vil lanueva or Eduardo Lizares 
may serve as Independent Director of the Corporation until 2026. 

Key Officers 

Tadeo Hi lado, 65 years old, Fi l ipino, was elected as the Corporation's Corporate Secretary on 17 February 
2011 . Atty. Tadeo is an of counsel at the Angara Abello Concepcion Regala &. Cruz law offices. He a lso 
serves as d irector and corporate secretary of several companies inciudin�1 Cocoa Specialties, Inc., 
Univation Motor Phi l ippines, Inc., N issan Autoparts Manufacturing Corporation, Sumisetsu Phi l ippines, 
Inc., and Samsonite Phi l ippines, Inc., among others. Atty. Tadeo holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from 
the De La Salle University, Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of the Philippines and a Master of 
Laws degree from the University of M ichigan .  
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ITEM 10 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

As a newly incorporated holding company, the Compa ny has not paid or accrued any compensation prior 
to 2011 .  The aggregate compensation during the last fiscal year and to be paid in the ensu ing fiscal year 
to the company's 4 most h igh ly compensated officers and to its officers and d irectors as a Cirtek Group 
unnamed is as fol lows: 

Name &. Position Year Salary Estimated Bonus 
Jerry Liu (Chairman) 2017 P42.0 mi l l ion -

Roberto Juanchito Dispo 
(Vice Chairman & President) 
Anthony Buyawe (CFO) 
Rolando Enriquez (COO 
CATS) 

I Jorge Agui lar (President CEC) 
Aggregate compensation paid 2017 P48 mi l l ion = 1  

I to a l l  officers and d irectors as i I 
a Cirtek Group unnamed 

I I 

Name &. Position Year Estimated Salary Estimated Bonus i 
Jerry Liu (Chairman) 2018 P44 mi l l ion -

I Roberto Juanchito Dispo I (Vice Chairman & President) 
Anthony Buyawe (CFO) 
Rolando Enriquez (Vice 
President CATS) 
Jorge Agui lar (President CEC) 

Aggregate compensation paid 2018 PSO mil l ion . 1  
to a l l  officers and d irectors as 
a Cirtek Group u nnamed 

Compensation of Directors 

Under the By-Laws of the Company, by resolution of the Board, each d irector, shall receive a reasonable 
per diem a l lowance for h is attendance at each meeting of the Board. As compensation, the Board shall 
receive and al locate an amount of not more than ten percent ( 10%) of the net income before income tax 
of the corporation during the preceding year. Such compensation shal l be determined and apportioned 
among directors in such manner as the Board may deem proper, subject to the approval of stockholders 
representing at least majority of the outstanding capital stock at a regu lar  or special meeting of the 
stockholders. 

Standard Arrangements and Other Arrangements 

There are no other a rrangements for compensation either by way of payments for committee 
participation or special assignments. 
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There a re no other arrangements for compensation either by way of payments for committee 
participation or special assignments other than reasona ble per d iem. There are a lso no outstand ing 
warrants or options held by the Company's Chief Executive Officer, other officers and/or d i rectors. 

Employment Contracts, Termination of Employment, Change-in-Control Arrangements 

The Cirtek Group has executed employment contract with some of its key officers. Such contracts 
provide the customary provision on job description, benefits, confidential ity, non-compete, and non­
soliCitation clauses. There are no special retirement plans for executives. There is a lso no existing 
arrangement for compensation to be received by any executive officer from the Company in the event of 
change in control of the Company. 

Warrants and Options 

There are no outstanding warrants and options held by any of the Company's d irectors and executive 
officers . 

ITEM 1 1  SECURITY OWNE RSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND 
MANAGEME NT 

Owners of record of more than 5% of the corporationis voting securities as of 31 March 2018: 

Title of Name, Name of Citizenship Number of Shares 0/0 of Class 
Class Address of Beneficial Held 

Record Owner and 
Owner, and Relationship 
Relationship with Record 
with Issuer Owner 

Common Camerton, Camerton, Fil ipino 
Inc. Inc. 208,888,558 49.85 

Common PCD Nominee PCD Nominee Fi l ipino 
Corporation Corporation 197 044,444 47.02 

Common Total 405,933 002 96.87% 

Under PCD account, the fol lowing participants hold shares representing more than 5% of the company's 
outstanding shares: 

Participant N umber of Shares Percentage 
Gui ld Securities 59 732 969 14.25% 
Citibank  N .A. 44,480 630 10.61% 
Government Service Insura nce 23,338,020 5 .57% 

, $ystem 

Except as stated a bove, the corporation has no knowledge of any person or any Cirtek Group who, 
directly or indirectly, is the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the corporation's outsta nding shares or 
who has a voting power, voting trust, or any similar agreement with respect to shares comprising more 
than 5% of the corporation's outstanding common stock. 

62 



The number of common shares beneficial ly owned by d irectors and executive officers as of 31 March 
2018 are as fol lows: 

Stockholder Name 
Eduardo Lizares 
Robert Juanchito T. Dispo 
Anthony S. Buyawe 
Brian Gregory Liu 
Jerry Liu 
Justin T. Liu 
Michael Stephen Liu 
Hector Vi l lanueva 
Ernest Fritz Server 
Total 

Voting Trust Holder of 5% or More 

I 

N umber of Common Percentage of 
Shares Held Shareholding I 

1,001 o · 
1 0 
1 O_  
1 0 
1 0 1  
1 0 1 
1 0 1 
1 o !  
1 0 1 

1,009 0 1 

The corporation is not aware of any person holding more than 5% of the common shares of the 
corporation under a voting trust or similar agreement as there has been no voting trust agreement which 
has been filed with the corporation and the Securities and Exchange Commission . 

Description of any arrangement which may result in a change in control of the corporation 

No change in control of the corporation has occurred since the beginning of the last fiscal year. 

Item 12 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

The Liu family, primarily through Camerton, Inc., is the largest shareholder in  the Corporation, and as of 
March 31 2018 owns 208,888,558 shares, or approximately 49.85% of the Corporation's issued and 
outstanding common shares. 

Related party relationship exists when the party has the abi l ity to control, d irectly or indirectly through 
one or more intermediaries, or exercise sign ificant infl uence over the other party in making financial and 
operating decisions. Such relationships a lso exist between and/or among entities which are under 
common control with the reporting entity and its key management personnel, d irectors or stockholders. 
In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is d irected to the substance of the 
relationships. 

In the normal course of business, the Group has entered into transactions with affiliates. The significant 
transactions consist of the following : 

a.  Advances for operating requ irements of CHI, former parent of CEC and CEIC; 
b. Rental of land and lease deposit with Cirtek Land Corporation (CLC), an affi l iate, where the 

manufacturing building 1 a nd administrative building is Situated; 
c. Payments and lor reimbursements of expenses made or in behalf of the affil iates; a nd 
d .  Rental of land with Cayon Holdings, Inc. (Cayon), an affil iate, where the bui ld ing 2 of  the Group 

is Situated; 
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e. Collections made by Camerton in  behalf of the Group; 
f. Advances to officers a nd stockholders. 

The consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of comprehensive income include the 
fol lowing significant account balances resulting from the a bove transactions with related parties: 

a .  Amounts owed to related parties 

Transactions 
2017 

Other related parties 

Balances as of 
2016 2017 2016 Terms Conditions 

CLC Rental $12,078 $12,776 $459,048 $446,970 Due on Unsecured 

Cayon Rental 10,973 

b. Amounts owed by related parties 

Transactions 
2017 

Other related parties 

demand; 
non-interest 
bearing 

11 ,690 84,155 73)82 Due on Unsecured 
demand; 
non-interest 
bearing 

$543,203 $520,152 

Balances as of 
2016 2017 2016 Terms Conditions 

Camerton Collections $4,477,1 $78,833 $4,589,1 $111,994 Due on U nsecured; 

CHI 

Cayon 

on behalf 74 
of the 
Group 
Advances 
for working 
capital 

Reimburse 
ment of 
expenses 

7,943 

68 demand; no 
non-interest impairment 
bearing 

- 1,809,25 1,809,256 Due on Unsecured; 
6 demand; no 

non-interest impairment 

- 214,227 206,284 
bearing 
Due on Unsecured; 
demand; no 
non-interest impairment 
bearing 

Stockholde Advances 37,980,1 1,750,990 48,289,2 10,309,041 Due on Unsecured; 
rs 90 3 1  demand; no 

non-interest impairment 
bearing 

c. Rental deposit 

Transactions 
2017 

Other related parties 
CLC $- $-

$54,901, $12,436,57 
882 5 

Balances as of 
2016 2017 2016 Terms 

$1,203,0 $1, 131,39 Due 

Conditions 

on Unsecured; 
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04 9 demand; no 
non-interest impairment 
bearing 

The a bove related parties, except the stockholders, are entities under common control of the ultimate 
parent company. 

Transactions with CHI; Charm view Enterprises Ltd (CEl) 
The amount owed by an  officer amounting to $7.7 mi l lion as of December 31 ,  2010 was transferred 
in 201 1  to CEl, the former u ltimate parent of CEC and CEIC. CEl now owns 40% interest in 
Camerton, the parent of CHPC. 

The amounts owed by and to CHI as of December 31, 2010 represent advances for working capital in 
the normal course of business when CEC and CEIC were then stil l  subsidiaries of CHI. 

For purposes of settl ing outstanding balances with the Group and as part of corporate restructuring 
in preparation for the planned In itial Publ ic Offering CIPO) of the Parent Company, on March 17, 
2011, CHI, CEl and the officer, with the consent of the Group, entered into assignment agreements 
whereby CHI absorbed the amounts owed by CEl and by the officer as of March 17, 201 1  amounting 
to $7.7 mi l l ion and $0.8 mi l l ion, respectively. 

The Group, with the consent of the related parties, entered into assignment agreements whereby the 
Parent Company absorbed the a mount owed by CEIC to CHI total ing $3 .6 mil l ion representing unpaid 
advances of $2.3 mi l l ion and d ividends of $ 1 .3 mi l l ion as of March 17, 2011  (see Note 28). 

Thereafter, on March 18, 2011,  the Parent Company and CHI, in view of being creditors and debtors 
to each other as a result of the assignment agreements above, entered into a set-off agreement for 
the value of the Group's l iabi l ity aggregating $6.8 mi l l ion.  The amount represents the above 
mentioned total l iabi l ity of $3.6 mi l l ion and the balance outstanding from the Parent Company's 
purchase of CEC and CEIC amounting to $3.2 mi l l ion, as revalued from the effect of foreign exchange 
rate. 

The amount owed by CHI as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 pertains to the outstanding receivable 
arising from the assignments and set-off agreements as discussed a bove. 

Transactions with CLC and Cayon 
ClC is a n  entity under common control of the ultimate parent company. CEC had a lease agreement 
on the land where its manufacturing plant (Bui lding 1) is located with ClC for a period of 50 years 
starting January 1, 1999. The lease was renewable for another 25 years at the option of CEC. The 
lease agreement provided for a n  annual  rental of $151,682, subject to periodic adjustments upon 
mutual agreement of both parties. 

On January 1, 2005, CEC terminated the lease agreement with ClC but has continued to occupy the 
said land for no consideration with ClC's consent. With the termination of the lease agreement, the 
Group has classified the rental deposit amounting tofit60.1 mil l ion($1 .2 mi l l ion and $1 . 1  mi l l ion as of 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively) as current asset as the deposit has become due and 
demandable a nytime from ClC (see Note 10). 

On January 1, 2011, CEC entered into an agreement with ClC to lease the land where CEC's Building 
1 is located. The agreement cal ls for a fit640,704 rent per annum for a period of 10 years and 
renewable thereafter by mutual  agreement of the parties subject to such new terms and conditions 
as they may then be mutua l ly agreed-upon . Total rent expense charged to operations amounted to 
$12,713, $12J77 and $13,515 i n  2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
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CEC also entered into an  agreement with Cayon starting January 1 ,  2011 to lease the land where 
CEC's Building 2 is located. The agreement cal ls for an annual rental of �582/ 144 for a period of 10 
years and renewable thereafter by m utual agreement of the parties subject to such new terms and 
conditions as they may then be mutually agreed upon. Total rent expense charged to operations 
amounted to $ 11,551,  $1 1,690 and $ 12,025 in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

Future minimum rental payables under these operating leases are as fol lows: 

Within one year 
After one year but not more than five years 

2017 
$24,491 
48,983 
$73,474 

PART IV - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

ITEM 13 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

2016 
$24,595 
73,784 
$98,379 

The Corporation is committed to the ideals of good corporate governance .  In compliance with the SEC 
requirement, The Corporation is studying best practices in good corporate governance to further improve 
the current corporate governance practices of the Corporation and to develop an efficient and effective 
evaluation system to measure or determine the level of compliance of the Board of Directors and top 
level management with its Manual of Corporate Governance. 

Corporate governance rules/principles were establ ished to ensure that the interest of stakeholders a re 
a lways taken into account; that d irectors, officers and employees are conducting business in a safe and 
sound manner; and that transactions entered into between the Corporation and related interests are 
conducted at a rm's length basis a nd in the regular course of business. There are no incidences of 
deviation from the Corporation's Manual of Corporate Governance. 

The Corporation has sufficient number of i ndependent directors that g ives the assurance of independent 
views and perspective. 

ITEM 14 

Schedule 
I 

II 

III 
IV 

PART V - EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 

EXHIBITS 

Contents 
Map Showing the Relationships Between and Among the Companies in the 
Group, its U ltimate Parent Company and Co-subsidiaries 
Schedule of All Effective Standards and Interpretations U nder Phi l ippine Financial 
Reporting Standards 
Reconcil iation of Retai ned Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration 
Financial Soundness Indicators 

Supplementary Schedules 
A Financia l  Assets 
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B 

C 

D 

E 

F 

G 

H 

Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related 
Parties, and Principa l Stockholders (Other than Related parties) 

Amounts Receivable from Related Parties and Amounts Payable to Related Parties 
which a re El iminated d uring the Consolidation of Financial Statements 

Intangible Assets - Other Assets 

Long-Term Debt 

Indebtedness to Related Parties 

Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers 

Capital Stock 

(b) Reports on SEC Form 17-C 

The following d isclosures were filed d uring the period June to December 2017: 
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ITEM 1 5  

Schedule 
I 

II 

III 
IV 

EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 

Contents 
Map Showing the Relationships Between and Among the Companies in the 
Group, its Ultimate Parent Company and Co-subsidiaries 
Schedule of Al l  Effective Standards and Interpretations Under Phi lippine Financial 
Reporting Standards 
Reconcil iation of Retained Earnings Ava ilable for Dividend Declaration 
Financial Soundness Indicators 

Supplementary Schedules 
A Financial Assets 

B 

C 

D 

E 

F 

G 

H 

Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related 
Partiesr and Principal Stockholders (Other tha n  Related parties) 

Amounts Receivable from Related Parties and Amounts Payable to Related Parties 
which a re El iminated during the Consolidation of Financial Statements 

Inta ngible Assets - Other Assets 

Long-Term Debt 

Indebtedness to Related Parties 

Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers 

Capital Stock 

(b) Reports on SEC Form 11-C 

The fol lowing disclosures were filed during the period June to December 2017: 

5 June 2017 

7 June 2017 

28 July 2017 

31 July 2017 

31 July 2017 

1 August 
2017 

8 September 
2017 

Cirtek Electron ics Corporation, a whol ly-owned subsidiary of Cirtek Holdings 
Phi l ippines Corporation, divested part of its holdings in TECH shares. 
Cirtek Electron ics Corporation, a whol ly-owned subsidiary of Cirtek Holdings 
Phi l ippines Corporation, d ivested part of its holdings in  TECH shares. 
At the Special Meeting of the Board of D irectors of TECH held on 28 July 2017, the 
Board approved the acqu isition of QUintel Cayman Ltd. and its subsidiaries 
("Quintel'

,
) through Cirtek Electronics International Corporation and its direct and 

indirect subsidiaries. 
Press Release of Cirtek acquisition of 100% of QUintel, a leading provider of 
advanced h igh-efficiency, high-performance a ntenna solutions. 
CHPC, through its subsidiaries, will acquire 100% of Quintel, a leading provider of 
advanced high-efficiency, h igh-performance antenna solutions. 
Confirmation/clarification to the news article entitled "Cirtek targets $ 120-mi l l ion for 
this year" which appeared in Business World Onl ine on August 1, 2017, and to the 
news a rticle "Cirtek sees h igher sales after QUintel acquisition" posted in The Mani la 
Times on August 1, 2017 
Pursuant to the delegated powers of the Board, the Board in a Special Board 
Meeting held on 8 September 2017, unanimously approved the resolutions to 
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12 
September 

2017 
12 

September 
2017 

18 
September 

2017 

18 
September 

2017 

18 
September 

2017 

22 
September 

2017 

2 October 
2017 

19 October 
2017 

19 October 
2017 

24 October 
2017 

implement the increase in the authorized capital stock of the Corporation. 
Amendments to TECH's Articles of Incorporation, Article VII, increase is authorized 
capital stock 

The Board of D irectors of the Corporation approved the creation of 270,000,000 
Preferred B Shares with a par value of One Peso (PhP1 .00) per share for a possible 
capital raising exercise that will be conducted by the Company 
The Board of Directors of Cirtek Holdings Phi l ippines Corporation (the 
"Corporation'') in its special meeting held today 15 September 2017, approved the 
fol lowing resolutions : 

1 .  Declaration of Cash Dividends 
2. Approval of the Enabl ing Resolutions on the Features of the Preferred B Shares 
3. Fol low On Offering of Preferred B-2 Shares of the Corporation 
4. Authorization of the Disclosures in the Registration Statement 
5. Authorization to Inspect Bank Accounts 
The Board of Directors of Cirtek Holdings Phi l ippines Corporation (the 
"Corporation") in its special meeting held today 15 September 2017, approved the 
declaration of cash d ividends of US Dollars 0.004629 (US$ 0 .004629) per share for 
each of the Four  Hundred N ineteen M il l ion Sixty-Three Thousand Three Hundred 
Fifty Three (419,063,353) ful ly paid and issued common shares, amounting to an  
aggregate sum of US Dollars One M il l ion  Nine H undred Forty Thousand 
(US$1,940,OOO.00), for payment and d istribution on 6 October 2017 to shareholders 
of record as of 29 September 2017. The cash d ividend shall be paid in Phi l ippine 
Pesos at the BSP exchange rate one day prior to payment date. 
Additional information regarding the disclosures made on September 1 1, 2017, 
particu larly on the increase in authorized capital stock of Cirtek Holdings Phi l ippines 
Corporation ("Corporation") and the creation of Preferred B Shares 
Creation of Preferred B-1 and B-2 Shares 

The Directors of the Corporation, pursuant to the authority delegated by the 
Stockholders during the Annual Stockholders' Meeting held on 26 May 2017, 
approved in a Special Meeting of the Board of Directors held on 15 September 
2017, the designation of the 270,000,000 Preferred B Shares of the Corporation 
into two (2) series, namely 70,000,000 Preferred B-1 Shares and 200,000,000 
Preferred B-2 Shares. 
Amendments to TECH's Articles of Incorporation, Article VI I ,  increase is authorized 
capital stock 

Clarification of News Article publ ished by Inquirer. net on 19 October 2017 re Cirtek 
readies un it for US Listing. 
Cirtek Electron ics Corporation, a whol ly-owned subsidiary of Cirtek Holdings 
Phi l ippines Corporation, divested part of its holdings in TECH shares 
On 23 October 2017, the Board of Directors of the Corporation approved the offer 
and issuance of up to 200,000,000 non-voting, cumulative, non-participating, non­
convertible Preferred B-2 Shares with a par value of Php1 .00 per share, at an offer 
price of US$1 .00 (the "Offer") under the terms and conditions attached to the 
enabling resolutions for the Offer (the "Terms of the Offer'') 

On the same meeting, the Board of Directors of the Corporation also approved the 
terms and conditions contained in the enabling resolutions for the 70,000,000 non­
voting, cumulative, non-participating, non-convertible Preferred B-1 Shares with a 
par value of Php1 .00 per share. 
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27 October 
2017 

6 November 
2017 

The enabling resol utions that have been approved by the Board of Directors amend 
and supersede accordingly all other previous resolutions, or any part thereof, 
i nconsistent with the said enabling resolutions. 
Clarification of News Article published on Daily Tribune on 27 October 2017 re 
Cirtek to al lot 15-M capex for expansion .  

Clarification of News Article published on Philippine Star o n  6 November 201 7  re Cirtek 
gets SEC approval to issue $ preferred shares. 

The Directors of the Corporation, pursuant to the authority delegated by the 
Stockholders during the Annual Stockholders' Meeting held on 26 May 2017, 
approved in  a Special Meeting of the Board of D irectors held on 15 September 
2017, the deSignation of the 270,000,000 Preferred B Shares of the Corporation 
i nto two (2) series, namely 70,000,000 Preferred B-1 Shares and 200,000,000 
Preferred B-2 Shares. 

The SEC approved, on 29 September 2017, the Corporation's appl ication for 

13 N b 
increase in authorized capital stock and amendment to Article VII of its amended 

ovem er 
rt' I f ' t' 

2017 
a IC es 0 Incorpora Ion. 

13 November 
2017 

6 December 
2017 

8 December 
2017 

29 December 
2017 

The SEC En Banc, during its meeting held on 3 November 2017, approved the 
publ ic offering of up to US$200,000,000 preferred B-2 shares of CHPC. 

The PSE BOD, in  its meeting held on 8 November 2017, approved the publ ic 
offering of up  to US$200,OOO,OOO preferred B-2 shares of CHPC. 

On 10 November, CHPC set the dividend rate at a fixed dividend rate of 6 . 125% per 
annum . 
CHPC wi l l  conduct an Investor's Briefing in relation to its USD Preferred Shares 
Offering 
Notice of Completion of the Follow-on Offering of Cirtek Holdings Phi l ippines 
Corporation . The fol low-on public offering of Sixty Mi l l ion (60,000,000) Preferred B-
2 shares at an offer price of One Dollar (US$1 .00) per share, with an 
oversubscription option of up to an additional Eighty M il l ion (80,000,000) Preferred 
B-2 shares, of Cirtek Holdings Phi l ippines Corporation was completed on 29 
November 2017. The total number of shares subscribed during the offer period is 
67,000,000 Preferred B-2 shares. 
Press Release re Cirtek Raises US$67 Mn from Preferred Shares Issue 

The Board of Directors of TECH has approved and authorized the acquisition of 
approximately 49% of the total issued and outstanding capital stock of Mu ltipay 
Corporation .  The Board has delegated to Management the authority and power to 
negotiate with the Seller and to enter into definitive agreements 
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I Map Showing the Relationships Between and Among the Companies in the Group, its U ltimate 
Parent Company and Co-su bsidiaries as of December 31 , 2017 
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II Schedu le of Al l  Effective Standards and Interpretations Under Phi l ippine Financial Reporting 
Standards 

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 
Statements 
Conceptual Framework Phase A: Objectives and qualitative 
characteristics 

PFRS Practice Statement Management Commentary 

Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 

PFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting 
(Revised) Standards 

3 

3 

3 
r---------------------------------------+---------r-------�--------� 

PFRS 2 

PFRS 3 
(Revised) 

PFRS 4 

Amendments to PFRS 1 and PAS 27: Cost of an 
Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or 
Associate 

Amendments to PFRS 1 :  Additional Exemptions for 
First-time Adopters 

Amendment to PFRS 1: Limited Exemption from 
Comparative PFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time 
Adopters 

Amendments to PFRS 1 :  Severe Hyperinflation and 
Removal of Fixed Date for First-time Adopters 

Amendments to PFRS 1: Government Loans 

Amendment to PFRS 1: Meaning of Effective PFRSs 

Share-based Payment 

Amendments to PFRS 2 :  Vesting Conditions and 
Cancellations 

Amendments to PFRS 2: Group Cash-settled 
Share-based Payment Transactions 

Amendment to PFRS 2: Definition of Vesting Condition 

Amendments to PFRS 2 :  Classification and 
Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions* 

Business Combinations 

Amendment to PFRS 3 :  Accounting for Contingent 
Consideration in a Business Combination 

Amendment to PFRS 3 :  Scope Exceptions for Joint 
Arrangements 

Insurance Contracts 

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 4 :  Financial 
Guarantee Contracts 

Amendments to PFRS 4 :  Applying PFRS 9 with PFRS 
4 *  

*These standards, interpretations and amendments t o  existing standards 

3 

December 31, 201 7. The Group did not early adopt these standards, interpretations and amendments. 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

subsequent to 
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PFRS 5 I Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 3 Operations 

Amendment to PFRS 5 :  Changes in Methods ofDisposaJ 3 

PFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources 3 

PFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 3 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Transition 3 

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of I Financial Assets 
3 

Amendments to PAS 3 9  and PFRS 7: Reclassification of I Financial Assets - Effective Date and Transition 3 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Improving Disclosures about 3 
Financial Instruments 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Transfers of 3 
Financial Assets 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Offsetting 3 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Mandatory Effective Date of 
3 

PFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures 

Amendment to PFRS 7: Servicing Contracts 3 

Amendment to PFRS 7: Applicability of the 
Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim Financial 3 
Statements 

PFRS 8 I Operating Segments 3 

Amendments to PFRS 8: Aggregation of Operating 
Segments and Reconciliation of the Total of the 3 
Reportable Segments' Assets to the Entity's Assets 

PFRS 9 I Financial Instruments* 3 

Amendments to PFRS 9: Mandatory Effective Date of 3 
PFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures* 

Amendments to PFRS 9: Prepayment Features with 3 Negative Compensation* 

PFRS IO I Consolidated Financial Statements 3 

Amendments to PFRS 1 0, PFRS 1 2  and PAS 28, 
Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation 3 
Exception 

Amendments to PFRS 1 0: Sale or Contribution of Assets I between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*  3 

PFRS U I Joint Arrangements 3 

Amendments to PFRS 1 1 :  Accounting for Acquisitions 
3 of Interests in Joint Operations 

interpretations and amendments to existing standards will become effective subsequent to 

December 31, 201 7. The Group did not early adopt these standards, interpretations and amendments. 
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PFRS 1 2  

PFRS 1 3  

PFRS 1 4  

PFRS 1 5  

PFRS 1 6  

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

Amendments to PFRS 1 2 :  Investment Entities: Applying 
the Consolidation Exception 

Amendment to PFRS 12,  Clarification of the Scope of the 
Standard 

Fair Value Measurement 

Amendment to PFRS 1 3 :  Short-term Receivables and 
PayabJes 

Amendment to PFRS 1 3 :  Portfolio Exception 

Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers * 

Leases* 

Philippine Accounting Standards 

PAS 1 
(Revised) 

PAS 2 

PAS 7 

PAS 8 

PAS I G  

PAS 1 1  

PAS 1 2  

PAS 1 6  

Presentation of Financial Statements 

Amendment to PAS I :  Capital Disclosures 

Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1 :  Puttable Financial 
Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation 

Amendments to PAS 1 :  Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income 

Amendments to PAS 1 :  Disclosure Initiative 

Inventories 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Amendments to PAS 7: Disclosure Initiative 

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors 

Events after the Reporting Period 

Construction Contracts 

Income Taxes 

Amendment to PAS 1 2  - Deferred Tax: Recovery of 
Underlying Assets 

Amendments to PAS 1 2 :  Recognition of Deferred Tax 
Assets for Unrealized Losses 

Property, P lant and Equipment 

Amendment to PAS 1 6: Revaluation Method -
Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated Depreciation 

Amendments to PAS 1 6 :  Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and Amortization 

Amendments to PAS 1 6 :  Bearer Plants 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

* These standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards will become effective subsequent to 

December 31, 201 7. The Group did not early adopt these standards, interpretations and amendments. 
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PAS 1 7  Leases 3 

PAS 1 8  Revenue 3 

PAS 1 9  Employee Benefits 3 
(Amended) 

Amendments to PAS 1 9 : Defmed Benefit Plans: 
Employee Contribution 

3 

Amendments to PAS 1 9: Regional market issue regarding I discount rate 
3 

PAS 20 I Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 
3 Government Assistance 

PAS 21 I The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 3 

Amendment to PAS 2 1 :  Net Investment in a Foreign 
3 Operation 

PAS 23 Borrowing Costs 
3 

(Revised) 

PAS 24 Related Party Disclosures 3 
(Revised) 

Amendments to PAS 24: Key Management Personnel 3 

PAS 26 I Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans I I 3 

PAS 27 I Separate Financial Statements I I 3 
(Amended) 

Amendments to PAS 27 : EqUIty Method ill Separate 
3 

Financial Statements 

PAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 3 
(Amended) 

Amendments to PAS 28 :  Investment Entities 3 

Amendments to PAS 28 :  Sale or Contribution of Assets 
3 between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture* 

Amendments to PAS 28,  Measuring an Associate or Joint I Venture at Fair Value* 3 

Amendments to PAS 28:  Long-term Interests in 
3 Associates and Joint Ventures* 

PAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 3 

PAS 32 Financial Instrmnents : Disclosure and Presentation 3 

Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1 :  Puttable Financial 
3 Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation 

Amendment to PAS 32:  Classification of Rights Issues 3 

Amendments to PAS 32:  Offsetting Financial Assets and 
3 Financial Liabilities 

PAS 33 I Earnings per Share 3 

PAS 34 I Interim Financial Reporting 3 

Amendment to PAS 34: Disclosure of information 
' elsewhere in the interim financial report' 3 
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PAS 36 

PAS 37 

PAS 38 

PAS 39 

PAS 40 

PAS 41 

Impairment of Assets 

Amendments to PAS 36 :  Recoverable Amount 
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

Intangible Assets 

Amendments to PAS 3 8 :  Revaluation Method ­
Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated Amortization 

Amendments to PAS 3 8 :  Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and Amortization 

Financial Instruments : Recognition and Measurement 

Amendments to PAS 39 :  Transition and Initial 
Recognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

Amendments to PAS 3 9 :  Cash Flow Hedge Accounting 
of Forecast Intragroup Transactions 

Amendments to PAS 39 :  The Fair Value Option 

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 4: Financial 
Guarantee Contracts 

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7 :  Reclassification of 
Financial Assets 

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of 
Financial Assets - Effective Date and Transition 

Amendments to Philippine Interpretation IFRlC-9 and 
PAS 39:  Embedded Derivatives 

Amendment to PAS 39 :  Eligible Hedged Items 

Amendments to PAS 3 9 :  Novation of Derivatives and 
Continuation of Hedge Accounting 

Investment Property 

Amendments to PAS 40:  Clarifying the Interrelationship 
between PFRS 3 and PAS 40 when Classifying Property 
as Investment Property or Owner-Occupied Property 

Amendments to PAS 40: Transfers of lnvestment 
Property* 

Agriculture 

Amendments to PAS 4 1 :  Bearer Plants 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

* These standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards will become effective subsequent to 
December 31, 201 7. The Group did not early adopt these standards, interpretations and amendments. 
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Philippine Interpretations 

IFRIC 1 I Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and 
3 

Similar Liabilities 

IFRIC 2 I Members' Share in Co-operative Entities and Similar 
3 

Instruments 

IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease 3 

IFRIC 5 Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, 
3 

Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds 

IFRIC 6 I Liabilities arisingfi'om Participating in a Specific Market I 3 
- Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment 

IFRIC 7 I Applying the Restatement Approach under PAS 29 
3 

Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives 3 

Amendments to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-9 and 
3 

PAS 39:  Embedded Derivatives 

IFRIC 1 0  Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment 3 

IFRIC 1 2  Service Concession Arrangements 3 

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 3 

IFRIC 1 4  The Limit on a Defmed Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding I 3 
Requirements and their Interaction 

Amendments to Philippine Interpretations IFRIC- 1 4, 
3 

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement 

IFRIC 1 5  Agreements for the Construction o f  Real Estate , 3 

IFRIC 1 6  Hedges of a Net Investment i n  a Foreign Operation 3 

IFRIC 1 7  Distributions of Non-cash Assets t o  Owners 3 

IFRIC 1 8  Transfers o f  Assets from Customers 3 

IFRIC 1 9  Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 
3 Instruments 

IFRIC 20 I Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface 
3 Mine 

IFRIC 21  Levies 3 

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
3 Consideration * 

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments* 3 

SIC-7 Introduction of the Euro 3 

SIC-to Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to 
Operating Activities 3 

SIC-1 5  I Operating Leases - Incentives 3 
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Philippine Interpretations 

SIC-25 

SIC-27 

SIC-29 

SIC-31 

SIC-32 

Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or 
its Shareholders 

Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the 
Legal Form of a Lease 

Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures 

Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 
Services 

Intangible Assets - Web Site Costs 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 
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III Reconcil iation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration as of December 31, 2017 

Unappropriated retained earnings, beg inn ing 

Add: Net income actually earned/realized during the period 

Net income during the period closed to retained earn ings 
Less: Unreal ized foreign exchange losses, net of tax (except 

for those attributable to cash} 

Net income actually earned during the period 

Less: Cash d ividends declared 
Retained earnings available for dividend declaration 

$456,036 

3 ,7 1 1 ,920 

5 ,2 1 4  

3,7 1 7,134 

(3 ,760,000) 
$413,170 
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IV Financial Soundness Indicators 

December 31,  December 3 1 ,  
!gatios Formula 2017 20 1 6  

Current Assets/Current 
I(i) Current Ratio Liabilities 1 .45 1 .54 

ICii) Debt/Equity Ratio Bank Debts] / Total Equity 0.73 2.99 
(iii) Net DebtlEquity Bank Debts I-Cash & 

Ratio Equivalents/Total Equity 0.46 2.02 
(iii) Asset to Equity 

Ratio Total Assets/Total Equity 2.06 4.86 
(iv) Interest Cover 

Ratio EBITD A 2 /Interest Expense 3.21 8.90 
I( v) Profitability 

Ratios 
GP Margin Gross Profit/Revenues 0.21 0 . 1 7  
Net Profit Margin Net Income/Revenues 0.06 0 . l 0  
EBITDA Margin EBITDA/Revenues 0.12 0 . 1 6  
Return on Assets Net Income/Total Assets3 0.02 0.06 
Return on Equity Net Income/Total Equity3 0.04 0.30 
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Supplementary Schedules 

A Financial Assets as of and for the year ended 31 December, 2017 

Name of Valued based on 
Issuing entity market quotation at 

and association Amount shown in the end of reporting 
of each issue the balance sheet period 

Cash and cash equivalents N/A $37,222,737 $37,222,737 
Trade and other receivables N/A 1 3 ,035,432 1 3 ,235,432 
Financial asset at FVPL N/A 5 0 1  5 0 1  
Amounts owed b y  related 

parties N/A 54,90 1 ,882 54,90 1 ,882 
Other current assets: 

Rental deposit N/A 1 ,203,004 1 ,203,004 
Security deposit N/A 1 82,5 1 0  1 82,5 1 0  
Loan to employees N/A 3 12,45 1 3 1 2,45 1 

HTM investments N/A 480,563 480,563 
AFS financial asset N/A 1 ,667,000 1 ,667,000 
Other noncurrent assets: 

Loans to employees N/A 233 233 
Miscellaneous N/A 1 77,5 9 1  1 77,59 1 

deposits 
$ 1 09 , 1 83,904 $ 109,383,904 

Income 
received or 

accrued 
$49,564 

34,899 

$84,463 
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B Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties, and Principal 
Stockholders (Other than Related parties) as of and for the year ended 31  December, 2017 

Amounts Receivable from Officers, Eml!lo�ees and Related Parties under Trade and Other Receivables 
Balance at 

Name and designation of B alance at beginning of Amounts the end of 
debtor period Additions collected Current Not Current the period 

Cirtek Holdings Philippines 
Corporation from: 

Jerry Liu (Chairman) $5,786,862 $ 1 8,91 8,3 1 8  $- $24,705, 1 80 $- $24,705, 1 80 
Ortek Electronics 
Corporation from:  

Jerry Liu (Chairman) 4,522, 1 7 8  4,522, 1 78 4,522, 1 78 
$ 1 0,309,040 $ 1 8,91 8,3 1 8  $- $29,227,358 $- $29,227,358 

Amounts owed by Related Parties 
Balance at 

Name and designation of B alance at beginning of Amounts the end of 
debtor period Additions collected Current Not Current the period 

Cirtek Holdings Philippines 
Corporation from:  

Cirtek Holdings, Inc. $ 1,809,256 $- $- $ 1,809,256 $- $ 1,809,256 
Cirtek Electronics 
Corporation from: 

Camerton, Inc. 1 1 1 ,994 4,477, 1 74 4,589, 1 68 4,589, 1 68 
Cayon Holdings, Inc. 206,284 7 ,944 2 1 4,228 214,228 
Total 3 1 8,278 4,485, 1 1 8  4,803,396 4,803,396 

TOTAL $2, 127,534 $4,485, 1 1 8 $- $6,612,652 $- $6,612,652 
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C. Amounts Receivable from Related Parties and Amounts Payable to Related Parties which are 
el iminated during the Consolidation of Financial Statements as of and for the year ended 31  
December, 2017 

Name and desill.nation of debtor 
Quintel 

Name and desig.nation of debtor 
Cirtek Holdings Philippines 
Corporation from: 

CEC 
CEIC 
Total 

Cirtek Electronics Corporation 
from: 

CHPC 
CATS 
Total 

Cirtek Electronics International 
Corporation from: 

CHPC 
CEC 
Cirtek C0::E0ration 
Total 

Cirtek Advanced Technologies 
and Solutions, Inc from:. 

CETC 
RBWRP 
Total 

RBW Realty and Property, Inc 
from: 

CATS 
Total 

TOTAL 

Receivables from related parties which are eliminated during the consolidation 
(under Trade and ()�i1er Receivable� 

Balance at 
beginning of 

£eriod 
$-

Additions 
$39,238,685 

Amount 
collected 

1 7,909,21 9  

Amount 
written 

off 
$-

Current Noncurrent 
$21 ,329,466 $-

Balance 
at end of 

£eriod 
$21 ,329,466 

Amounts owed by related parties which are eliminated during the consolidation 

Balance at 
beginning of 

£eriod 

$ 8 1 ,335,790 
9,000,000 

90,335,790 

1 7.597,866 
24,204,799 
4 1 ,802,665 

2,339,865 
20,675,997 

23,0 1 5 ,862 

1 92,8 1 6  
4 , 174,460 
4,367,276 

1 8,389 
1 8,389 

Additions 

$-

55,43 1 ,097 
6 , 1 35,479 

6 1 ,566,576 

1 9,475,306 
83, 1 52,953 

1 02,628,259 

365,433 
4,795 

370,228 

Amount 
collected 

$-

25,793,388 
4,020,669 

29,814,057 

1 7,361 ,800 

1 7,361 ,800 

553,621 

553,621 

$ 1 59,539,982 $ 164,565,063 $47,729,478 

Amount 
written 

off 

$-

$-

Current 

$ 8 1 ,335,790 
9,000,000 

90,335,790 

47,235,575 
26,3 1 9,609 
73,555, 1 84 

2,339,865 
22,789,503 
83,1 52,953 

1 08,282,321 

4,628 
4, 1 79,255 
4, 1 83,883 

1 8,389 
1 8,389 

$276,375,567 

Balance at end 
Not current of period 

$- $ 8 1 ,335,790 

$-

9,000,000 
90,335,790 

47,235,575 
26,3 1 9,609 
73,555 , 1 84 

2,339,865 
22,789,503 
83,1 52,953 

1 08,282,321 

4,628 
4, 1 79,255 
4, 1 83,883 

1 8,389 
1 8,389 

$276,375,567 
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D. Intangible Assets - Other Assets as of 31  December 3 1  2017 

Intangible Assets - Other Assets 

Other 
Charged to Charged to changes 

Beginning Additions cost and other additions Ending 

Description Balance at cost Expenses accounts (deductions) Balance 

Product development 
costs $922,220 $- $20 1 ,3 9 1  $- $- $720,829 

Goodwill 6 1 ,940,6 1 1  6 1 ,940,6 1 1 
Customer relationship 8,000,000 8,000,000 

Technology 5 , 1 00,000 333,333 4,766,667 
Trademark 1 7,800,000 1 7,800,000 

Total $922,220 $92,840,6 1 1  $534,724 $- $- $93 ,228, 1 07 
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E.  Long-Term Debt as of 31  December, 2017 

Title of issue and type of obligation 

Notes payable 

Long-term Debt 

Amount authorized 
b.z indenture 
$40,000,000 

Amount shown 
under caption 

"current portion 
of long-term" in 

related balance 
sheet 

$4,253,270 

Amount shown 
under caption 

"long-term debt" in 
related balance 

sheet 
$33 ,624,575 
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F. Indebtedness to Related Parties as of 31 December! 2017 

Indebtedness to related parties (Long-term loans from related companies) 

Name of related party Balance at beginning ofperi9cL_ Balance at end of period 

Not A£p.licable 
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G .  Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers 

Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers 
Name of issuing entity of 
securities guaranteed by the 
company for which this 
statement is filed 

Title of issue of 
each class of 

securities 
guaranteed 

Total amount 
guaranteed and 

outstanding 

Not A�p.Iicable 

Amount owned by 
person for which 
statement is file Nature of guarantee 
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H .  Capital Stock 

Number of 
shares 

Title of Issue authorized 
Common Stock 520,000,000 
Preferred A Shares 700,000,000 
Preferred B - 1  Shares 70,000,000 
Preferred B-2 Shares 200,000,000 

Number of 
shares 

Title of Issue authorized 
Common Stock 520,000,000 
Preferred A Shares 700,000,000 
Preferred B- 1 Shares 70,000,000 
Preferred B-2 Shares 200,000,000 

Cap-ital Stock 
Number of shares 

Number of shares issued reserved for 
and outstanding as options warrants, 

shown under related conversion and 
balance sheet caetion other rights 

4 1 9,063,353 -

700,000,000 -

70,000,000 
67,000,000 

Cap-ital Stock 
Number of shares 

Number of shares issued reserved for 
and outstanding as options warrants, 

shown under related conversion and 
balance sheet caetion other rights 

4 1 9,063,353 -

700,000,000 -

70,000,000 
67,000,000 

Number of 
shares held 

by related 
earties 

320,907,2 1 7  
700,000,000 

70,000,000 

Number of 
shares held 

by related 
earties 

320,907,2 1 7  
700,000,000 

70,000,000 

Number of 
shares held 

by directors, 
officers and 

em�ees 
9 

Number of 
shares held 

by directors, 
officers and 

emelo�ees 
9 

Others 

Others 
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 17 of the Code and Section 141 of the Corporation Code, this 
report is signed on behalf of the issuer by the undersigned, thereunto du ly authorized, in  the City of 

U Ill{ n <"" 4"ln10 on I 20_. 
,,;gill ,,,", ;j ( ;  " fA �Hi 

By: 

� 
Vice-Chairman of the Board and President 

ANTHONY BUYAWE 
Chief Financial Officer/Controller 

TADEO HlLADO 
Corporate Secretary 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this __ day of ___ _ 

exhibiting to me h is/their Residence Certificates, as fol lows: 
20_ affiant(s) 

NAMES RES. CERT. NO. DATE OF ISSUE PLACE OF ISSUE 

Notary Public 
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� 

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIB ILITY 

FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

of Grtck 

accordance 

Standards a nd ror internal controls as determines is  

of the consolidated financial statement s that are free from m aterial 

due to Ii-and or error 

to 

of Directors is  for the financial r(�"t'r\'d 1 n  
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80AfPRC Reg. No. 0001, 
December 14, 2015. valid until December 31 2018 

SEC Accreditation No. OD12-FR 4 (Group A). 
November 10, 2015, valid until November 9, 2018 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation and its 
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31,2017 and 
2016, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in 
equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2017, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31,2017 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. 
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit 
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matter below, provide the basis for our 
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

Accounting for the Acquisition of Quintel Cayman Ltd. (Quintel) 

On July 28, 2017, Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation's Board of Directors approved the acquisition of 
Quintel for $83.2 million. This was accounted for as a business combination, which required the 
identification of the acquired assets and liabilities of Quintel and the determination of their fair values. The 
Group used the provisional fair values of the identified net assets of QuinteL As of December 31,2017, the 
Group recognized goodwill on the acquisition amounting to $61.9 million based on the provisional fair 
values. The identification of the acquired assets and liabilities and the determination of their fair values 
involved the use of judgement and estimates. Further, the valuation of the acquired intangible assets 
required the use of assumptions such as sales volume and price, variable costs, royalty rates and discount 
rate. 

Refer to Notes 1, 5 and 13 to the consolidated [mancial statements for the detailed disclosures on the 
acquisition of QuinteL 

Audit response 

We reviewed the Agreement and Plan of Merger between the Group and the previous stockholders of 
Quintel, and the management's identification of Quintel's assets and liabilities. We reviewed the 
purchase price allocation prepared by an external specialist on a provisional basis. We considered 
management's use of the external specialist in relation to the determination of the fair value of intangible 
assets acquired. We evaluated the external specialist's competence, capabilities and objectivity. With the 
involvement of our internal specialist, we reviewed the methodology and assumptions used in the 
determination of fair values of Quintel's intangible assets by evaluating the relevant information 
supporting the forecasted sales volume and price, variable costs, and royalty rates. We also tested the 
parameters used in the determination of the discount rate against market data. We likewise reviewed the 
disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Impairment Testing of Provisional Goodwill 

In circumstances where a provisional allocation of goodwill could be made, the Group should test the 
provisional goodwill for impairment in accordance with Philippine Accounting Standard 36, Impairment of 
Assets, during the annual period in which the acquisition occurred and in the following years annual 
impairment test, even before the allocation of goodwill is completed. The provisional goodwill amounting 
to $61.9 million is material to the consolidated financial statements. Further, management's impainnent 
assessment process requires significant judgment and is based on assumptions, specifcally sales volume and 
price, variable costs, terminal growth rate and discount rate. 

Refer to Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for the discussion of significant management 
estimates and assumptions used in impairment testing of provisional goodwill. 
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We involved our internal specialist in evaluating the methodology and assumptions used, which include 
sales volume and price, variable costs, terminal growth rate and discount rate. We compared the key 
assumptions used such as sales volume and price, and variable costs against the historical information and 
inquired from management about the plans to support the forecasted information. We tested the 
parameters used in the determination of the terminal growth rate and discount rate against market data. 
We also reviewed the Group's disclosures about those assumptions to which the outcome of the 
impairment test is most sensitive, specifically those that have the most significant effect on the 
determination of the recoverable amount of goodwill. 

Presentation and Valuation of Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale 

Land, building and related improvements valued at $11.4 million as of December 31, 2017 have been 
classified as held for sale since 2014, as disclosed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Assessing whether noncurrent assets may continue to be classified as held for sale even if such assets 
were not sold during the initial one-year period involves management's judgment and requires 
management to provide evidence that they are committed to selling the assets. 

Noncurrent assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 
Estimating fair value requires the assistance of an external appraiser whose calculations involve certain 
assumptions, such as sales price and adjustments to sales price based on internal and external factors, 
adjusted benchmark construction costs and replacement cost of machinery and equipment. Detennining 
fair value and related costs to sell requires management to make judgments regarding the appropriate 
valuation methodology and involves estimation based on available inputs. 

Audit response 

We inquired from management the circumstances that caused the delay of the sale of the assets, as well as 
actions taken by management to respond to these circumstances. We also obtained relevant information 
from management's property consultants that supports management's commitment to its plan to sell these 
assets. For the assessment of the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, we tested the 
calculation performed by management. For the fair value, we involved our internal specialist in the review 
of the methodology and assumptions used by an external appraiser in determining the fair value. We 
evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external appraiser. We compared the 
assumptions used, specifically the sales price of comparable properties, adjusted benchmark construction 
costs and replacement cost of machinery and equipment, against relevant external information. We inquired 
from the external appraiser the basis of adjustments made. For the related costs to sell, such as marketing 
expenses, brokerage fees and relevant taxes, we evaluated the basis of the estimated costs. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report 
for the year ended December 31,2017, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor's report thereon. The SEC Form 20-IS (Defnitive Information Statement), SEC Fonn 17-A and 
Annual Report for the year ended December 31,2017 are expected to be made available to us after the 
date of this auditor's report. 
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Our opinion on the consolidated fnancial statements does not cover the other information and we will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audits of the consolidated fnancial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audits, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated fnancial 
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated fnancial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Respousibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated fnancial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group's internal control. 

1 111111111111 1111111111 111111111111111111111111 1111111111 11111111 
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modifY our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identifY during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Kristopher S. Catalan. 

LAYO&CO. 

ris  S. a Ian 
 

CPA Certificate No. 109712 
SEC Accreditation No. 1509-A (Group A), 

October 1, 2015, valid until September 30, 2018 
Tax Identification No. 233-299-245 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-109-2018, 

February 14,2018, valid until February 13,2021 
PTR No. 6621237, January 9,2018, Makati City 

April 30, 2018 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) 
Trade aud other receivables (Note 7) 
Inventories (Note 8) 
Amounts owed by related parties (Note 19) 
Held-to-maturity (HTM) investments (Note II) 
Finaucial asset at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) (Note 9) 
Other current assets  10) 

Noncurrent assets held for sale (Note  
Total Current Assets 

Noncurrent Assets 
Available-for-sale (AFS) financial asset (Note 14) 
HTM investments (Note II) 
Property, plaut aud equipmeut (Note 12) 
Intaugible assets (Note 13) 
Deferred income tax assets - net (Note 25) 
Other noncurrent assets (Note  
Total Noncurrent Assets 

TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
Current Liabilities 
Trade and other payables (Note 16) 
Short-term loans (Note 17) 
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 18) 
Amounts owed to related parties (Note 19) 
Income tax  
Total Current Liabilities 

Noncurrent Liabilities 
Long-term debt - net of current portion (Note 18) 
Retirement benefit obligation (Note 23) 
Deferred income tax liabilities - net (Note  
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 
Total Liabilities 

Equity 
Common stock (Note 29) 
Preferred stock (Note 29) 
Additional paid-in capital (Note 29) 
Equity reserve 
Other comprehensive income (Note 23) 
Retained  (Note 29) 

Parent  shares held  a  (Note 29) 
Total  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND  

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

December 31 
2017 2016 

$37,222,737 
13,035,433 
38,996,592 
54,901,882 

501 
2,522,879 

146,680,024 
11,408,611 

158,088,635 

1,667,000 
480,563 

31,293,890 
93,228,107 

207,375 
 

128,879,311 
$286,967,946 

$39,952,560 
64,040,088 

4,253,270 
543,203 
235,000 

 

33,624,575 
1,890,149 
2,781,785 

 
 

9,594,321 
2,037,113 

100,469,659 
4,030,214 

196,292 
25,819,024 

142,146,623 
 

 
$286,967,946 

$24,511,493 
23,172,423 
15,281,893 
12,436,575 

371,520 
503 

2,618,370 
78,392,777 
11,408,611 
89,801,388 

1,667,000 

28,675,910 
922,220 
174,578 

1,248,639 
32,688,347 

$122,489,735 

$19,135,593 
31,625,945 

6,882,126 
520,152 
327,656 

58,491,472 

36,977,845 
1,807,847 

3,373 
38,789,065 
97,280,537 

9,594,321 
221,239 

35,896,893 
4,138,375 

40,329 
24,884,576 
74,775,733 

(49,566,535) 
25,209,198 

$122,489,735 
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No. of Stockholders 

25 

Name of Contact Person 

Annual Meeting (Month I Day) Fiscal Year (Month I Day) 
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CONTACT PERSON INFORMATION 

The deSignated contact person !illl§l be an Officer of the Corporation 

Email Address Telephone Number!s Mobile Number 

Anthony Albert S. Buyawe I I lls.buyawc@cirtck.ph I I N/A I I N/A 
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Report on the Audit of the Parent Company Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the parent company fInancial statements of Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation 
(the Company), which comprise the parent company balance sheets as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, 
and the parent company statements of comprehensive income, parent company statements of changes in 
equity and parent company statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the parent 
company financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying parent company fmancial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards (PFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities /or the Audit 
of the Parent Company Financial Statements section of our report, We are independent of the Company 
in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the parent company fmancial 
statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Parent Company 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the parent company fmancial 
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of parent company financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

. 

In preparing the parent company financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 
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A momborliml of Ernst &. Young GIoballimi!ed 



A 

..; 

,� 
SGV 
Building a better 
working world 

-2-

SIR - ROO. 57 

R [
COl ���� Si�O

D
N 

_.. l1li 
APR 30�18 

NIDA M. PRE IllA Actg. Chief Collee: on SE'ctlOn 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Parent Company Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the parent company fmandal statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these parent company financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the parent company financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

" Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 

.. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

ill Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are, required to draw attention in our auditor's 
report to the related disclosures in the parent company fmancial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

ill Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the parent company fmancial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the parent company financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 
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Report on the Supplementary Information Required Under Revenue Regulations No. 15-2010 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the parent company financial 
statements taken as a whole. The supplementary information required under Revenue Regulations 
No. 15-2010 in Note 18 to the parent company financial statements is presented for purposes of filing 
with the Bureau of Internal Revenue and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of the management ofCirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation. The 
information has been SUbjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the basic financial 
statements. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic 
financial statements taken as a whole. 

·�f ca. 
Partner 

CPA Certificate No. 109712 
SEC Accreditation No. 1509-A (Group A), 

October 1, 2015, valid until September 30, 2018 
Tax Identification No. 233-299-245 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-109-2018, 

February 14, 2018, valid until February 13, 2021 
PTR No. 6621237, January 9, 2018, Makati City 

April 30, 2018 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 

PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SBEETS 

December 31 
2017 2016 

ASSETS 

Current Assets 
Cash 
Amounts owed by related parties (Note 9) 
Other current assets 
Total Current Assets 

Noncurrent Assets 
Available-for-sale (AFS) financial asset (Note 5) 
In.vestments in subsidiaries (Note 4 )  
Property an d  equipment 
Total Noncurrent Assets 

TOTAL ASSETS 

$16,698,306 
135,912,098 

5�93 
152,6J51697 

1,667,000 
89,134,452 

5°1818 
90�70 

$2431467,967 

a'R Rg9 67 COLLECTION SECTION 
..... ,. 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY ---

Current Liabilities R r APR 30 2018 
Accrued expenses aJ 
Short-term loans (Note 7) Actg:Ch.�i·c�II��;�S;cl;t�72,OOO 
Current portion of long-term debt - net of deferred 

fmancing costs (Note 8) I 3,893,270 
Amounts owed to related parties (Note 9) 49,575,439 
Total Current Liabilities 97,814,343 

Noncurrent Liability 
Long-term debt - net of current portion and 

deferred financing costs (Note 8) 
Total Liabilities 

Equity (Note 12) 
Common stock 
Preferred stock - net of subscriptions receivable 
Additional paid-in capital 
Retained eamin� 
TotalE� 

332°842575 
130,958,�lL 

9,594,321 
2,037,113 

100,469,659 
407,956 

112�092049 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY S243!467lJ67 

See accompanying Noles to Parent Company Financial Statements. 

$13,322,629 
97, 931,908 

5,3)4 
111,259,851 

1,667,000 
5,981,499 

67,757 
7,716,256 

$118!97 6, l 07 

$157,059 
8,852,857 

6,882,126 
19,937,731 

35,829,773 

36,977,845 
72,807,618 

9,594,321 
221,239 

35,896,893 
456,036 

46,168,489 

$118,976,107 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS pmLIPPINES CORPORATION 

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

DIVIDEND INCOME (Note 9) 

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
(Note 10) 

FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSES) 
Interest expense (Notes 7 and 8) 
Interest income 

OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) - Net 
Foreign exchange gains (losses) - net 
Gain on disposal of financial asset at FVPL 
Bank charg,es 

INCOME BEFORE TAX 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 11) 

NET INCOME 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

BasidDiluted Earnings Per Share (Note 13) 

See accompanying Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements, 

Years Ended December 31 
2017 2016 

$8,460,000 $4,820,000 

(1,961,017) (278,040) 

(2,812,114) (1,134,962) 
22291 358,230 

(2,789,723) (776,732) 

27,829 (187,263) 
93,670 

�252169} {I,ISS} 
2,660 (94,748) 

3,711,920 3,670,480 

3,711,920 3,670,480 

$3,711,920 $3,670,480 

$0.008 $0.009 

SIR - RDO· 57 

R 
C[OL ���� Sj�ODN 

APR 30 2018 .. - "r-
NIDA M. PRESC LA 

Actg. Chief Coliectio 1 Spclion 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 
PARENTCO�ANYSTATEMENTS OFCHAN GESINEQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016 

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2015 

Additional 
Common Stock Preferred Stock Paid-in Capital Retained 

(Note 12) (N()te J2L _�� 111 ____ ___ 
Eamings___ Total 

$9,594,321· $221,239 $35,896,893 $405,556 $46,118,009 

Net income/total comprehensive income for the year 3,670.480 3,670.480 
Cash dividends declared (Note 12) (3,620,000) (3,620,000) 

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2016 9,594,321 221,239 35,896,893 456,036 46,168,489 

Net income/total comprehensive income for the year 3,711,920 3,711,920 
Issuance of preferred stock (Note 12) 1,815,874 65,673,267 67,489,141 
Stock issue costs (Note 12) (1,100,501) (1,100,501) 
Cash dividends declared (Note 12) (3,760,000) (3,760,000) 

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2017 
See accompanying Notes to Parent Company Financial Statemenls. 

$9,594,321 5i�,037,113 $100,469,659 $407,956 $112,509,049 
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cmTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTMTIES 
Income before income tax 
Adjustments for: 

Dividend income (Note 9) 
Interest expense (Notes 7 and 8) 
Interest income 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) • net 
Gain on disposal of financial asset at FVPL 
De.E,reciation 

Operating loss before working capital changes 
Increase in other current assets 
Increase ( decrease) in accrued expenses and other payables 
Cash used in operations 
Dividends received 
Interest received 
Net cash from operating activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTMTIES 
Additional investment in a subsidiary (Note 4) 
Proceeds from disE.osai of financial asset at FVPL 
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTMTIES 
Proceeds from: 

Availment of short-term loans 
Issuance of preferred stock (Note 12) 
AvaiIment of long-term debt 

Net movements in amounts owed by and owed to related parties 
Payments of: 

Short-term loans (Note 7) 
Long-term debt (Note 8) 
Interest (Notes 1 and 8) 
Cash dividends (Note 12) 
Stock issue costs (Note 12) 
Debt issuance costs (Note 8) 

Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities 

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 

CASH AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 

CASH AT END OF YEAR 

See accompanying Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements. 

Years Ended December 31 
2017 2016 

$3,711,920 

(8,460,000) 
2,812,114 

(22,391) 
(13,993) 

16,939 
(1,955,411) 

(24,802) 
(1,980,213) 
8,460,000 

22,391 
6�178 

(83,152,953) 

(83,152,953) 

68,514,857 
67,489,141 

(8,342,482) 

(33,395,714) 
(7,000,000) 
(2,722,921) 
(3,760,000) 

(775,635) 

80z007,246 

19�06 

3,375,677 

13,322,629 

$162698,306 

$3,670,480 

(4,820,000) 
1,134,962 

(358,230) 
143,588 
(93,670) 
16,939 

(305,931) 
(5,448) 
1,019 

(310,360) 
4,820,000 

516,016 
5,025,656 

8,861,250 
8,861,250 

4,642,857 

30,000,000 
(43,566,640) 

(290,000) 
(3,500,000) 
(1,025,021 ) 
(3,620,000) 

{321,605} 
{17,680,409} 

{144,45Ol 

(3,937,953) 

17,260,582 

$13,322,629 
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cmTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 

NOTES TO PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. Corporate Information 

Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation (CHPC or the "Parent Company") was incorporated under 
the laws of the Republic of the Philippines on February 10, 2011 to invest in, purchase or acquire 
personal property of every kind, including shares of stocks, bonds, debentures, notes, evidences of 
indebtedness, and other securities. 

The Parent Company was listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) on November 18, 2011. 

Prior to the listing, the Parent Company had undergone a corporate re-organization on 
March 1,2011 which includes an acquisition from Cirtek Holdings, Inc. (CHI) of 155,511,952 
common shares of Cirtek Electronics Corporation (CEq, and 50,000 shares ofCirtek Electronics 
International Corporation (CEIC), representing 100% of the outstanding capital stock of both 
companies. The above transaction was treated as a business combination of entities under common 
control and was accounted for similar to pooling-of-interests method. Camerton Inc. is the immediate 
parent of CHPC, while Carmetheus Holdings, Inc. is the ultimate parent company of the Group. 

The Company has no employees as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. The accounting and 
administrative functions of the Parent Company are handled by CEC. 

The registered office address of the Parent Company is 116 East Main Avenue. Phase V -SEl, Laguna 
Tccbnopark, Bifian, Laguna. 

Acquisition of REMEC 
On July 30, 2014, CEIC entered into a sale and purchase agreement with REMEC Broadband 
Wireless Holdings (''REl\.1EC''), for the purchase of 100% shares ofREl\.1EC's manufacturing 
division, REl\.1EC Broadband Wireless International, Inc. (RBWI), a Philippine-based manufacturer 
of value added, highly integrated technology products. Based on the terms of the sale, REl\.1EC and 
its remaining subsidiaries will continue to design and market its top-of-class telecommunications 
products globally under its "REl\.1EC" brand, and, REMEC will enter into a manufacturing agreement 
with RBWI to manufacture REMEC's products under a long-term contract manufacturing relationship. 
CEIC acquired RBWI for a consideration of$7.S million. CHPC funded the acquisition through a 
combination of available cash on hand and proceeds from a corporate notes issuance. 

The closing date of the transactions was effective July 30, 2014. 

Incorporation of Cirtek Corporation and Cirtek Cayman Ltd. 
Cirtek Corporation was incorporated on July 7. 2017 under the laws of Delaware, USA, to engage in 
lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of 
the State of Delaware. Cirtek Corporation was established to implement the Agreement and Plan of 
Merger ("Agreement") between the Parent Company and QuinteI Cayman Ltd. ("Quintet") under 
which Quintel will be a whoUy-owned subsidiary of Cirtek Corporation. Cirtek Corporation is a 
wholly owned subsidiary of CEIC. 

In the same period, CCL was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. CCL is a wholly owned subsidiary 
of Cirtek Corporation and was merged with Quintel Cayman Ltd. (Quintel) in accordance with the 
Agreement and Plan of Merger ("Agreement") between the Group and the previous stockholders of 
Quintel. 

Iloom��lrll�llmllm�� 
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Acquisition of Quintel 
On July 28, 2017, the Parent Company's Board of Directors (BOD) approved the acquisition of 
Quintet and its subsidiaries for $83.2 million. Quintel is a leading innovator of spectrum and 
space-efficient base station antennas for wireless networks. 

In accordance with the Agreement, CCL was merged with Quintel, with Quintel as the surviving 
corporation. All outstanding shares, warrants, and stock options of the previous stockholders of 
Quintet were converted to a right to receive the consideration from the Parent Company and Cirtek 
Corporation for a total value of $83.2 million. & a result of the merger, each of CCL' s one 
hundred (l00) issued and outstanding shares shall be converted into and exchanged for one (1 ) validly 
issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of the surviving company. On the other hand, each of 
Quintet's issued and outstanding shares before the merger shall be cancelled and extinguished. 
Quintel, being the surviving company, retains the 100 shares originally issued by CCL as its ending 
capital stock. 

On August 4, 2017, the &sistant Registrar of Companies for the Cayman Islands issued a Certificate 
of Merger stating that the companies have merged effective on said date with Quintet as the surviving 
corporation. 

Authorization and issuance of parent company financial statements 
The parent company financial statements as at and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 
were approved and authorized for issuance by the BOD on April 30, 2018. 

2. Basis of Preparation, Statement of Compliance and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Preparation 
The parent company fmancial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis. The parent company 
financial statements are presented in United States (US) dollar, which is the Parent Company's 
functional and presentation currency. All amounts are rounded off to the nearest US dollar ($), 
except when otherwise indicated. 

Statement of Compliance 
The parent company f"mancial statements are prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards (PFRS). The term PFRS, in general, includes all applicable PFRS, 
Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and Interpretations issued by the Standing Interpretations 
Committee, Philippine Interpretations Committee and the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), which have been approved by the Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) and adopted by the Philippine Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC). 

The Parent Company also prepares and issues consolidated financial statements for the same period 
as the parent company fmancial statements in compliance with PFRS. These may be obtained at the 
Parent Company's registered office address. 
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Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except that the 
Parent Company has adopted the following new accounting pronouncements starting Janwuy 1, 2011. 
These pronouncements are either not applicable to the Parent Company or their adoption did not have 
any significant impact on the Parent Company's financial position or performance unless otherwise 
indicated. 

e Amendments to PFRS 12, Disclosure oj Interests in O ther Entities, Clarification oj the Scope oj 
the Standard (part of Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle) 

The amendments clarifY that the disclosure requirements in PFRS 12, other than those relating to 
summarized financial information, apply to an entity's interest in a subsidiary, a joint venture or 
an associate (or a portion of its interest in a joint venture or an associate) that is classified (or 
included in a disposal group that is classified) as held for sale. 

It Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, Disclosure Initiative 

The amendments require entities to provide disclosure of changes in their liabilities arising from 
financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes (such 
as foreign exchange gains or losses). 

In 2017, the Parent Company presented additional disclosures on the movements of the financing 
activities in Note 17. As allowed under the transition provisions, the Group did not present 
comparative information for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

• Amendments to PAS 12, Income Taxes, Recognition oj Deje"ed Tax Assets jor Unrealized 
Losses 

The amendments clarifY that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of 
taxable profits against which it may make deductions upon the reversal of the deductible 
temporary difference related to unrealized losses. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance 
on how an entity should determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which 
taxable profit may include the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount. 

Standards Issued but not yet Effective 
The Company is currently assessing the impact of the following standards and plans to adopt the new 
standards when those become effective: 

Effective beginning on or qfter January 1, 2018 

• PFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

PFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces PAS 39, Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions ofPFRS 9. The standard 
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge 
accounting. Retrospective application is required but providing comparative information is not 
compUlsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with 
some limited exceptions. 

mlmmm�I�IOO�I�lllm� 
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.. PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

PFRS 1 5  establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with 
customers. Under PFRS 1 5, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a 
customer. The principles in PFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to measuring and 
recognizing revenue. 

The new revenue standard is applicable to aU entities and will supersede all current revenue 
recognition requirements under PFRSs. Either a full or modified retrospective application is 
required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2019 

• Amendments to PFRS 9, Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 

The amendments to PFRS 9 allow debt instruments with negative compensation prepayment 
features to be measured at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. An 
entity shall apply these amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted. 

411 PFRS 16, Leases 

PFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of 
leases and requires lessees to account for aU leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar 
to the accounting for fmance leases under PAS 17, Leases. The standard includes two recognition 
exemptions for lessees - leases of 'low-value' assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term 
leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). At the commencement date of a lease, a 
lessee will recognize a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset 
representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use 
asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognize the interest expense on the lease liability 
and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. 

Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events 
(e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an 
index or rate used to determine those payments). The lessee will generally recognize the amount 
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. 

Lessor accounting under PFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today's accounting under 
PAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in 
PAS 1 7  and distinguish between two types of leases: operating and finance leases. 

PFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make mOre extensive disclosures than under PAS 17. 

Early application is permitted, but not before an entity applies PFRS 1 S. A lessee can choose to 
apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The 
standard's transition provisions permit certain reliefs. 

m�m[lm�Wm���lmll�l� 
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e Philippine Interpretation on IFRIC-23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

The interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve 
uncertainty that affects the application of P AS 12 and does not apply to taxes or levies outside the 
scope of PAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties 
associated with uncertain tax treatments. 

The interpretation specifically addresses the following: 

• Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately 
• The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation 

authorities 
It How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax 

credits and tax rates 
tI How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances 

An entity must determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together 
with one or more other uncertain tax treatments. The approach that better predicts the resolution 
of the uncertainty should be followed. 

The Parent Company intends to adopt the following pronouncements when they become effective. 
Adoption of these pronouncements is not expected to have a significant impact on the parent 
company financial statements. 

Effective beginning on or qfterJanuary 1, 2018 

• Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, Classification and Measurement o/ Share-based 
P�mentTransactions 

• Amendments to PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, Applying PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, with PFRS 4 
e Amendments to PAS 28, Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value (part of Annual 

Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle) 
Ii Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property, Trans/ers of Investment Property 
• Philippine Interpretation on IFRIC-22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 

Effective beginning on or after January J, 2019 

• Amendments to PAS 28, Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 

De/e"ed effectivity 

.. Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution 0/ Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture 

1I�loommml�lOOllmmmm� 
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Summary of Significant A«:c:ounting Policies 

Fair Value Measurement 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

GIl In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
GIl In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Parent Company. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability. assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest 

A fair value measurement of a nonfinancial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Parent Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for 
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

AU assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the parent company fmancial 
statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

GIl Level l - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
GIl Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and 
It Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is unobservable. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the parent company fmancial statements on a recurring 
basis, the Parent Company determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the 
hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Parent Company has determined classes of assets and 
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of 
the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 

Cash 
Cash pertains to cash in banks which earns interest at the respective bank deposit rates. 

IlioomlDlmlOO�lmoomlm 



Financial Instruments 
Financial assets 
Initial recognition 

-1-

Financial assets within the scope of PAS 39 are classified as either fmancial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVPL), loans and receivables, held-ta-maturity (HTM) investments, AFS 
financial asset, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate. The Parent Company determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such classifications at every reporting 
date. 

Financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at FVPL, 
directly attributable transaction costs. 

Purcbases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame establisbed by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way purcbases) are recognized on the trade date, 
i.e., the date that the Parent Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

The Parent Company's financial assets includes cash, AFS fmancial asset and amounts owed by 
related parties. 

Subsequent measurement 
The subsequent measurement of fmancial assets depends on their classification as follows: 

Financial assets at FVP L 
Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon 
initial recognition as at FVPL. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired 
for the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, 
are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 
Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the parent company balance sheet at fair value with gains or 
losses recognized in profit or loss. 

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives when their risks and 
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not 
carried at fair value. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with gains or losses 
arising from changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is a 
change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be 
required. 

Financial assets designated as at FVPL are designated by management on initial recognition when 
any of the following criteria are met: 

• The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would 
otherwise arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on them on 
a different basis; or 

• The assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both which 
are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a 
documented risk management or investment strategy; or 

• The financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does 
not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be 
separately recorded. 

The Parent Company does not have any financial asset at FVPL as of December 31, 2011 and 2016. 

ml�mll!m�IOO�lIlwoom 
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Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative fmancial assets with fIxed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. Such financial assets are carried subsequently at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate (Em.) method. This method uses an Em. that exactly discounts 
estimated cash receipts through the expected life of the financial assets to the net carrying amount of 
the fInancial asset. Gains and losses are recognized in profIt or loss when the loans and receivables 
are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process. Interest earned is 
recognized as "Interest income" in profit or loss. Assets in this category are included in current assets 
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period , which are classified 
as noncurrent assets. 

The Parent Company's loans and receivables include cash and amounts owed by related parties. 

HTU investments 
HTM investments are quoted non-derivative fmancial assets with fIXed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturities for which the Parent Company's management has the positive intention and ability to 
hold to maturity. When HTM investments, other than insignifIcant amounts are sold, the entire 
category would be tainted and reclassified as AFS investments. After initial measurement , HTM 
investments are measured at amortized cost using the Em. method, less impairment. Amortized cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR.. 

The Parent Company does not have any HIM investment as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. 

AF S  financial assets 
AFS fmancial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as AFS or are not 
classified in any of the three preceding categories. They are purchased and held indefinitely and may 
be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in market conditions. After initial 
measurement, AFS financial assets are measured at fair value with unrealized gains or losses 
recognized directly in equity until the investment is derecognized, at which time the cumulative gain 
or loss recorded in equity is recognized in the profIt or loss, or determined to be impaired, at which 
time the cumulative loss recorded in equity is recognized in profIt or loss. Unquoted equity 
instruments are measured at cost less any impairment, if fair value cannot be reliably measured. 

As ofDecember31, 2017 and 2016, the Parent Company's AFS fInancial asset pertains to an 
investment in unquoted equity shares. 

Financial liabilities 
Initial recognition 
Financial liabilities within the scope of PAS 39 are classifIed as fmancial liabilities at FVPL, other 
fInancial liabilities, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate. The Parent Company determines the classifIcation of its financial liabilities at initial 
recognition and where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at each balance sheet 
date. 

AI! financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of other fInancial 
liabilities, directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Parent Company's fInancial liabilities include accrued expenses and other payables (excluding 
statutory liabilities), short-term loans, amounts owed to related parties, and long-term debt. 

IIlmmll��IOOI�mlgm� 



-9-

Subsequent measurement 
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows: 

Financial liabilities at FVPL 
Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabiHties 
designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL. 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in 
the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Parent 
Company that do not meet the hedge accounting criteria as dermed by PAS 39. 

Financial liabilities at FVPL are carried in the parent company balance sheet at fair value with gains 
and losses recognized in profit or loss. The criteria for designating financial liabilities at FVPL on 
initial recognition are the same as those applied for fmancial assets. 

The Parent Company has not classified any financial liabilities at FVPL as of December 31, 2017 and 
2016. 

Other jinancial liabili ties 
Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value of the consideration received, less 
directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other fmancial liabilities are measured 
at amortized cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the 
liabilities are derecognized, as well as through the amortization process. 

As ofDecember31, 2017 and 2016, the Parent Company's other financial liabilities include accrued 
expenses and other payables (excluding statutory liabilities), short-term loans, amount owed to related 
parties and long-term debt. 

Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the parent company 
balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously. The Parent Company assesses that it has a currently enforceable right of 
offset if the right is not contingent on a future event, and is legally enforceable in the normal course 
of business, event of default, and event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Parent Company and all of 
the counterparties. 

'Day l' Difference 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other observable 
current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables 
include only data from observable market, the Parent Company recognizes the difference between the 
transaction price and fair value (a 'Day l' difference) in profit or loss unless it qualifies for 
recognition as some other type of asset. In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, 
the difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in profit or loss when 
the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the 
Parent Company determines the appropriate method of recognizing the 'Day l' difference amount. 
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Classification of Financial Instruments between Debt and Equity 
A financial instrument is classified as debt if it provides for a contractual obligation to: 

• deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or 
• exchange financial assets or fmancial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are 

potentially unfavorable to the Parent Company; or 
• satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. 

If the Parent Company does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another 
financial asset to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the deimition of a financial 
liability. 

The components of issued financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are 
accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual amount after 
deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair value of the 
liability component on the date of issue. 

Impainnent of Financial Assets 
The Parent Company assesses, at each balance sheet date, whether a financial asset or a group of 
fmancial assets is impaired. A fmandal asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired 
if, and only if, there is an objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ' loss event') and that loss event (or 
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of 
fmancial assets that can be reliably estimated. 

Objective evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of contracting 
parties is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other fmancial reorganization, and where 
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. If such evidence exists, any 
impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. 

Financial assets carried al amortized cost 
The Parent Company fIrSt assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists for 
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for fmancial assets that are not 
individually significant. If it has determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an 
individually assessed :fmancial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of 
fmancial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively 
assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an 
impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment 
If there is an objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortized 
cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected 
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial assets' original EIR (i.e., the EIR 
computed at initial recognition date). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or 
through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the Joss is recognized in profit or loss. If, in 
a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or 
loss to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. 
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Financial assets carried at cost 
If there is objective evidence that an impainnent loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not 
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is 
linked to and must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar 
fmancial asset. 

Derecognition of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets 
A fmancial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
fmancial assets) is derecognized when: 

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
(8 the Parent Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an 

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a "pass-through" 
arrangement; or 

• the Parent Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) 
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset. 

When the Parent Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Parent Company's continuing 
involvement in the asset. In this case, the Parent Company also recognizes an associated liability. 
The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that affects the rights and 
obligations that the Parent Company has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at 
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that 
the Parent Company could be required to repay. 

When continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash­
settled option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Parent Company's 
continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Parent Company may 
repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled option or similar 
provision) on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Parent Company's continuing 
involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise 
price. 

Financial liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
has expired. 

When an existing fmancial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss. 
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Property and Eguipment 
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of such property and equipment 

and borrowing cost when that cost is incurred and if the recognition criteria are met. Repairs and 

maintenance are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

Depreciation commences when an asset is in its location and condition and capable of being operated 

in the manner intended by management Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line method over the 

estimated useful life of five (5) years. Depreciation ceases at the earlier of the date that the item is 

classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group) in accordance with PFRS 5, Noncurrent 

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, and the date the asset is derecognized. 

The property and equipment's residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. 

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until these are no longer in use. When assets are 
retired or otherwise disposed o� both the cost and related accumulated depreciation and any 
allowance for impairment losses are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is 
credited or charged to current operations. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Investments in Subsidiaries 
A subsidiary is an entity over which the Parent Company has control. Control exists if and only if the 
Company has: 

• power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee); 

.. exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
• the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

Investments in subsidiaries are measured initially at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investments in subsidiaries are carried in the Parent Company's financial statements at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

The investments in subsidiaries are derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the investments. Gain or loss arising from the disposal is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the canying amount of the investments in subsidiaries and 
is recognized in profit or loss. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The Parent Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is an indication that a 
nonfinancial asset may be impaired. The Parent Company has designated its property and equipment 
and investments in subsidiaries as nonfinancial assets. If any such indication exists, or when annual 
impairment testing for a nonfmancial asset is required, the Parent Company makes an estimate of the 
nonfmancial asset's recoverable amount. A nonfinancial asset's estimated recoverable amount is the 
higher of a nonfinancial asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU's) fair value less costs to sen and its 
value-in-use (VIU) and is determined for an individual asset, unless the nonfinancial asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other nonfinancial assets or group of 
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nonfinancial assets. Where the carrying amount of a nonfmancial asset exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount, the nonfinancial asset is considered impaired and is written down to its estimated 
recoverable amount. In assessing vru, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the nonfimincial asset. In detennining fair value less costs to sell, an 
appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, 
quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators. 

For nonfinancial assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to 
whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or 
may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Parent Company makes an estimate of the 
recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the nonfmancial asset's recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the nonfmancial asset is 
increased to its recoverable amount. The increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the 
nonfinancial asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss. 

Capital Stock 
Capital stock, which consists of common stock and preferred stock, is measured at par value for aU 
shares issued. Incremental costs incurred that are directly attributable to the issuance of new shares 
are shown in equity as deduction from proceeds, net of tax. Proceeds andlor fair value of 
consideration received in excess of par value, if any, are recognized as additional paid-in capital 
(APIC). 

Subscription Receivable 
The unpaid portion of the subscribed shares is presented as net of capital stock and is measured at 
subscription price for all shares subscribed. SUbscription receivable is presented as reduction from 
equity in the parent company balance sheet. 

Retained Earnings 
Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of periodic net income or loss, dividend 
distributions, prior period adjustments, effect of changes in accounting policies and other capital 
adjustments. Dividends for the year that are approved after the balance sheet date are dealt with as an 
event after the balance sheet date. Unappropriated retained earnings represent that portion which can 
be declared as dividends to stockholders. Appropriated retained earnings represent that portion which 
has been restricted for a specific purpose and, therefore, not available for dividend declaration. 

The Parent Company may pay dividends in cash or by the issuance of shares of stock. Cash and 
property dividends are subject to the approval of the BOD, while stock dividends are subject to 
approval by the BOD, at least two-thirds of the outstanding capital stock of the shareholders at a 
shareholders' meeting called for such purpose, and by the Philippine SEC. Cash and property 
dividends on preferred and common stocks are recognized as liability and deducted from equity when 
declared. Stock dividends are treated as transfers from retained earnings to paid-in capital. 

Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Parent Company and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being 
made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into 
account contractually defined tenns of payment and excluding discounts, rebates, value-added taxes 
or duty. The Parent Company assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to 
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determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Parent Company has concluded that it is acting as 
principal in all of its revenue arrangements. 

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

Dividend income 
Dividend income is recognized when the Parent Company's right to receive payment is established. 

Interest income 
Interest income is recognized as it accrues using the Em. method. 

Costs and Expenses Recognition 
Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of outflows or 

decrease of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decreases in equity, other than those 

relating to distributions to equity participants. Costs and expenses are recognized when incurred. 

Leases 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at the inception date and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the 
arrangements is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right 
to use the asset. 

A reassessment is made after the inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 

a. there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement; or 
b. a renewal option is exercised and extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or extension 

was initially included in the lease term; or 
c. there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or 
d. there is a substantial change to the asset. 

When a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the 
change in circumstances give rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) and at the date of 
renewal or extension period for scenario (b). 

The Parent Company as a lessee 
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as expense in profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Foreign Currency-denominated Transactions and Translations 
The parent company fmancial statements are presented in US dollars, which is the functional and 
presentation currency of the Parent Company. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially 
recorded at the functional currency spot rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Outstanding 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional 
currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 

All differences are taken to profit or loss. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as of the dates of the initial 
transactions. 
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Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted as of the balance sheet date. 

Deferred income tax 
Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on all temporary differences 
at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

• when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset 
or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting income nor taxable profit or loss; and 

4& in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, canyforward 
benefits of unused tax credits from excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over regular 
corporate income tax (ReIT) and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it 
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
and the carryforward benefits of unused tax credits from excess MCIT and unused NOLCO can be 
utilized except: 

• when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting income nor taxable profit or loss; and 

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit 
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are 
reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that 
future taxable profit will allow the deferred income tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in other comprehensive 
income and not in profit or loss. 

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred 
income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
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Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
Basic BPS is calculated by dividing the net income for the year attributable to common shareholders 
by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year, with retroactive 
adjustments for any stock dividends and stock split. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net income and the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares. 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Parent Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. Where the Parent Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for 
example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only 
when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in 
profit or loss, net of any reimbursement If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to 
the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognized as an interest expense. 

Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the notes to parent company fmancisl 
statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefit is remote. 
Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the notes to parent company financial 
statements when an inflow of economic benefit is probable. 

Events After the Balance Sheet Date 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Parent Company's position at the 
balance sheet date (adjusting events) are reflected in the parent company financial statements. Post 
year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to parent company financial 
statements when material. 

3. Summary of Significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 

The preparation of the parent company financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting 
date. 

However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods. 
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Judgments 
In the process of applying the Parent Company's accounting policies, management has made the 
followingjudgment, apart from those involving estimations, which had the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognized in the parent company fmancial statements: 

Detenniningjuncnonal currency 
Based on the economic substance of underlying circumstances relevant to the Parent Company, the 
functional currency of the Parent Company has been determined to be the US dollar. The US dollar is 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Parent Company operates and it is 
the currency that mainly influences operating activities of the Parent Company. 

Impainnenl of nonfinancial assets 
The Parent Company assesses impairment on assets whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. The factors that the Parent 
Company considers important which could trigger an impairment review include the following: 

CD Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results; 
• Significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall 

business; and 
II Significant negative industry or economic trends. 

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount which is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and VIU. For 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows. 

Based on management's evaluation, no indication of impairment was noted in the Parent Company's 
nonfinancial assets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. 

Impairment of AFS financial asset 
Ifthere is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not 
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. 

Based on management's evaluation, no indication of impairment was noted on the Parent Company's 
AFS fmancial asset as of December 31. 2017 and 2016. 

Estimation and Uncertainty 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fmancial year are discussed below. 

Estimation of allowance for doubtful accounts 
Allowance for doubtful accounts is provided for accounts that are specifically identified to be 
doubtful of collection. The level of allowance is evaluated by management on the basis of factors 
that affect the collectibility of the accounts, such as historical performance of counterparties, among 
others. In addition to specific allowance against individually significant receivables, the Parent 
Company also assesses, at least on an annual basis, a collective impairment allowance against credit 
exposures which, although not specifically identified as requiring a specific allowance, have a greater 
risk of default than when the receivables were originally recognized. 
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As of December 3 1, 2017 and 201 6, management has assessed that the amounts owed by related 
parties are fully recoverable. The carrying value of amounts owed by related parties amounted to 
$135,912,098 and $97,931,908 as of December 3 1 , 201 7  and 201 6, respectively (see Note 9). 

Recognition of deferred income tax assets 
The Parent Company reviews the carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets at each balance 
sheet date and reduces deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. 

Management believes that sufficient future taxable profits will not be available in the near future 
against which the carryforward benefits of NOLCO and unrealized foreign exchange losses can be 
utilized. Carryforward benefits of NOLCO and unrealized foreign exchange losses for which no 
deferred income tax assets were recognized amounted to $7,120,033 and $3,432,332 as of 
December 3 1, 201 7  and 2016, respectively (see Note 1 1). 

4. investments in Su.bsidiaries 

The Parent Company's subsidiaries and the corresponding percentage equity ownership are as 
follows : 

Subsidiaries 
CEC 
CEIC 
Cirtek Advanced Technologies 

Solutions, Inc. (CATS), 
(formerly known as RBWI) 

CATS · Philippine Branch 
Remec Broadband Wireless 

Real Property (RBWRP) 
Quintel Cayman, Ltd. 
Quintel Technology, Ltd. 

Quintel USA 

Telecom Quintel Mauritius, Ltd.'ll 
"'In the process of dissolution. 

Percentage of Ownership 
Country of 1017 2016 

Inco.!l!Qration Direct Indirect Direct Indirect 
Philippines 100 100 

BVI 1110 100 

BVI 
Philippines 

Philippines 
Cayman Islands 

United Kingdom 
United States of 

America 
Republic of 

Mauritius 

100 100 
100 1 00 

100 100 
100 
100 

100 

100 

The details of the Parent Company's investments in subsidiaries as of December 31 follow: 

CEIC (Note 1) 
CEC 

2017 
$86,143,703 

2,99°1749 
$89,134,452 

201 6  
$2,990,750 

2,990,749 
$5,981,499 
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CRC manufactures standard integrated circuits, discrete, hybrid and potential new packages and 
provides complete turnkey solutions that include wafer probing, wafer back grinding, assembly and 
packaging and final testing of semiconductor devices. CEIC sells integrated circuits principally in the 
United States of America and assigns the production of the same to CEC. CATS - Philippine Branch 
is primarily engaged in the manufacture, fabrication and design of microwave and millimeter wave 
components and subsystems primarily for export. 

Cirtek Corporation was incorporated on July 7, 2017 under the laws of Delaware, USA, to engage in 
lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of 
the State of Delaware. Cirtek Corporation was established to implement the Agreement under which 
Quintel will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cirtek Corporation (see Note 1).  

On July 30, 201 7, the Parent Company entered into agreement with CEIC to invest in the latter the 
amount of$81 .3 million, subject to compliance with the following undertakings: 

a. Comply with the procedures and requirements provided by the relevant laws in the British Virgin 
Islands for the increase ofCEIC's authorized capital stock, and thereafter increase the capital 
stock to $90.0 million at $1 .0 par value per share; and 

b. Upon the increase of the authorized capital stock, issue the stock certificates to the Parent 
Company for the share equivalent to the additional investment. 

5. AFS Financial Asset 

The Parent Company's AFS fmancial asset pertains to an investment in unquoted equity shares 
acquired at a cost of $ 1.667,000 in 2015 .  

As the Parent Company does not have access to the investoo's financial information, the Parent 
Company is unable to establish a reasonable basis to measure the fmancial asset's fair value and 
hence continues to measure the unquoted investment at cost. 

6. Accrued Expenses and Other Payables 

Accrued professional fees 
Accrued interest 
Others 

2017 
$352,078 

71,989 
9�67 

$4331634 

2016  
$56,380 
100,670 

9 
$ 157,059 

Others pertain to statutory liabilities and are generally payable within 12 months from the balance sheet 
date. 
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7. Short-term Loans 

Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation (RCBC) (a) 
Bank of the Philippine Islands (BPQ (b) 

2017 
523,972,000 

20,000,000 
$43,972,000 

2016 
$8,852,851 

$8,852,857 

a. Revolving loan facilities with RCBC which have payment terms of 360 days. The facility is 
unsecured and charged interest of2.80% to 4.00% and 2.50% per annum in 201 7  and 2016, 
respectively. 

b. Revolving loan facilities with BPI which have payment terms of 360 days. The facility is 
unsecured and charged interest of 3 .60% per annum in 2017. 

Interest expense incurred from these short-term loan facilities amounted to $1 , 13 1 ,435 and $132,094 
in 2017  and 2016, respectively. 

8. Long-term Debt 

Principal 
Less deferred financin,& costs 

Less current portion - net of deferred financing 
costs amounting to $106,730 in 2017 
and $272,1 55 in 2016  

Movement in deferred financing costs follow: 

Beginning of year 
Transaction costs recognized during the year 
Less amortization 
End of lear 

2012 Note Facility Agreement (NFA) 

2017 
537,250,000 

2721155 
36�77,845 

3,893�70 
533,084,575 

2017 
$390,029 

(117,874) 
52721.155 

2016 
$44,250,000 

390,029 
43,859,971 

6,882,126 
$36,977,845 

2016 
$154,180 
321,605 
(86,356) 

$390,029 

On July 25, 2012, the Parent Company entered into a $10.0 million NFA with MBTC (Initial Note 
Holder), MBTC - Trust Banking Group (Facility and Paying Agent) and First Metro Investment 
Corporation (Arranger). The NF A provided for the issuance of 5-year fIXed rate corporate note which 
bears interest of3.6% per annum payable quarterly. On July 21, 2012  (Issue Date), the Parent 
Company drew $10.0 million from the facility. The net proceeds from the issuance of the Notes shall 
be used to finance the Group's strategic acquisitions and for general corporate purposes. 

Under the NF A, the Parent Company shall pay 30% of the loan outstanding on issue date in 
12 equal consecutive quarterly installments in the amount equivalent to 2.5% of loan outstanding on 
issue date commencing on the end of the 5th quarter until end of the 1 6th quarter from the Issue Date. 
The remaining 70% of the loan outstanding on issue date is payable in four (4) equal consecutive 
quarterly installments in the amount equivalent to 1 7.5% of the loan outstanding on issue date 
commencing on the 1 1th quarter from the issue date until the maturity date, provided that each such 
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date shall coincide with an interest payment date, and that the last installment shall be in an amount 
sufficient to fully pay the loan. 

The NF A contained an embedded derivative arising from voluntary prepayment option where the 
Parent Company may redeem in whole but not in part, the relevant outstanding notes beginning on 
and after the third anniversary of the issue date, by paying the amount that is equivalent to 102% of the 
unpaid principal amount together with any and all accrued interest up to the date of prepayment. The 
Parent Company assessed that the embedded derivative in the NF A is closely related to the host 
contract, thus was not bifurcated from the host contract based on the provisions of PAS 39. 

In accordance with the NF A, the following financial ratios must be maintained: 
• debt to equity ratio shall not, at any time, exceed 2: 1 ;  
• debt service coverage ratio shall not, as of relevant testing date, be less than 1 .5; and 
I» current ratio shall not, at any time, be less than 1 :  1 ,  provided however. this ratio shall not apply 

after the fourth anniversary of the issue date. 

Equity is defmed in the agreement as the aggregate of outstanding capital stock, additional paid-in 
capital stock, equity reserve and retained earnings at any date and as shown in the latest consolidated 
balance sheet of the Parent Company. Debt, on the other hand, is defined in the agreement as the 
aggregate of all obligations (whether actual or contingent) of the Issuer and its subsidiaries to pay or 
repay money. 

The loan was fully paid in 2017. The carrying amount of the loan from the 2012 NF A as of 
December 3 1 .  201 6  amounted to $5.2 million. 

2014NFA 
On December 1 8, 2014, the Parent Company entered into another $ 10.0 million Notes Facility 
Agreement with Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company (Initial Noteholder), Metropolitan Bank & 
Trust Company - Trust Banking Group (Facility and Paying Agent) and First Metro Investment 
Corporation (Arranger). The Notes Facility bears interest of3.14% per annum payable quarterly. The 
net proceeds of the issuance of the Notes shall be used to finance the Group's strategic acquisitions 
and for general corporate purposes. 

Under the NF A, the Parent Company shall pay 30% of the loan outstanding on issue date in 12  equal 
consecutive quarterly installments in the amount equivalent to 2.5% of loan outstanding on issue date 
commencing on the end of the 5th quarter until end of the 1 6th quarter from the Issue date. The 
remaining 70% of the loan outstanding on issue date is payable in 4 equal consecutive quarterly 
installments in the amount equivalent to 1 7.5% of the loan outstanding on issue date commencing on 
the 1 7th quarter from the issue date until the maturity date, provided that each such date shall 
coincide with an interest payment date, and that the last installment shall be in an amount sufficient to 
fully pay the loan. 

The NF A contained an embedded derivative arising from voluntary prepayment option where the 
Parent Company may redeem in whole but not in part, the relevant outstanding notes beginning on 
and after the third anniversary of the issue date, by paying the amount that is equivalent to 102% of 
the unpaid principal amount together with any and all accrued interest up to the date of redemption at 
the applicable rate. The Parent Company assessed that the embedded derivative in the NF A is closely 
related to the host contract, thus was not bifurcated from the host contract based on the provisions of 
PAS 39. 
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Under this agreement, the following financial ratios must be maintained: 

It debt to equity ratio shall not, at any time, exceed 2: 1 ;  
• debt service coverage ratio shall not, as of relevant testing date, be less than 1 .5; and 
• current ratio shall not at any time be less than 1 :  1, provided however, this ratio shall not apply 

after the fourth anniversary of the issue date. 

Equity is defined in the agreement the aggregate of outstanding capital stock, additional paid-in 
capital stock, equity reserve and retained earnings at any date and as shown in the latest consolidated 
balance sheet of the Parent Company. Debt, on the other hand, is defmed in the agreement as the 
aggregate of all obligations (whether actual or contingent) of the Issuer and its subsidiaries to pay or 
repay money. 

The carrying amount of the loan from the 201 4  NF A as of December 3 1 ,  201 7  and 201 6  amounted to 
$8.0 million and $8.9 million, respectively. 

2016NFA 
On September 20, 201 6, the Parent Company entered into a $30.0 million NFA with BPI (Initial Note 
Holder), BPI Asset Management and Trust Group (Facility and Paying Agent) and BPI Capital 
Corporation (Arranger). The NF A provided for the issuance of 5-year fIxed rate corporate note which 
bears interest of 4.0% per annum payable quarterly. The net proceeds from the issuance of the Notes 
shall be used for capital expenditures, including production facilities and to refinance existing debt 
obligation and for working capital requirement. 

Under the NF A, the Parent Company shall pay the 30% of the loan outstanding on issue date in 12 equal 
consecutive quarterly installments in the amount equivalent to 2.5% of loan outstanding on issue date 
commencing on the end of the 5th quarter until the end of the 1 6th quarter from the issue date. The 
remaining 70% of the loan outstanding on issue date in four (4) equal consecutive quarterly installments 
in the amount equivalent to 1 7.5% of the loan outstanding on issue date commencing on the 1 7th 
quarter from the issue date until the maturity date, provided that each such date shall coincide with an 
interest payment date, and that the last installment shall be in an amount sufficient to fully pay the loan. 

The NF A contained an embedded derivative arising from voluntary prepayment option where the 
Parent Company may redeem in whole or in part, equivalent to an amount not less than $100,000, the 
relevant outstanding notes on any interest payment date beginning on the third anniversary of the 
issue date, by paying the amount that is equivalent to the higher of (i) 1 02% of the unpaid principal 
amount together with any and all accrued interest up to the date of redemption at the applicable rate, 
and (ii) 1 00% of the unpaid principal amount of the loans together with any and all accrued interest 
up to date of redemption at the applicable rate and any related breakage costs (net of any breakage 
gains). The Parent Company assessed that the embedded derivative in the NF A is closely related to 
the host contract, thus was not bifurcated from the host contract based on the provisions of PAS 39. 

In accordance with the NF A, the following financial ratios must be maintained: 

• debt to equity ratio shall not, at any time, exceed 2: 1 ;  
It debt service coverage ratio shall not, as of relevant testing date, be less than 1 .5; and 
II current ratio shall not at any time be less than 1 :  I ,  provided however, this ratio shall not apply 

after the fourth anniversary of the issue date. 
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Equity is defined in the agreement the aggregate of outstanding capital stock, additional paid.in 
capital stock, equity reserve and retained earnings at any date and as shown in the latest consolidated 
balance sheet of the Parent Company. Debt, on the other hand, is defined in the agreement as the 
aggregate of aU obligations (whether actual or contingent) of the Issuer and its subsidiaries to pay or 
repay money. 

The carrying amount of the loan from the 2016  NF A as of December 3 1, 2017  and 2016  amounted to 
$29.0 million and $29.7 million, respectively. 

The Parent Company is in compliance with the debt covenants as of December 3 1 ,  201 7  and 2016. 

Interest E?glense 
Total interest expense charged to profit or loss amounted to $1,680,679 and $1 ,002,868 in 2017 and 
2016, respectively. 

9. Related Party Disclosures 

Related party relationship exists when the party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries, or exercise significant influence over the other party in making 
financial and operating decisions. Such relationships also exist between andlor among entities which 
are under common control with the reporting entity and its key management personnel, directors or 
stockholders. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the 

substance of the relationships. 

In the normal course of business, the Parent Company has entered into transactions with affIliates. 
The significant transactions consist of the following: 

a. Working capital advances to subsidiaries 
b. Rental of office space from CEC 
c. Payments and reimbursements of expenses made and in behalf of the subsidiaries 
d. Guaranty 
e. Dividends tolfrom CEC 
f. Advances to stockholders and officers 
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The parent company balance sheets and profit or loss include the following significant account 
balances resulting from the above transactions with the related parties: 

a. Amounts owed by related parties 

Amount OUlSIandinl! Balances 
1017 20\6 10t7 1016 Terms Conditions 

Subsidiaries 
CEC Working S- $49,566,534 581,335,790 $81,335,790 Due and Unsecured, 

capital demandable; no 
advances noninterest-bearing impainnent 

Dividend 8,460,000 4,820,000 Due and Unsecured, 
income demandable; no 

non interest-bearing impairment 

CEIC Working 9,000,000 9,000,000 Due and Unsecured, 
capital demandable; no 

aO'I/8IIces noninterest-bearing impairment 

Individual Ad'l/8llces 37,980,190 3,672,547 43,767,052 5,786,862 Due and Unsecun:d, 
slockllo{ders demandable; no 

noninterest-bearing impainnent 

Other related parties 
CHI Resull of 1,809,256 1,809,256 Due and Unsecured, 

assignments demandable; no 
and settlement noninterest-bearing impairment 

in 2011 

$135,912,098 $97,931,908 

b. Amounts owed to related parties 

Amount OUlSIandin& Balances 
1017 2016 1017 2016 Terms Conditions 

Subsidiariu 
CEC Payments and $19,637,718 59.612,644 547,235,574 517.597,866 Due and Unsecured 

reimbursement of demandable; 
expenses made in noninterest-bearing 

behalfofCHPC 

Dividends 398,238 Due and Unsecured 
declared demandable; 

noninteres!-bearing 

Rental of office 191 193 Due and Unsecun:d 
space demandable; 

noninteresl-bearing 

CEIC Result of 2,339,865 2,339,865 Due and Unsecun:d 
assignments and demandable; 

settlement in 
2011; 

noninterest-bearing 

$49,575,439 $19.2B.73 I 

The above related parties, except the stockholders, are entities under common control of the ultimate 
parent company. 

Transactions with individual stockholders 
As of December 3 1 .  201 7  and 201 6, advances to individual stockholders, which are due and 
demandable and noninterest-bearing, amounted to $43.8 mil!ion and $5.8 million, respectively. As of 
April 30, 201 8, the Parent Company has collected $14.1 million from the outstanding balance of 
advances to individual stockholders as of December 3 1 , 201 7. 
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Transactions with CHI, Charmview Enterprises ltd (CEl) 
The amount owed by an officer amounting to $7.7 million as of December 3 1, 2010 was transferred 
in 2011 to CEL, the former ultimate parent of CEC and CEIC. CEL now owns 4 0% interest in 
Camerton, the parent of CHPC. 

The amounts owed by and to cm as of December 3 1, 2017 and 2 01 6  represent advances for working 
capital in the normal course of business when CEC and CEIC were then still subsidiaries of cm. 
For purposes of settling outstanding balances with the Group and as part of corporate restructuring in 
preparation for the planned Initial Public Offering (!PO) of the Parent Company, on March 17, 2011, 
CHI, CEL and the officer, with the consent of the Group, entered into assignment agreements 
whereby cm absorbed the amounts owed by CEL and by the officer as of March 17, 2011 amounting 
to $7.7 million and $ 0.8  million, respectively. 

The Group, with the consent of the related parties, entered into assignment agreements whereby the 
Parent Company absorbed the amount owed by CEIC to cm totaling $3.6 million representing 
unpaid advances of $2.3 million and dividends of $1.3 million as of March 17. 2 01 1  (see Note 12). 

Thereafter, on March 1 8, 2011, the Parent Company and Cm, in view of being creditors and debtors 
to each other as a result of the assignment agreements above, entered into a set-off agreement for the 
value of the Group's liability aggregating $6.8 million. The amount represents the above mentioned 
total liability oU3 .6 million and the balance outstanding from the Parent Company's purchase of 
CEC and CEIC amounting to $3.2 million. 

The amount owed by CHI as of Decemher 31 ,  2017 and 2016 pertains to the outstanding receivable 
arising from the assignments and set-off agreements. 

Suretyship agreements 
On July 25, 2012, CEe and CEIC signed their respective Suretyship Agreement with Metropolitan 
Bank & Trust Company (Initial Noteholder), Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company - Trust Banking 
Group (Facility and Paying Agent) and First Metro Investment Corporation (Arranger). Under this 
agreement, the Surety, solidariJy with the Parent Company, binds itself to the Initial Noteholder, 
Facility and Paying Agent and Arranger, to perform and pay any and all obligations under the NF A, 
to perform and pay any and all obligations under the NF A (see Note 8). 

On September 20, 2016, CEC signed Suretyship Agreement with with Bank of the Philippine Islands 
(BPI) (Initial Holder), acting through its Asset Management and Trust Group (Facility and Paying 
Agent) and BPI (Arranger). Under this agreement, the Surety, solidarity with the Parent Company, 
binds itself to the Initial Noteholder, Facility and Paying Agent and Arranger, to perform and pay any 
and all obligations under the NF A, to perform and pay all obligations under the NF A (see Note 8). 

The accounting and administrative functions are provided by CEC at no cost to the Parent Company. 
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10.  General and Administrative Expenses 

Professional fees 
Taxes and licenses 
Service fee 
Directors' fees 
Commission 
Penalties 
Depreciation 
Advertising 
Office supplies 
Others 

1 1 . Income Taxes 
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2017 
$783,549 

553,621 
277,730 
142,582 
115,979 

19,618 
16,939 

2,670 
81 

48�48 
$1,961,017 

201 6  
$61 ,561 

20,651 
50,478 

1 03,898 

1 6,939 
7,147 
4,458 

12,908 
$278,040 

a. There was no provision for current income tax in 201 7  and 201 6  because of the Parent 
Company's taxable loss position. 

b. A reconciliation of provision for income tax computed at the statutory income tax rate to 
provision for income tax shown in profit or loss follows: 

Income tax at statutory tax rate 
Additions to (reduction in) income tax: 

Dividend income exempt from income tax 
Carryforward benefits of NOLCO and 

unrealized foreign exchange losses for 
which no deferred income tax assets were 
recognized in the current year 

Interest income subject to final tax 
Nondeductible expense 
Foreign currency translation adjustment 

Provision for income tax 

2017 
$1,113,576 

(2,538,000) 

1,435,068 
(6,717) 
4,421 

� 
$-

201 6  
$1 , 101 ,144 

(1 ,446,000) 

442,002 
(107,469) 

38,429 
(28,1 06) 

$-

c. The following are the Parent Company's deductible temporary differences for which no deferred 
income tax assets have been recognized as management believes it is not be probable that 
sufficient future taxable profit will be available against which the deferred income tax assets can 
be utilized: 

NOLCO 
Unrealized foreign exchange losses 

2017 
$7,120,033 

2016 
$3,288,743 

1 43,589 
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d. As of December 3 1, 2017  and 2016, NOLCO that can be claimed as deduction from future taxable 
income follows: 

Balances as of Balance as of 
Year December 3 1, December 3 1, Available 

incurred 2016 Additions Applied Exeired 2017 Tax effect until 
2014 $952,273 $- $- $952,273 $- $- 2017 
20 IS 1 ,006,7 1 8  1,006,71 8  302,0 15 2018 
2016 1,329,752 1,329,752 398,926 20 19 
20 17 - 4z7831563 4,783,563 1 ,435z068 2020 

$3,288,743 $4,783,563 $- $952,273 $7, 120,033 $2,136,009 

1 2. Equity 

a. Common Shares 

2017 2016  

Number of shares 
Authorized - common shares (pl .00 par value) 520,000,000 520,000,000 

Issued 
Beginning and end of year 419,063,353 419,063,353 

Amount 
Issued a 419,063,353 shares $9,594,321 $9,594,321 

On November 1 8, 201 1 ,  the Parent Company listed with the PSE its common stock, wherein it 
offered 42,163,000 shares to the public at issue price ofl17 per share. The total proceeds with 
issuance of new shares amounted to P295.1 million ($6.8 million). The Parent Company incurred 
transaction costs incidental to the IPO amounting to 1147.3 million ($1 . 1  million), which was 
charged against "Additional paid-in capital" in the 201 1 parent company balance sheet. As of 
December 3 1 , 201 1 , the Parent Company has 162,1 63,000 issued common shares. 

On May 25, 2012, the BOD declared a twenty percent (20%) stock dividend to stockholders. On 
the same date, the stockholders approved and ratified the stock dividend payable to stockholders 
as of record as of June 8, 2012, to be distributed on June 29, 2012. 

On September 1 4, 201 2, the BOD declared a twenty percent (20%) stock dividend to stockholders 
of record as of December 21, 2012, to be distributed on January 1 0, 2013 .  On December 7, 2012, 
the stockholders approved the twenty percent (20%) stock dividend. 

On January 16, 201 3, the BOD declared a twenty percent (20%) stock dividend to stockholders. 
On the same date, the stockholders approved the stock dividend payable to stockholders of record 
as of March 1 5, 201 3, to be distributed on April 5, 2013.  

On January 29, 2014, the BOD also declared a ten (10%) stock dividend. Durlng the special 
stockholders meeting on July 1 1 , 2014, the shareholders approved and ratified the declaration of 
10% stock dividend payable to stockholders of record as of July 25, 2014, to be distributed on 
August 20, 2014. 
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On March 24, 2015, the BOD also declared a ten (10%) stock dividend. On May 12, 2015, the 
shareholders approved and ratified the declaration of 1 0% stock dividend payable to stockholders 
of record as of May 26, 2015, to be distributed on June 1 8, 2015. 

On March 24, 2015, the Parent Company's BOD, by majority vote, and shareholders representing 
two-thirds of the outstanding capital stock thereof approved the amendment of the articles of 
incorporation to increase the Parent Company's authorized capital stock by PI 60,000,000 or from 
NOO,OOO,OOO divided into 400,000,000 common shares with a par value ofPI .OO per share, to 
P560,000,OOO divided into 520,000,000 common shares with a par value ofPI .OO per share and 
400,000,000 preferred shares with a par value ofPO.1  0 per share. 

The BOD also authorized the Parent Company to offer 120,000,000 shares for sale or 
subscription through a follow-on offering (FOO). 

On July 22, 2015, the Philippine SEC approved the Company's application to increase its 
authorized capital stock. 

On November 4, 2015, the Parent Company's FOO was completed. The Parent Company issued 
80,000,000 new shares at issue price ofP20 per share for a total amount of $34.2 million. The 
Parent Company incurred transactions costs incidental to FOO amounting to $ 1 .2 million which 
was charged against "Additional paid-in capital" in the 2015 consolidated balance sheet. 

On October 24, 201 6, the Parent Company's BOD approved by majority vote the amendment of 
the articles of incorporation to increase the Parent Company's authorized capital stock by 
PI ,440,OOO,000 or from P560,000,000 divided into 520,000,000 common shares with a par value 
ofP1 .00 per share and 400,000,000 preferred shares with a par value ofPO.lO per share 
(''Preferred A" shares), to P860,000,OOO divided into 520,000,000 common shares with a par 
value ofP 1 .00 per share and 700,000,000 preferred shares classified into "Preferred A shares" 
with a par value ofPO.IO  per share, and P270,000,000 worth of new preferred shares classified 
into "Preferred B shares" with par value PI .OO per share, with preferences, convertibility voting 
rights and other features of which shall be determined by the Parent Company's BOD. On the 
same date, the Parent Company's BOD, by majority vote, approved the declaration often percent 
(10%) stock dividend for each of the 4 19,063,353 issued and fully paid common shares, and 
400,000,000 issued and fully paid preferred shares of the Parent Company. To date the 
shareholders have not approved and ratified the said declaration. 

On May 26, 201 7, the Parent Company's shareholders representing at least two-thirds of the 
outstanding capital stock thereof approved the amendment of the articles of incorporation to 
increase the Parent Company's authorized capital stock as endorsed by the BOD. The 
shareholders also approved a resolution to delegate to the BOD the power and authority to: (i) 
determine the manner (either in one or more tranches) by which the proposed increase in the 
authorized capital stock of the Parent Company will be implemented; and (ii) the manner by 
which the increase in the authorized capital stock will be subscribed and paid for, such as, but not 
limited to, a private placement transaction or public offering. The BOD was also granted 
authority to issue in one or more series the new preferred shares and to determine the preferences, 
convertibility, voting rights, features and other terms and conditions for each such series of the 
new preferred shares. 

The Parent Company's application to increase its authorized capital stock, which was approved 
by Philippine SEC on September 29, 2017, did not include an increase in authorized capital stock 
on common shares. 
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b. Preferred Shares 

Number of shares 
Authorized 

- 29 -

Preferred shares A (p0.10 par value) 
Preferred shares B-1 (pI .OO par value) 
Preferred shares B-2 (pl .00 par value) 

Issued and Subscribed 
Preferred A shares 
Preferred B-1 shares 
Preferred B-2 shares 

Amount 
Preferred A shares - (net of SUbscriptions 

receivable amounting to $1,103,944 and 
$663,71 7  as of December 3 1 , 201 7  and 
2016, respectively) 

Preferred B-1 shares - (net of subscriptions 
receivable amounting to $1,027,196 as of 
December 3 1, 201 7) 

Preferred B-2 shares 

2017 

100,000,000 
70,000,000 

200,000,000 

700,000,000 
70,000,000 
67,000,000 

$367,981 

342,399 
1,326,733 

201 6  

400,000,000 

400,000,000 

$221 ,239 

In 2015, the 400,000,000 preferred shares at par value ofPO.l O  were subscribed by Camerton, a 
principal shareholder of the Parent Company. 

On September 8, 2017, the Parent Company's BOD, by majority vote, approved the amendment 
in the Company's articles of incorporation to increase the Company's authorized capital stock by 
P300,000,000, or. 

a) from P560,000,OOO, consisting of: 

i. P520,000,000 worth of common shares divided into 520,000,000 common shares with 
par value ofP1 .00 per share; and 

ii. NO,OOO,OOO worth of preferred shares divided into 40,000,000 Preferred A shares with 
par value of PO. I 0 per share, 

b) to P860,000,OOO, consisting of: 

i. P520,000,000 worth of common shares divided into 520,000,000 common shares with 
par value ofP1 .00 per share; 

it P70,000,000 worth of preferred A shares divided into 700,000,000 preferred A shares 
with par value of PO.! 0 per share; and 
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m. P270,000,000 worth of preferred B shares with par value ofP 1 .00 per share. The 
preferred B shares are further classified into the following series: (a) P70,000,OOO worth 
of preferred B-1 shares, and (b) 11200,000,000 worth of preferred B-2 shares, both 
having a par value ofP l .OO per share. 

On the same date, the additional 300,000,000 preferred A shares and 70,000,000 preferred B-1 
shares shall be issued to and subscribed by Camerton at their par value of PO. 1 0 per share and 
Pl .OO per share, respectively. The Parent Company recognized preferred stock and additional 
paid-in capital amounting to $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively. net of subscriptions 
receivable. Preferred B-1 shares are not listed in the PSE. 

On September 29, 201 7, the Philippine SEC approved the Parent Company's application for the 
increase in authorized capital stock. 

The features of the preferred A shares are (i) full voting rights, one vote for each share; 
(ii) preferred non-cumulative cash dividends at the rate of 1% of their par value per year, with no 
participation in further cash dividends which may be declared and paid to the common shares or 
any other class or series of shares; and (iii) the same stock dividends which may be declared and 
paid to the common shares or any other class or series of shares. 

On September 15, 201 7  and November 9, 201 7, the Parent Company's BOD approved the 
fonowing features, rights and privileges of preferred B-2 shares: 

a. Non-voting; 
h. Preferred, cumulative cash dividends of up to seven percent (6.125%) of the issue price per 

year, at the discretion of the Parent Company's BOD, with no participation in further cash 
dividends which may be declared and paid to the common shares, provided that, other than 
the basis being their respective issue prices, the cash dividend rate for preferred B-1 shares 
and preferred B-2 shares shall be paid before any cash dividends are paid to holders of 
common shares and preferred A shares; 

c. The same stock dividends which may be declared and paid to the common shares; 
d. As and if approved by the Parent Company's BOD, redeemable in whole and not in part, at 

the sole option of the Parent Company at a price and at such time that the Parent Company's 
BOD shall determine; 

e. In the event of liquidation, dissolution, bankruptcy, or winding up of the affairs of the Parent 
Company, the holders of preferred B-1 shares and preferred B-2 shares that are outstanding at 
that time shall enjoy preference in the payment in full or, of the remaining assets of the Parent 
Company are insufficient, on a pro-rata basis as among aU holders of outstanding preferred 
B-1 shares and preferred B-2 shares. of the issue price of their shares plus any previously 
declared and unpaid dividends before any asset of the Parent Company is paid or distributed 
to the holders of other classes of shares. 

On October 23, 201 7  and November 9, 201 7, the Parent Company's BOD approved the following 
features, rights and privileges of preferred B-1 shares: 

a. Non-voting; 
b. Preferred, cumulative, non-participating, non-convertible; 
c. Entitled to cash dividends of up to 6.125% of the issue price per year, with no participation in 

further cash dividends which may be declared and paid to the common shares, and with no 
entitlement to any stock or property dividends; 

d. As and if approved by the Parent Company's BOD, redeemable in whole and not in part, at 
the sole option of the Parent Company at a price and at such time that the Parent Company's 
BOD shall determine; provided that management may grant up to 3% step-up rate on the cash 
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dividends if the Parent Company is unable to redeem the preferred B-1 shares on the 5th 
anniversary of their issuance; 

e. In the event of change in control event where any person or persons acting in concert or any 
third person or persons acting on behalf of such person( s) at any time acquire( s) directly or 
indirectly a controlling participation in the Parent Company pursuant to the Philippine Laws, 
the dividend rate shall be increased by 4% commencing and including the day falling 1 80 
days after the day on which a change in control event has occurred; 

f. In the event of liquidation, dissolution, bankruptcy, or winding up of the affairs of the Parent 
Company. the holders of preferred B-1 shares that are outstanding at that time shall enjoy 
preference in the payment in full or, of the remaining assets of the Parent Company are 
insufficient, on a pro-rata basis as among all holders of outstanding preferred B-1 shares and 
preferred B-2 shares, of the issue price of their shares plus any previously declared and 
unpaid dividends before any asset of the Parent Company is paid or distributed to the holders 
of other classes of shares; and 

g. Holders of preferred B-1 shares shall have no pre-emptive rights to subscribe to any class of 
shares (including, without limitation, treasury shares) that will be issued or sold by the issuer. 

On November 8, 201 7, the PSE BOD approved the public offering of up to $200,000,000 
preferred B-2 shares. A total of 140,000,000 preferred B-2 shares were offered to the public 
during the offer period. 

On November 29, 201 7, the Parent Company's public offering was completed. The Parent 
Company issued 67,000,000 preferred B-2 shares with par value ofPl .OO at issue price of$1 .00 
per share for a total amount of $67.0 million. The Parent Company recognized preferred stock 
and additional paid-in capital stock amounting to $ 1 .3 million and $65.7 million, respectively. 
The Parent Company incurred transaction costs incidental to FOO amounting to $ 1 . 1  million 
which was charged against "Additional paid-in capital" in 201 7  parent company balance sheet. 
As of December 3 1, 201 7, unpaid stock issue costs amounted to $324,866 recorded under 
"Accrued expenses and other payables" account. 

On December 8, 201 7. the Parent Company listed with the PSE its 67,000,000 preferred B-2 
shares. As of December 3 1, 2017, the Parent Company has unrecognized dividends on cumulative 
preferred B-1 and B-2 shares totaling to $349,073 . 

c. Retained Earnings 

On January 28, 201 6, the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends of 
$0.0050 per share for each of 419,063,353 fully paid and issued common shares and $0.000021 
per share for each of the 400,000,000 outstanding preferred shares, amounting to an aggregate 
sum of $2,1 00,000, for payment and distribution on February 29, 201 6  to shareholders of record 
of February 1 2, 201 6. The cash dividend shall be paid in Philippine Peso at the BSP exchange 
rate one day prior to payment date. 

On June 9, 201 6, the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends of 
$0.00362 per share for each of 419,063,353 fully paid and issued common shares and $0.000001 
per share for each of the 400,000,000 outstanding preferred shares, amounting to an aggregate 
sum of $ 1,520,000, for payment and distribution on July 7, 201 6  to shareholders of record of 
June 23, 2016. The cash dividend shall be paid in Philippine Peso at the BSP exchange rate one 
day prior to payment date. 

On January 23, 2017 the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends of 
$0.00432 per share for each of 419,063,353 fully paid and issued common shares and $0.000021 
per share for each of the 400,000,000 outstanding preferred shares, amounting to an aggregate 
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sum of $1 ,820,000, for payment and distribution on February 22, 201 7  to shareholders of record 
of February 6, 201 7. The cash dividend shall be paid in Philippine Peso at the BSP exchange rate 
one day prior to payment date 

On September 15, 201 7  the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends 
of $0.004629 per share for each of 419,063,353 fully paid and issued common shares amounting 
to an aggregate sum of$i,940,000, for payment and distribution on October 6, 201 7  to 
shareholders of record of September 29, 2017. The cash dividend shall be paid in Philippine Peso 
at the BSP exchange rate one day prior to payment date. 

1 3 .  Earnings Per Share (EPS) 

The following table presents information necessary to calculate EPS on net income. 

Net income attributable to common shareholders of 
the Parent Company'" 

Weighted average number of common shares 
outstandini 

Basic and diluted EPS 

2017 

$3,354,447 

419,063,353 
SO.008 

201 6  

$3,661,680 

419,063,353 
$0.009 

"'Net o/dividends declared onpreferredA shares in 2017 and 2016 amounting to $8.400 and $11,800, respectively, 
and undeclared divitknds on cumulative preferred E-] and E-2 shares amounting to $349,073 in 2017 [(nil in 2016) 
(see Note 12)). 

As of December 3 1 ,  201 7, 201 6  and 2015, the Parent Company has no potential diiutive common 
shares. 

The weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in the calculation ofEPS is based 
on the outstanding shares of the Parent Company. The additional shares from stock dividends during 
the period. including the unissued stock dividends and stock dividends declared after the reporting 
period but before the approval of the financial statements, were reflected in the calculation of the EPS 
if these shares have been issued in all earlier periods presented. 

14. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

The Parent Company's principal financial instruments comprise of cash in banks. The main purpose 
of these fmancial instruments is to support the Parent Company's operations. The Parent Company 
has various other financial instruments such as amounts owed by related parties, AFS financial asset, 
accrued expenses and other payables. amounts owed to related parties, short-term loans and long-term 
debt which generally arise directly from its operations. 

Risk Management Structure 
The BOD is mainly responsible for the overall risk management approach and for the approval of risk 
strategies and principles of the Parent Company. 

The main risks arising from the fmancial instruments of the Parent Company are credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Parent Company's management reviews and approves policies for managing each 
of these risks and they are summarized below. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the Parent Company will incur a loss because its counterparties failed to 
discharge their contractual obligations. 
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The Parent Company deals only with recognized, creditworthy third parties. In addition, receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Parent Company's exposure to 
bad debts is not significant. 

Credit quality per class of financial instrument follows: 

December 3 1 ,  201 7  

Neither Past Due nor Impaired 
Sub- Past Due 

Standard standard but not 
High Grade Grade Grade Impaired Iml!aired Total 

Cash 516,698,306 � � � � S16,698,306 
Amounts owed by 

related parties 135,911,098 135,912,098 
AFS financial asset 1!667IOOO 1.6671°00 

S1616911J06 51371579,098 � � � 5154,277,404 

December 3 1, 201 6  

Neither Past Due nor impaired 
Sub· Past Due 

Standard standard but not 
His!! Grade Grade Grade Imeaired Imealred Total 

Cash $ 13,322,629 � $- � $- $13,322,629 
Amounts owed by 

related parties 97,93 1,908 97,93 1,908 
AFS financial asset 1,6671°00 1,667,000 

S I3.322,629 S99z598,908 $- $- $-_ S 1 I2,921,537 

The Parent Company's financial assets are categorized based on the Parent Company's collection 
experience with the third parties as foHows: 

e High Grade - settlements are obtained from counterparty following the terms of the contracts 
without much collection effort 

.. Standard Grade - some reminder follow-ups are performed to obtain settlement from the 
counterparty 

• Sub-standard Grade - constant reminder follow-ups are performed to collect accounts from 
counterparty 

.. Impaired - difficult to collect with some uncertainty as to coUectibility of the accounts 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Parent Company may encounter difficulties in raising funds to meet 
commitments from financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from a counterparty's failure on 
repayment of a contractual obligation or inability to generate cash inflows as anticipated. 

The Parent Company maintains sufficient cash to finance its operations and satisfY its maturing 
obligations. It may also from time to time seek other sources of funding, which may include debt or 
equity fInancing, including dollar and peso-denominated loans from Philippine banks, depending on 
its fmancing needs and market conditions. 
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The table below summarizes the maturity analysis of the Parent Company's financial assets used for 
liquidity management and financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments: 

December 3 1 ,  201 7  

On demand 
Financial Assets 
Cash 516,698,306 
Amounts owed by related parties 135,911,098 

$152,610,404 
Financial Liabilities 
Amounts owed to related parties $49,575,439 
Accrued expenses and other 

payables· 
Short-term loans·· 
Lon,&-term debt"'''' 

,. Excluding statutory liabilities 
,. "Includes future interest payments 

December 3 1 ,  201 6  

Financial Assets 

$49,575,439 

On demand 

Casb $ 1 3,322,629 
Amounts owed by related parties 97,93 1,908 

Financial Liabilities 
Amounts owed to related parties 
Accrued expenses and other 

payables· 
Short-term loans·· 
LonA-term debt·· 

"Excluding statutory liabilities 

$111,254,537 

519,937,73 1 

519,937,731 

.... Includes future interest payments 

Capital Management 

Less than 
1 year 

S-

$-

$-

414,067 
44,853,155 

5!421Z181 
550,6981403 

Less than 
I year 

$-

$-

$-

157,OSO 
9,012,936 
8,S04!914 

5 17,674,900 

1 to 1 lears >1 to 5 Iears 

$- S-

$- $-

$- $-

19�27�90 161°091°°0 
519!517�90 516,009,000 

1 to 1 :fears >1 to 5 :fears 

$- S-

$- $0-

$- $ 

16,5791760 24,450!000 
5 1 61579,760 524,450,000 

Total 

516,698,306 
13512111°98 

5151161°1404 

$49,575,439 

414,067 
44.853,155 
40�7!771 

5135,810,432 

Total 

$ 13,322,629 
97193 1.908 

$) I 1,254,537 

$19,937,73 1 

IS7,OSO 
9,012,936 

49,5341674 
578,642,391 

The primary objective of the Parent Company's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a 
strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize 
shareholder value. 

The Parent Company manages its capital structure, which pertains to its equity as shown in the 
balance sheet, and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the Parent Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made to the objectives, policies 
or processes in 201 7  and 2016. 

The Company considers the following as capital: 

Common stock 
Preferred stock 
Additional paid-in capital 
Retained eamin� 

2017 
$9,594,321 
2,037,113 

100,469,659 
4071956 $112,5091049 

2016 
$9,594,321  

221 ,239 
35,896,893 

456,036 
$46,168,489 
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As of December 3 1 ,  2017, the Parent Company is subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

As of December 3 1, 201 7, the Parent Company was able to meet its capital requirements and 
management objectives. 

15 .  Fair Value Measurements 

As of December 3 1 , 201 7  and 201 6, the carrying values of the Parent Company's financial assets and 
liabilities, excluding AFS fmancial asset carried at cost because its fair value cannot be reliably 
measured, are equal to or approximate their respective fair value. 

Cash, amounts owed by and owed to related parties. short-term loans. and accrued expenses and 
other payables (excluding statutory liabilities) 

The carrying amounts approximate their fair values since these are mostly short-term in nature or are 
due and demandable. 

Long-term debt 
The fair value of long-term debt is based on the discounted value of future cash flows using the 
applicable rates for similar types of loans. Discounts rates used range from 4.74% and 4.01 % to 
4.29% in 201 7  and 2016, respectively (Level 3). 

Fair Value Hierarchy 
The Parent Company has long-term debt measured at amortized cost, but for which fair value are 
disclosed and their corresponding level in fair value hierarchy: 

December 31, 2017 
Total Level l Level 2 Level 3 

Long-term debt 537,310,092 $- $- 537,310,092 

December 3 1. 2016 
Total Level l Level 2 Level 3 

Long-term debt $43,859,971 $- $- $43,859,971 

As at December 3 1 , 201 7  and 2016, there were no transfers between Level l ,  2 and 3 fair value 
measurements. 

16. Events After the Reporting Period 

a. The Parent Company acquired 441,000 shares of Multi pay Corporation (''Multipay''), equivalent 
to a 49% interest in Multipay. The deed to effect the transfer was executed on January 24, 2018  
but the actual transfer of the shares in the name of the Parent Company remains in  process. 

Multipay is a Philippine corporation engaged in the business of development, promotion and 
marketing of technology, systems solutions and application that can be utilized as a platform for 
connectivity, processing and delivery of electronic services. 

b. On February 2, 20 1 8, the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends of 
$0.004609 per share for each of 419,063,353 fully paid and issued common shares and $0.000012 
per share for each of the 700,000,000 outstanding preferred A shares, amounting to an aggregate 
sum ofSl,940,000. for payment and distribution on February 21, 201 8  to shareholders of record 
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of February 1 9, 201 8. The cash dividend shall be paid in Philippine Peso at the BSP exchange 
rate one day prior to payment date. 

On February 27, 201 8, the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of cash dividend of 
0.0 153 13 per share for each of the outstanding and issued preferred B-1 shares amounting to an 
aggregate sum of 1,071 ,875 ($20,601), for payment and distribution on March 8, 201 8  to 
shareholders of record as of March 6, 201 8. 

On the same date, the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of cash dividend of 
$0.01 53 13 per share for each of the outstanding and issued preferred B-2 shares amounting to an 
aggregate sum of $ 1  ,025,93 8, for payment and distribution on March 8, 201 8  to shareholders of 
record as of March 6, 201 8. 

c. On April 1 1, 201 8, the Parent Company's BOD authorized the Parent Company to enter into 
Notes Facility Agreement with BPI and RCBC, whereby the short-term loans totaling to $40.0 
million was converted into long-term credit facility. 

1 7. Changes in Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities 

The table below presents the changes in Parent Company's liabilities arising from financing activities: 

Short-term loans 
Long-term debt 
Amounts owed to related E,arties 

Beginning 
$8,852,857 
43,859,971 
19,937,73 1 

$72,650,559 

Net cash flows 
$35, 1 19,143 

(7,OOO,OOO) 
29,637,708 

$57,756,851 

Amortization 
of deferred 

fmancin,& costs 
$-

1 1 7,874 

$ 1 1 7,874 

18. Supplementary Information Required Under Revenue Regulations No. 15-2010 

Endin,& 
$43,972,000 

36,977,845 
49,575,439 

$130,525,284 

On November 25, 201 0, the Bureau ofIntemal Revenue (BIR) issued Revenue Regulations 
No. 15-201 0  prescribing the manner of compliance in connection with the preparation and submission 
of financial statements accompanying tax returns. It includes provisions for additional disclosure 
requirements in the notes to the parent company fmancial statements, particularly on taxes, duties and 
licenses paid or accrued during the year. 

Output VAT 

The Parent Company did not earn any income subject to output VAT in 2017. 

Input VAT 

The Parent Company did not record any input VAT arising from purchases of services in 201 7. 

Withholding taxes 

Total expanded withholding tax paid amounted to P l,229,071 in 201 7. 
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Taxes and licenses 

Taxes and licenses consist oillie following: 

Documentary stamp taxes 
Listing and other registration fees 
Business permits 
Others 

Tax assessments 

- 37 -

P18,619,91 7  
9,846,848 

13,270 
4,680 

P28,484,715  

As of December 31 ,  2017, the Parent Company does not have any fmal deficiency tax assessments from 
the BIR nor does it have tax cases outstanding or pending in courts or bodies outside oillie BIR. 
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SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. 
6760 Ayela Avenue 
1 226 Makali City 
Philippines 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

Tel: (632) 891 0307 
Fax: (632) 819 0872 
ey.com/ph 

BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001. 
December 14, 2015. valid until December 31 , 2018 

SEC Accreditation No. 001 2-FR-4 (Group A), 
November 1 0, 2015, valid until November 9, 2018 

ON SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES OF ALL THE EFFECTIVE STANDARDS AND 
INTERPRETATIONS AND RECONCILIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS 
AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND DECLARATION 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation 
1 16 East Main Avenue, Phase V -SEZ 
Laguna Technopark, Binan, Laguna 

We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the parent company fmancial 
statements ofCirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation (the Company), as at and for the years ended 
December 3 1 , 201 7  and 201 6  and have issued our report thereon dated April 30, 201 8. Our audits were 
made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The 
accompanying Schedule of All the Effective Standards and Interpretations and Reconciliation of Retained 
Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration are the responsibility of the Company's management. This 
schedule is presented for purposes of complying with Securities Regulation Code 68, As Amended 
(20 1 1 ), and is not part of the basic fmanciai statements. This schedule has been SUbjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly states in all 
material respects, the information required to be set forth therein in relation to the basic financial 
statements taken as a whole. 

SYCIP GORRES VELA YO & CO. 

fJP 
CPA Certificate No. 1 0971 2  
SEC Accreditation No. 1 509-A (Group A), 

October 1 , 2015, valid until September 30, 201 8  
Tax Identification No. 233-299-245 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001 998-109-201 8, 

February 1 4, 201 8, valid until February 1 3, 2021 
PTR No. 662 1 23 7, January 9, 201 8, Makati City 

April 30, 201 8  

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global limited 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF ALL THE EFFECTIVE 

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financia l 
Statements 
Conceptual Framework Phase A: Objectives and qualitative 
characteristics 

PFRS Practice Statement Management Commentary 

Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 

PFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Phi lippine Financial Reporting 
(Revised) Standards 

./ 
./ 

r-----------------------------------�------�--------+_------� 

PFRS 2 

PFRS 3 
(Revised) 

PFRS 4 

Amendments to PFRS 1 and PAS 27:  Cost of an 
Investment i n  a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or 
Associate 
Amendments to PFRS 1 :  Additional Exemptions for 
First-time Adopters 

Amendment to PFRS I :  Limited Exemption from 
C omparative PFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time 
Adopters 

Amendments to PFRS 1 :  Severe Hyperinflation and 
Removal of Fixed Date for First-time A dopters 

Amendments to PFRS 1 :  Government Loans 

Amendment to PFRS 1 :  Meaning of Effective PFRSs 

Share-based Payment 

Amendments to PFRS 2: Vesting Conditions and 
Cancellations 

Amendments to PFRS 2: Group Cash-settled 
Share-based Payment Transactions 

Amendment to PFRS 2:  Definition of Vesting Condition 

Amendments to PFRS 2:  Classification and 
Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions* 

Business Combinations 

Amendment to PFRS 3 :  Accounting for Contingent 
Consideration in a Business Combination 

Amendment to PFRS 3: Scope Exceptions for Joint 
A1Tangements 

insurance C ontracts 

Amendmenl� to PAS 39 and PFRS 4: Financial 
Guarantee Contracts 

Amendments to PFRS 4: Applying PFRS 9 with PFRS 
4* 

./ 

./ 

./ 

j 

./ 
./ 
./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

J 

./ 

./ 

./ 

'These stalldards, iJllerpretatiof1s and amendments to existing standards wi/! became effective subsequenl to 
December 31, 20] 7. The Parent Company did not early adopl lhese standards, illlerpretatiolls and amendments. 
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PFRS 5 Non-culTent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued ./ 
Operations 

Amendment to PFRS 5: Changes in Methods o f  ./ 
Disposal 

PFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of M i neral Resources ./ 
PFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures ./ 

Amendments to PFRS 7 :  Transition ./ 
Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7 :  Reclassification ./ 
o f  Financial Assets 

Amendments to PAS 3 9  and PFRS 7: Reclassi fication ./ 
of Financial Assets - Effective Date and Transition 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Improving Disclosures about ./ 
Financial Instruments 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Transfers of ./ 
Financial Assets 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures · Offsetting j 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Mandatory Effective Date of 

PFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures 

Amendment to PFRS 7: Servicing Contracts ./ 
Amendment to PFRS 7: Applicability of the 
Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim ../ 
Financial  Statements 

P F RS 8 Operating Segments ../ 
Amendments to PFRS 8: Aggregation of Operating 
S egments and Reconciliation of the Total of the ./ 
Reportable Segments' Assets to the Entity's Assets 

PFR S 9 Financial Instruments* ../ 
Amendments to PFRS 9 :  Mandatory Effective Date o f  ./ 
PFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures* 

Amendments to PFRS 9: Prepayment Features with ./ Negative Compensation* 

P FRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements ../ 
Amendments to PFRS 1 0, PFRS 12 and PAS 28, 
Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation ./ 
Exception 

Amendments to PFRS 1 0 :  Sale or Contribution of 
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint ./ 
Venture * 

PFRS 1 1  Joint Arrangements ../ 
Amendments to PFRS 1 1 :  Accounting for Acquisitions ../ o f Interests in Joint Operations 

'These standards, interpretations alld amendmellls to existing standards will become ej)i'ctive "'ubsequl'llt 10 
December 31. 2017. The Parent Company did 110t early adopf /hese siandards. interpretations and amendments. 
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PFRS 1 2  I D isclosurc of Interests in Other Entities ,f 
Amcndments to PFRS 1 2: Investment Entities: Applying ,f 
the Consolidation Exception 

Amendment to PFRS 1 2, Clarification of the Scope of the ./ 
Standard 

IlFRS 13 I Fair Value �kasurCl1lcnt ,f 
Amelldment to PFRS 1 3 :  Short-tem: Receivables and ,f 
Payables 

Amendment to P FRS 1 3 :  Portfolio Exception ./ 
PFRS 1 4  Regulatory Defe lTal Accounts I ,j 
I)FRS ] 5  Revenue from Contracts \\ ith Customers* ,j 
PFRS 1 6  Leases "  ./ 
Philippine Accounting Standards 

PAS I Presentation of Financial Statcments j 
(Revised) Amcndmcl!t to PAS 1 :  Capital Disclosures j 

Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS I :  Punable Financial j 
Instrumcnts and Obligations Arising on Liquidation 

Amendmer.ts to PAS 1 :  Presentation of Items of Otha ,f 
C omprehcnsivc Income 

Initiative ,/ 
PAS 2 Inventories 

PAS 7 S tatement of Cash Flows ,f 
Amendments to PAS 7: Disclosure Initiative ./ 

PAS S Accounting Policies. Changes in AccouIlting Estimates ,j 

./ 
,j 

Pi'S 12 tI;come Taxes ,f 
Amendment to PAS 1 2  - Defemd Tax: Recovery of 
Underlying Assets ,j 

Amendments to PAS 12:  Recognition of DefcITcd Tax ,j i\ ssets for U nreali zed Losse:, 
PAS 1 6  i Property, Plant and Equipment ,f 

Amendment to PAS 1 6 :  Revaluation IV1ethod - ,j Proportionate Restatement o f  Accumulated Depreciation 

Amendments to PAS 1 6: Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods or Depreciation and Am0I1ization ,/ 

Amendments to PAS 1 6: Bearer Plants ,j 
WTliese standards, interpretations (wd amendments 10 exisling standards will become effeclil'': subsequent 10 
December 3 i, 201 7. The I'arenl Company did I/O! ear�v adopl lilese standards, inlerpI'2/{:!iolls and amendments. 
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PAS 1 7  

PAS 1 8  

PAS 1 9  
(Amended) 

PAS 2 0  

PAS 2 1  

PAS 23 
(Revised) 

1'A5 24 
(Revised) 

PAS 26 
PAS 27 
(Amended) 

PAS 28 
(Amcnded) 

PAS 29 

PAS 32 

1'A5 33 

1'A5 34 

- 4 -

Leases 

Revenue 

Employee Benefits 

Amendments to PAS 1 9 :  Defined Benefit Plans: 
Employee Contribution 

Amendments to PAS 1 9: Regional market issue regarding ! 
discount rate 

Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 
Government Assistance 

The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 

Amendment to PAS 2 1 : Net Investment in a Foreign 
Operation 

Borrowing Costs 

Related Party Disclosures 

Amendments to PAS 24: Key Management Personnel 

Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans 

Separate Financial S tatements 

Amendments to PAS 27: Equity }'vlethod in Separate 
F inancial Statements 

Investments in Assoc.iates and Joint Ventures 

Amendments to PAS 28: Investment Entities 

Amendments to PAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture" 

Amendments to PAS 28, Measuring an Associate or Joint I Ven ture at Fair Valuc* 

Amendments to PAS 28: Long-tenll 111terests in 
Associates and Join t  Ventures" 

Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 

Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation 

Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS I :  Puttable Financial 
Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation 

Amendment to PAS 32: Classi fication of Rights Issues 

Amendments to PAS 32: OtTsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities 

Earnings per Share 

Interim Financial Reporting 

Amendment to PAS 34: Disclosure of information 
' elsewhere in the interim financial rcport' 

,( 
./ 

,( 

,( 

,( 

,( 

./ 

,/ 

./ 

./ 
./ 

I I ,f 

./ 

./ 

,( 
./ 

,( 

./ 

,( 

./ 
,( 

,( 

./ 

./ 

./ 
,( 

./ 

'These slandard\� interpretations and amendments 10 existing standards' will become e.lJective subseqllcl1I to 
December 31, 201 7, The Parent Company did not early adopl lhesf? standards, inlerprelariolls and amendments. 
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PAS 36 Impainnen t of Assets ./ 
Amendmc nts to PAS 3 6 :  Recovcrabl e  Amount ./ 
D isclosure s for Non-Financial Assets 

PAS 3 7  Provisions • Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets ./ 

PAS 38 Intangible Assets ./ 

Amendme nts to PAS 3 8 :  Revaluation Method - ./ 
Proportion ate Restatement of Accumulated Amortization 

Amendme nls to PAS 3 8 :  Clarification of Acceptable ./ 
Methods 0 f Depreciation and Amortization 

PAS 39 Financial I nstruments: Recognition and Measurement ./ 
Amendme nts to PAS 3 9 :  Transition and Initial 
Recognitio n of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities ./ 
Amendme nts to PAS 3 9 :  Cash Flow Hedge Accounting 
of Forecas t Intragroup Transactions ./ 

Amendme nts to PAS 39 :  The Fair Value Option ./ 
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Cu�rantee Contracts j 
Amendme nts to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of 
Financial A ssets ./ 
Amendme nts to PAS 3 9  and PFRS 7: Reclassitlcation of 
Financial A ssets - Effective Date and Transition ./ 
Amendme nts to Philippine Interpretation IPRIC-9 and 
PAS 39:  E mbedded Derivatives ./ 
Amendme nt to PAS 39: Eligible Hedged Items ./ 
Amelldme nts to PAS 3 9 :  Novation of Derivatives and ./ Continuati on of Hedge Accounting 

PAS 40 Investment Property ./ 
Amendme nts to PAS 4 0 :  ClarifYing the Interrelationship 
between P FRS 3 and PAS 40 when Classifying Property ./ 
as Investm eut Property or Owner-Occupied Property 

I 

Amendme nts to PAS 40: Transfers of Investmcnt ./ Property* 

PAS 4 1  Agriculture ./ 
Amendme nts to PAS 4 1 :  Bearer Plants ./ 

'These standards. inlerpri!tatiolls and amel1dllliJl1IS 10 existing standards will become effi?clive suhsequcllt to 
Dccemher 3 1. 2017. The Parent Company did not early adopl iliese standards, intelpretatiOIlS and alllcllilmel1ls. 
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IFRIC 1 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and ./ 
Similar Liabilities 

I FR IC 2 Members' Share in Co-operative Entities and S imilar ./ 
Instruments 

I FRlC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease ./ 
I FR rc 5 Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, ./ 

Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds 

I FR I C  () Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market I ./ 
- Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment 

I FR IC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under PAS 29 ./ 
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives ./ 

Amendments to PhilippIne Interpretation IFIUC·9 and ./ PAS 39: Embedded Derivatives 

IFRIC 10  Interim Financia l Reporting and Impairment ./ 

IFRIC 12  Service Concession Arrangements ./ 

IFRIC 1 3  Customer Lovaltv Programmes ./ 
The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding I ./ 
Requirements and their Interaction 

IFRIC 1 4  

Amendments to Philipp me Interpretations IFRIC- 1 4, ./ 
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement 

IFRIC .1 5  Agreements [or the Construction or Real Estate ./ 

I FRIC 1 6  I'ledges o f  a Net Investment i n  a Foreign Operation ./ 
I.FRIC 1 7  D istributions o f  Non-cash Assets t o  Owners ./ 
IFRIC 1 8  Transfers o f  Assets ii-om Customers ./ 

Extingu ishing Financial Liabilities with Equity ./ 
Instruments 

IFRIC 1 9  

Stripping Costs i n  the Production Phase o f  a Surface ./ 
Mine 

I FRIC 20 

!FRIC 2 1  Levies ./ 
Foreign Cuncncy Transactions and Advance ./ Consideration* 

IFRIC 22 

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments* ./ 
SIC�7 Introduction of the Euro I ./ 

Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to I ./ Operating Activities 
SIC-W 

SIC-IS Operating Leases - Incentives ./ 
rncome Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or ./ its Shareholders 

SIC-2S 

*These standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards will become ejleclive subsequelll 10 
December 3 1, 201 7. The Parel!! Company did not ear(l' adapl lhese standards, interpretations and amendments. 
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Philippine Interpretations 
S I C-27 

SIC·29 
SIC-3J 

SIC-32 

Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the 
Legal Form of a Lease 

Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures 

Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 
Services 

Intangible Assets - Web S ite Costs 

./ 

./ 

../ 

../ 
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cmTEK HOLDINGS PIDLIPPINES CORPORATION 

RECONCILIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS AVAILABLE FOR 

DIVIDEND DECLARATION 

DECEMBER 31, 2017 

Unappropriated retained earnings, beginning 

Add: Net income actually earned/realized during the period 

Net income during the period closed to retained earnings 
Less: Unrealized foreign exchange losses, net of tax (except 

for those attributable to cash} 
Net income actually earned during the period 

Less: Cash dividends declared 
Retained earnin,l! available for dividend declaration 

$4562,036 

3,71 1 ,920 

5,214 

3,717,134 

(3,760,000) 
$4131170 
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QUINTEL CAYMAN, LTD. AND S UBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
AS OF DECEMBER 31 , 2017 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS: 
Cash 
Accounts receivable, net 
I nventory, net 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 

Total current assets 

PROPERTY AND EQUI PMENT, net 
DEPOSITS 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT 

CURRENT LIAB IL ITIES: 
Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 
Sale transaction l iabi l ity 
Deferred g rant proceeds 
Current portion of long-term debt 

Total current l iabi l ities 

ACCRUED I NTEREST 
LONG-TERM DEBT, net of current portion 

Total l iabi l ities 

STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT: 
Pre-acquisition equ ity 
Post-Acquisition Accumulated Deficit 

Total stockholders' deficit 

December 31 , 201 7 

$ 5,6 1 3 ,974 
2 , 1 30 ,3 1 1 

1 6,277,459 
1 37 ,227 

24 , 1 58, 970 

529,932 
44,400 

$ 24,733,302 

$ 26,5 17 ,443 
1 ,876,4 1 1 
4, 1 45 , 000 

390,000 
360,000 

33,288 ,854 

1 05 ,825 
540 , 000 

33, 934 ,679 

(4, 5 14 ,231 ) 
(4,687, 147) 

(9,20 1 J}8) 

$ 24,733,302 



QUINTEL CAYMAN, LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
FOR THE FIVE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31 , 2017 

SALES 

COST OF SALES 

Gross profit (loss) 

OPERATING EXPENSES: 
General and administrative 
Research and development 
Sales and marketing 

Total operating expenses 

Loss from operations 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE): 
Interest income 
Interest expense 
Foreign currency loss 
Loan forgiveness 

Total other expense 

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX BENEFIT 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

NET LOSS 

2 

5-Month Ended 
December 3 1 , 201 7 

$ 

$ 

1 8 ,73 1 , 368 

( 16 , 904,277) 

1 , 827, 090 

2 ,938,821 
2 ,030, 990 
1 ,539 ,073 

6, 508, 884 

(4, 681 , 793) 

57 
(83,790) 
( 1 1 , 945) 
1 00 ,000 

4 ,321 

(4,677,472) 

(9,675) 

(4,687, 1 47) 




